PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT AND NOTICE OF SALE DATED JUNE 9, 2017

Rating:
Moody’s Investors Service:

In the opinion of Locke Lord LLP, Bond Counsel, based upon an analysis of existing law and assuming,
among other matters, compliance with certain covenants, interest on the Notes is excluded from gross
income for federal income tax purposes under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”). Interest on the Notes is not a specific preference item for purposes of the federal individual or
corporate alternative minimum taxes, although such interest is included in adjusted current earnings
when calculating corporate alternative minimum taxable income. Under existing law, interest on the
Notes is exempt from Massachusetts personal income taxes, and the Notes are exempt from
Massachusetts personal property taxes. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any other tax
consequences related to the ownership or disposition of, or the accrual or receipt of interest on, the
Notes. The Notes will not be designated “qualified tax-exempt obligations” for purposes of Section
265(b)(2) of the Code. See “Tax Exemption” herein.

TOWN OF HANOVER, MASSACHUSETTS
$14,525,185 GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND ANTICIPATION NOTES

The Town of Hanover, Massachusetts (the “Town”) will receive telephone and electronic bids at
FirstSouthwest, a Division of Hilltop Securities Inc. (617-619-4400) in case of telephone bids and via
PARITY in case of electronic bids until 11:30 A.M., Local Time, Wednesday, June 14, 2017, for the
purchase of the following described General Obligation Bond Anticipation Notes (the “Notes”).

$14,525,185  General Obligation Bond Anticipation Notes (new and renewals) dated June 23, 2017
and payable June 22, 2018. Interest will be computed on a 30 day month, 360-day
year basis (359/360).

Bids may be submitted electronically via PARITY pursuant to this Notice of Sale until 11:30 A.M., Eastern
Time, but no bid will be received after the time for receiving bids specified above. To the extent any
instructions or directions set forth in PARITY conflict with this Notice of Sale, the terms of this Notice of
Sale shall control. For further information about PARITY, potential bidders may contact FirstSouthwest, a
Division of Hilltop Securities Inc., or PARITY at (212) 404-8102. An electronic bid made in accordance
with this Notice of Sale shall be deemed an offer to purchase the Notes in accordance with the terms
provided in this Notice of Sale and shall be binding upon the bidder as if made by a signed and sealed
written bid delivered to the Town.

Any bidder who submits a winning bid by telephone in accordance with this Notice of Sale shall be required
to provide written confirmation of the terms of the bid by faxing or e-mailing a completed, signed bid form to
FirstSouthwest, a Division of Hilltop Securities Inc. by not later than 12:30 p.m. Eastern Time, on the date
of sale.

The award of the Notes to the winning bidder will not be effective until the bid has been approved by the
Treasurer and the Board of Selectmen of the Town.

The Notes will be awarded on the basis of lowest net interest cost to the Town. Such cost will be
determined by computing the total amount of interest payable on the Notes, at the rate or rates stated, from
June 23, 2017 until the maturity of the Notes and deducting therefrom the sum, if any, by which the amount
bid for the Notes exceeds the aggregate principal amount of the Notes. In the event a bidder offering a
premium for the Notes is awarded a lesser amount of notes than bid, the premium shall be reduced
proportionately. Bids may be for all or part of the Notes at a single or various rates of interest in multiples
of one-hundredth (1/100) of one percent (1%). No bid of less than par and accrued interest to date of
delivery will be considered. Bids must include a premium of at least $1.75 must be included for each
$1,000 bid. The right is reserved to reject any and all bids not complying with this Notice of Sale and, so far
as permitted by law, to waive any irregularity with respect to any bid.

A successful bidder for all of the Notes may request that the Notes be issued in the form of one fully
registered physical certificate, rather than in book-entry form through the facilities of The Depository Trust
Company (“DTC"). The successful bidder seeking the issuance of the Notes in this manner shall bear
any and all costs of any re-registration or transfer of Notes from time to time. Any bidder seeking to have
the Notes issued in the form of fully registered physical certificates, rather than in book-entry form, shall



indicate this preference to the Town at the time of the submission of the winning bid. The Town reserves
the right to decline any request to issue the Notes in non-book entry form if it should determine, in its sole
discretion, that issuing the Notes in this manner is not in its best interests.

The successful bidder shall assist the Town in establishing the issue price of the Notes and shall execute
and deliver to the Town on the Closing Date an “issue price” or similar certificate, in the applicable form
set forth in Exhibit 1 to this Notice of Sale, setting forth the reasonably expected initial offering price to the
public or the actual sale price of the Notes, together with the supporting pricing wires or equivalent
communications, or, if applicable, the amount bid, with such modifications as may be appropriate or
necessary, in the reasonable judgment of the successful bidder, the Town and Bond Counsel. All actions
to be taken by the Town under this Notice of Sale to establish the issue price of the Notes may be taken
on behalf of the Town by FirstSouthwest, a Division of Hilltop Securities Inc. (“Financial Advisor”) and any
notice or report to be provided to the Town may be provided to the Financial Advisor.

Competitive Sale Requirements. [f the competitive sale requirements (“competitive sale requirements”)
set forth in Treasury Regulation § 1.148-1(f)(3)(i) (defining “competitive sale” for purposes of establishing
the issue price of the Notes) have been satisfied, the Town will furnish to the successful bidder on the
Closing Date a certificate of the Financial Advisor, which will certify each of the following conditions to be
true:

1. the Town has disseminated this Notice of Sale to potential underwriters in a manner that
is reasonably designed to reach potential underwriters;

2. all bidders had an equal opportunity to bid;

3. the Town received bids from at least three underwriters of municipal bonds who have
established industry reputations for underwriting new issuances of municipal bonds; and

4, the Town awarded the sale of the Notes to the bidder who submitted a firm offer to
purchase the Notes at the highest price (or lowest interest cost), as set forth in this Notice of Sale.

Any bid submitted pursuant to this Notice of Sale shall be considered a firm offer for the purchase
of the Notes, as specified in the bid. Unless a bidder notifies the Town prior to submitting its bid
by facsimile or email to the Financial Advisor 617.619.4411, and affirming in writing via email or
facsimile, or in its bid submitted via Parity, that it will NOT be an “underwriter” (as defined below)
of the Notes, by submitting its bid, each bidder shall be deemed to confirm that it has an
established industry reputation for underwriting new issuances of municipal bonds. Unless the
bidder has notified the Town that it will not be an “underwriter” (as defined below) of the Notes, in
submitting a bid, each bidder is deemed to acknowledge that it is an “underwriter” that intends to
reoffer the Notes to the public.

In the event that the competitive sale requirements are not satisfied, the Town shall so advise the
successful bidder.

Failure to Meet the Competitive Sale Requirements — Option A — The Successful Bidder Intends to
Reoffer the Notes to the Public. If the competitive sale requirements are not satisfied and the successful
bidder intends to reoffer the Notes to the public, the Town will use the first price at which 10% of the
Notes (the “10% test”) is sold to the public as the issue price of the Notes. The successful bidder shall
advise the Financial Advisor if the 10% test is satisfied as of the date and time of the award of the Notes.
The Town will not require bidders to comply with the “hold-the-offering-price rule” set forth in the
applicable Treasury Regulations and therefore does not intend to use the initial offering price to the public
as of the Sale Date as the issue price of the Notes if the competitive sale requirements are not met.

If the competitive sale requirements are not satisfied, then until the 10% test has been satisfied as to
Notes or all of the Notes are sold to the public, the successful bidder agrees to promptly report to the
Financial Advisor the prices at which the unsold Notes have been sold to the public, which reporting
obligation shall continue, whether or not the Closing Date has occurred, until the 10% test has been
satisfied for the Notes or until all the Notes have been sold. The successful bidder shall be obligated to
report each sale of Notes to the Financial Advisor until notified in writing by the Town or the Financial
Advisor that it no longer needs to do so.

By submitting a bid and if the competitive sale requirements are not met, each bidder confirms that: (i)
any agreement among underwriters, any selling group agreement and each retail distribution agreement



(to which the bidder is a party) relating to the initial sale of the Notes to the public, together with the
related pricing wires, contains or will contain language obligating each underwriter, each dealer who is a
member of the selling group, and each broker-dealer that is a party to such retail distribution agreement,
as applicable, to report the prices at which it sells to the public the unsold Notes allotted to it until it is
notified by the successful bidder that either the 10% test has been satisfied as to the Notes or all of the
Notes have been sold to the public, if and for so long as directed by the successful bidder and as set forth
in the related pricing wires and (ii) any agreement among underwriters relating to the initial sale of the
Notes to the public, together with the related pricing wires, contains or will contain language obligating
each underwriter that is a party to a retail distribution agreement to be employed in connection with the
initial sale of the Notes to the public to require each broker-dealer that is a party to such retail distribution
agreement to report the prices at which it sells to the public the unsold Notes allotted to it until it is notified
by the successful bidder or such underwriter that either the 10% test has been satisfied as to the Notes or
that all of the Notes have been sold to the public if and for so long as directed by the successful bidder or
such underwriter and as set forth in the related pricing wires.

Sales of any Notes to any person that is a related party to an underwriter shall not constitute sales to the
public for purposes of this Notice of Sale. Further, for purposes of this Notice of Sale:

1. “public” means any person other than an underwriter or a related party,

2. “underwriter” means (A) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract with the
Town (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to participate in the initial sale of the
Notes to the public and (B) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract directly or indirectly with
a person described in clause (A) to participate in the initial sale of the Notes to the public (including a
member of a selling group or a party to a retail distribution agreement participating in the initial sale of the
Notes to the public), and

3. a purchaser of any of the Notes is a “related party” to an underwriter if the underwriter
and the purchaser are subject, directly or indirectly, to (i) at least 50% common ownership of the voting
power or the total value of their stock, if both entities are corporations (including direct ownership by one
corporation of another), (ii) more than 50% common ownership of their capital interests or profits
interests, if both entities are partnerships (including direct ownership by one partnership of another), or
(iii) more than 50% common ownership of the value of the outstanding stock of the corporation or the
capital interests or profit interests of the partnership, as applicable, if one entity is a corporation and the
other entity is a partnership (including direct ownership of the applicable stock or interests by one entity of
the other).

Failure to Meet the Competitive Sale Requirements — Option B — The Successful Bidder Does Not Intend
to Reoffer the Notes to the Public. If the competitive sale requirements are not met and the successful
bidder does not intend to reoffer the Notes to the public, the Town shall treat the Notes as sold in a
private placement and shall treat the amount bid as the issue price.

Principal of and interest on the Notes will be payable upon maturity in federal reserve funds at U.S. Bank
National Association, Boston, Massachusetts. The Notes will not be subject to redemption prior to
maturity. The Notes will be issued by means of a book-entry system evidencing ownership, in principal
amounts of $1,000, or integral multiples thereof, with an exception of one $1,185 denomination, and
transfer of the Notes on the records of DTC pursuant to the rules and procedures adopted by DTC,
unless the issuance of a fully registered certificate is requested by the winning bidder and the issuance of
such certificate is approved by the Town. (See Preliminary Official Statement, “Book-Entry-Transfer
System”).

The purchaser(s) will be furnished the opinion of Locke Lord LLP, Boston, Massachusetts approving the
legality of the Notes (see "Tax Exemption" in the Preliminary Official Statement) and stating that they are
valid and binding general obligations of the Town of Hanover, Massachusetts, and unless paid from the
bond proceeds in anticipation of which they are issued or from any other available moneys, the principal
of and interest on the Notes are payable from taxes which may be levied upon all taxable property in the
Town without limitation as to rate or amount, except as provided under Chapter 44, Section 20 of the
General Laws, with respect to that portion of the principal and interest that the Town has voted to exempt
from the limit imposed by Chapter 29, Section 21C of the General Laws (Proposition 2 %2), and subject to
the limit imposed by Chapter 59, Section 21C of the General Laws with respect to that portion of the
principal and interest payments that the Town has not voted to exempt from that limit.



It shall be a condition of the successful bidder’s obligation to accept delivery of and pay for the Notes that,
contemporaneously with or before accepting the Notes and paying therefor, it shall be furnished, without
cost, with (a) the approving opinion of the firm of Locke Lord LLP, Boston, Massachusetts, with respect to
the Notes, (b) a certificate in form satisfactory to said firm, dated as of the date of delivery of the Notes
and receipt of payment therefor, to the effect that there is no litigation pending, or to the knowledge of the
signer or signers thereof, threatened affecting the validity of the Notes or the power of the Town to levy
and collect taxes to pay them, and (c) a certificate of the Town’s Treasurer to the effect that, to the best of
her knowledge and belief, both the Preliminary Official Statement as of the date of sale and the Final
Official Statement as of its date and as of the date of delivery of the Notes, did not and do not contain any
untrue statement of a material fact and did not and do not omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

In order to assist bidders in complying with the requirements of paragraph (b)(5)(i)(C) of Rule 15c2-12
promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Town will undertake to provide notices of
certain significant events. A description of this undertaking is set forth in the Preliminary Official
Statement.

It is anticipated that CUSIP identification numbers will be printed on the Notes. All expenses in relation to
the printing of CUSIP numbers on the Notes shall be paid for by the Town, however, the Town assumes
no responsibility for any CUSIP Service Bureau or other charge that may be imposed for the assignment
of such number.

The Notes will be delivered to DTC, or to the office of its custodial agent, or to the registered owner if a
fully registered certificate is requested by the winning bidder and approved by the Town, on or about June
23, 2017 against payment to the Town in federal reserve funds.

Additional information concerning the Town and the Notes is contained in the Preliminary Official
Statement dated June 8, 2017 to which prospective bidders are directed. The Preliminary Official
Statement is provided for informational purposes, and is not a part of this Notice of Sale. The Preliminary
Official Statement has been deemed final by the Town except for the omission of the reoffering prices,
interest rates, and other terms of the Notes depending on such matters, and the identity of the
underwriters, but is subject to change without notice and to completion or amendment in a Final Official
Statement. Copies of the Preliminary Official Statement may be obtained from FirstSouthwest, a Division
of Hilltop Securities Inc., 54 Canal Street, Suite 320, Boston, Massachusetts 02114 (Telephone: 617-619-
4400). Within seven business days following the award of the Notes and receipt of necessary information
from the successful bidder, 5 copies of the Final Official Statement will be made available to the
successful bidder. Upon request, additional copies will be provided at the expense of the successful
bidder.

TOWN OF HANOVER, MASSACHUSETTS
/sl Chelsea Stevens, Acting Finance Director & Town Accountant
June 8, 2017



EXHIBIT 1
[To Be Used if the Competitive Sale Requirement is Met]

$14,525,185
Town of Hanover, Massachusetts
General Obligation Bond Anticipation Notes

ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE

The undersigned, on behalf of [NAME OF UNDERWRITER] (the “Underwriter”), hereby
certifies as set forth below with respect to the sale of the above-captioned obligations (the “Notes”) of the Town of
Hanover, Massachusetts (the “Issuer”).

1. Reasonably Expected Initial Offering Prices.

@ As of the Sale Date, the reasonably expected initial offering prices of the
Notes to the Public by the Underwriter are the prices listed in Schedule A (the “Expected
Offering Prices”). The Expected Offering Prices are the prices for the Notes used by the
Underwriter in formulating its bid to purchase the Notes. Attached as Schedule B is a true and
correct copy of the bid provided by the Underwriter to purchase the Notes.

(b) The Underwriter was not given the opportunity to review other bids prior
to submitting its bid.

(©) The bid submitted by the Underwriter constituted a firm offer to purchase
the Notes.

2. Defined Terms.

@ Maturity means Notes with the same credit and payment terms. Notes with
different maturity dates, or Notes with the same maturity date but different stated interest rates,
are treated as separate Maturities.

(b) Public means any person (including an individual, trust, estate,
partnership, association, company, or corporation) other than an Underwriter or a related party to
an Underwriter. The term “related party” for purposes of this certificate generally means any two
or more persons who have greater than 50 percent common ownership, directly or indirectly.”

(©) Sale Date means the first day on which there is a binding contract in
writing for the sale of the Notes. The Sale Date of the Notes is June 14, 2017.

(d) Underwriter means (i) any person that agrees pursuant to a written
contract with the Issuer (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to
participate in the initial sale of the Notes to the Public, and (ii) any person that agrees pursuant to
a written contract directly or indirectly with a person described in clause (i) of this paragraph to
participate in the initial sale of the Notes to the Public (including a member of a selling group or

" Treas. Reg. §1.148-1(f)(3)(i)(B) requires that all bidders have an equal opportunity to bid to purchase notes. If the
bidding process affords an equal opportunity for bidders to review other bids prior to submitting their bids, then this
representation should be modified to describe the bidding process.



a party to a retail distribution agreement participating in the initial sale of the Notes to the
Public).

The representations set forth in this certificate are limited to factual matters only. Nothing in this certificate
represents the Underwriter’ s interpretation of any laws, including specifically Sections 103 and 148 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the Treasury Regulations thereunder. The undersigned understands that the
foregoing information will be relied upon by the Issuer with respect to certain of the representations set forth in the
Tax Certificate and with respect to compliance with the federal income tax rules affecting the Notes, and by Locke
Lord LLP in connection with rendering its opinion that the interest on the Notes is excluded from gross income for
federal income tax purposes, the preparation of the Internal Revenue Service Form 8038-G, and other federal
income tax advice that it may give to the Issuer from time to time relating to the Notes.

Dated: June 23, 2017 [UNDERWRITER]

By:

Name:
Title:



MODEL ISSUE PRICE DOCUMENTATION REPORT
SCHEDULE A
EXPECTED OFFERING PRICES

(to be attached)

SCHEDULE B
COPY OF UNDERWRITER’S BID

(To be Attached)



[To Be Used If the Competitive Sale Requirements Are Not Met
and the Hold the Price Rule Is Not Imposed]

$14,525,185
Town of Hanover, Massachusetts
General Obligation Bond Anticipation Notes

ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE

The undersigned, on behalf of (the (“[Underwriter][Representative]”)[, on behalf of itself and
[NAMES OF OTHER UNDERWRITERS]] hereby certifies as set forth below with respect to the sale and issuance of the above-
captioned obligations (the “Notes”).
1.Sale of the Notes. As of the date of this certificate, [except as set forth in paragraph 2 below,] [the first price at which at least
10% of the Notes was sold to the Publicis . 9%][all of the Notes were sold at the prices set forth in Exhibit A hereto] ONLY
USE THE SECOND CHOICE IF LESS THAN 10% OF THE NOTES WERE SOLD AT A SINGLE PRICE.
[Only use the next paragraph if the 10% test has not been met or all of the Notes have not been sold as of the Closing Date.]
2.Until the 10% test has been satisfied for the Notes or all of the Notes are sold to the Public, the [Underwriter][Representative]
agrees to promptly report to the Issuer’s financial advisor, (the “Financial Advisor”), the prices at
which the Notes have been sold to the Public, which reporting obligation shall continue after the date hereof until the 10% test has
been satisfied for the Notes or until all the Notes have been sold. The [Underwriter][Representative] shall continue to report each
sale of Notes to the Financial Advisor until notified by email or in writing by the Issuer or the Financial Advisor that it no longer
needs to do so.
3. Defined Terms.
@ Issuer means the NAME OF ISSUER.
(b)Public means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, partnership, association, company, or corporation) other than an
Underwriter or a related party to an Underwriter. The term “related party” for purposes of this certificate generally means any two
or more persons who have greater than 50 percent common ownership, directly or indirectly.
(c)Underwriter means (i) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract with the Issuer (or with the lead underwriter to form
an underwriting syndicate) to participate in the initial sale of the Notes to the Public, and (ii) any person that agrees pursuant to a
written contract directly or indirectly with a person described in clause (i) of this paragraph to participate in the initial sale of the
Notes to the Public (including a member of a selling group or a party to a retail distribution agreement participating in the initial
sale of the Notes to the Public).
The representations set forth in this certificate are limited to factual matters only. Nothing in this certificate represents the
[Underwriter’s][Representative’s] interpretation of any laws, including specifically Sections 103 and 148 of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended, and the Treasury Regulations thereunder. The undersigned understands that the foregoing information
will be relied upon by the Issuer with respect to certain of the representations set forth in the Tax Certificate and with respect to
compliance with the federal income tax rules affecting the Notes, and by Locke Lord LLP in connection with rendering its opinion
that the interest on the Notes is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, the preparation of the Internal
Revenue Service Form 8038-G, and other federal income tax advice that it may give to the Issuer from time to time relating to the
Notes.
Dated: _,20__ [UNDERWRITER] [REPRESENTATIVE]

By:

Name:
Title:

EXHIBIT A
If less than 10% of the Notes have been sold at a single price as of the Closing Date, but all of the Notes have been sold as of the
Closing Date at a variety of prices, attach a list of the prices at which the Notes were sold as of the Closing Date. In that highly
unlikely scenario, the issue price of the Notes will be the average sales price.



OFFICIAL STATEMENT
TOWN OF HANOVER, MASSACHUSETTS
$14,525,185 GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND ANTICIPATION NOTES

This Official Statement is provided for the purpose of presenting certain information relating to the Town of Hanover,
Massachusetts (the “Town”) in connection with the sale of $14,525,185 principal amount of its General Obligation
Bond Anticipation Notes (the “Notes”). The information contained herein has been furnished by the Town except
information attributed to another governmental agency or official as the source.

The Notes

The Notes will be dated June 23, 2017 and will be payable by U.S. Bank National Association, Boston, Massachusetts,
or its successor, as Paying Agent, on June 22, 2018. The Notes will bear interest payable at maturity, calculated on
the basis of 30 day months and on a 360 day-year (359/360), at the rate or rates determined upon their sale in
accordance with the Notice of Sale dated June 8, 2017. The Notes will be issued by means of a book-entry system
evidencing ownership of the Notes in principal amounts of $1,000, or integral multiples thereof, with the exception of
one $1,185 denomination, with transfers of ownership effected on the records of The Depository Trust Company (DTC)
and its participants pursuant to the rules and procedures adopted by DTC, unless the delivery of a fully registered note
certificate is requested by the winning bidder and the issuance of such certificate is approved by the Town. (See
“Book-Entry-Transfer System,” herein.)

Authorization of the Notes and Use of Proceeds

The following table sets forth the principal amounts, purposes, statutory references and other relevant details for the
Notes.

Original Bond Anticipation M.G.L.
Bond Notes Chapter 44, Date of
This Issue Purpose Authorization Outstanding Section Authorization
$ 269,925 Fire Department Breathing Apparatus $ 275,000 $ 269,925 (2) 709) 5/6/14, art.28
120,249 Fire Department Portable Radio Equipment 130,000 120,249 (2) 7(9) 5/6/14, art.29
37,750 Pickup Truck 38,000 37,750 (2) 709) 5/6/14, art.34
63,951 Dump Truck 70,000 63,951 (2) 7(9) 5/6/14, art.35
156,526 Larger Dump Truck 170,000 156,526 (2) 7(9) 5/6/14, art.36
80,954 Elementary/Middle School HVAC Systems 120,000 80,954 (2) 7(3B) 5/6/14, art.45
255,085 Sylvester School Feasibility Study 500,000 475,059 (3) 7(21) 5/6/14, art.48
133,745 Fire Department Generator Replacement 140,000 133,745 (2) 7(9) 5/12/14, art.54
50,000 Fire Headquarters Renovation 50,000 50,000 (2) 7(3A) 5/12/14, art.57
12,000,000 Sylvester School Renovations 32,446,161 (1) M.G.L.c.70B 9/26/16, art.2
500,000 Fire Truck 500,000 7(1) 5/5/15, art. 36
157,000 DPW Large Dump Truck 190,000 7(2) 5/5/15, art. 24
140,000 DPW Multi-Tool Tractor 140,000 7(1) 5/5/15, art.25
170,000 DPW Large Dump Truck 190,000 7(1) 5/2/16, art. 25
250,000 Vacuum Sweeper Truck 250,000 7(2) 5/2/16, art. 26
140,000 Water Treatment Plant 1,519,200 8(7A) 5/2/16, art. 29
$ 14,525,185 $ 1,388,159

(1) The Town voted to exempt this authorization from the limitations of Proposition 2 %. The Town also expects to
receive approximately 53.70% reimbursement on eligible project costs from the Massachusetts School Building
Authority (MSBA), of which $735,518 has been received to date.

(2) This issue will renew a like amount of bond anticipation notes maturing on June 23, 2017.

(3) This issue, along with $219,974 of Massachusetts School Building Authority reimbursements, will retire a like
amount of bond anticipation notes maturing June 23, 2017.



Tax Exemption

In the opinion of Locke Lord LLP, Bond Counsel to the Town (“Bond Counsel”), based upon an analysis of existing laws,
regulations, rulings, and court decisions, and assuming, among other matters, compliance with certain covenants,
interest on the Notes is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). Bond Counsel is of the further opinion that interest on the Notes is
not a specific preference item for purposes of the federal individual or corporate alternative minimum taxes, although
Bond Counsel observes that such interest is included in adjusted current earnings when calculating corporate alternative
minimum taxable income. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any other federal tax consequences arising
with respect to the ownership or disposition of, or the accrual or receipt of interest on, the Notes. The Notes are not
“qualified tax-exempt obligations” for purposes of Section 265(b)(3) of the Code.

The Code imposes various requirements relating to the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes
of interest on obligations such as the Notes. Failure to comply with these requirements may result in interest on the
Notes being included in gross income for federal income tax purposes, possibly from the date of original issuance of
the Notes. The Town has covenanted to comply with such requirements to ensure that interest on the Notes will not
be included in federal gross income. The opinion of Bond Counsel assumes compliance with these requirements.

Bond Counsel is also of the opinion that, under existing law, interest on the Notes is exempt from Massachusetts
personal income taxes, and the Notes are exempt from Massachusetts personal property taxes. Bond Counsel has
not opined as to other Massachusetts tax consequences arising with respect to the Notes. Prospective Noteholders
should be aware, however, that the Notes are included in the measure of Massachusetts estate and inheritance taxes,
and the Notes and the interest thereon are included in the measure of certain Massachusetts corporate excise and
franchise taxes. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion as to the taxability of the Notes or the income therefrom or any
other tax consequences arising with respect to the Notes under the laws of any state other than Massachusetts.

To the extent the issue price of the Notes is less than the amount to be paid at maturity of such Notes (excluding
amounts stated to be interest and payable at least annually over the term of such Notes), the difference constitutes
“original issue discount,” the accrual of which, to the extent properly allocable to each owner thereof, is treated as
interest on the Notes which is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes and is exempt from
Massachusetts personal income taxes. For this purpose, the issue price of the Notes is the first price at which a
substantial amount of such Notes is sold to the public (excluding bond houses, brokers, or similar persons or
organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters, placement agents or wholesalers). The original issue discount
with respect to the Notes accrues daily over the term to maturity of such Notes on the basis of a constant interest rate
compounded semiannually (with straight-line interpolations between compounding dates). The accruing original issue
discount is added to the adjusted basis of such Notes to determine taxable gain or loss upon disposition (including
sale, redemption, or payment on maturity) of such Notes. Noteholders should consult their own tax advisors with
respect to the tax consequences of ownership of Notes with original issue discount, including the treatment of
purchasers who do not purchase such Notes in the original offering to the public at the first price at which a substantial
amount of such Notes is sold to the public.

Notes purchased, whether at original issuance or otherwise, for an amount greater than the stated principal amount to
be paid at maturity of such Notes, or, in some cases, at the earlier redemption date of such Notes ("Premium Notes"),
will be treated as having amortizable note premium for federal income tax purposes and Massachusetts personal
income tax purposes. No deduction is allowable for the amortizable note premium in the case of obligations, such as
the Premium Notes, the interest on which is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes. However, a
Noteholder’s basis in a Premium Note will be reduced by the amount of amortizable note premium properly allocable to
such Noteholder. Holders of Premium Notes should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the proper treatment
of amortizable note premium in their particular circumstances.

Bond Counsel has not undertaken to determine (or to inform any person) whether any actions taken (or not taken) or
events occurring (or not occurring) after the date of issuance of the Notes may adversely affect the value of, or the tax
status of interest on, the Notes.

Prospective Noteholders should be aware that from time to time legislation is or may be proposed which, if enacted
into law, could result in interest on the Note being subject directly or indirectly to federal income taxation, or otherwise
prevent Noteholders from realizing the full benefit provided under current federal tax law of the exclusion of interest on
the Note from gross income. To date, no such legislation has been enacted into law. However, it is not possible to
predict whether any such legislation will be enacted into law. Further, no assurance can be given that any pending or
future legislation, including amendments to the Code, if enacted into law, or any proposed legislation, including
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amendments to the Code, or any future judicial, regulatory or administrative interpretation or development with respect
to existing law, will not adversely affect the market value and marketability of, or the tax status of interest on, the
Notes. Prospective Noteholders are urged to consult their own tax advisors with respect to any such legislation,
interpretation or development.

Although Bond Counsel is of the opinion that interest on the Notes is excluded from gross income for federal income
tax purposes and is exempt from Massachusetts personal income taxes, the ownership or disposition of, or the accrual
or receipt of interest on, the Notes may otherwise affect the federal or state tax liability of a Noteholder. Among other
possible consequences of ownership or disposition of, or the accrual or receipt of interest on, the Notes, the Code
requires recipients of certain social security and certain railroad retirement benefits to take into account receipts or
accruals of interest on the Notes in determining the portion of such benefits that are included in gross income. The
nature and extent of all such other tax consequences will depend upon the particular tax status of the Noteholder or
the Noteholder’s other items of income, deduction, or exclusion. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any
such other tax consequences, and Noteholders should consult with their own tax advisors with respect to such
consequences.

Book-Entry Transfer System

This section applies only to the Notes only if they are issued in book-entry form through the facilities of The Depository
Trust Company (“DTC"), New York, NY.

DTC will act as securities depository for the Notes. The Notes will be issued in fully-registered form registered in the
name of Cede & Co. (DTC's partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized
representative of DTC. One-fully registered Note certificate will be issued for each interest rate, each in the aggregate
principal amount bearing such interest rate, and will be deposited with DTC.

DTC, the world's largest depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a
"banking organization" within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a
“clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a "clearing agency"
registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides
asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity, corporate and municipal debt issues, and
money market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC's participants ("Direct Participants") deposit with DTC.
DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in
deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants'
accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities certificates. Direct Participants include both
U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other
organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation ("DTCC"). DTCC is
the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of
which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC
system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust
companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant,
either directly or indirectly ("Indirect Participants”). DTC has a AA+ rating from S&P Global Ratings. The DTC Rules
applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More information about DTC
can be found at www.dtcc.com and www.dtc.org.

Purchases of securities deposited with the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will
receive a credit for such securities on DTC's records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Note
("Beneficial Owner") is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants' records. Beneficial Owners will not
receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written
confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or
Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in
the Notes are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of
Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in the
securities deposited with DTC, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for such securities is
discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all securities deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the name
of DTC's partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative
of DTC. The deposit of securities with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC
nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of
the securities deposited with it; DTC's records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts



such securities are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will
remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect
Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by
arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor such other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to the Notes unless
authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC's MMI Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails
an Omnibus Proxy to the issuer of such securities or its paying agent as soon as possible after the record date. The
Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.'s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts the
securities are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

Principal and interest payments on the securities deposited with DTC will be made to Cede & Co., or such other
nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC's practice is to credit Direct Participants'
accounts upon DTC's receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the issuer of such securities or its
paying agent, on the payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC's records. Payments by
Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case
with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in "street name," and will be the
responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC (nor its nominee), the issuer of such securities or its paying agent,
subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of principal and
interest to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the
responsibility of the issuer of such securities or its paying agent, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants
will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility
of Direct and Indirect Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the securities held by it at any time by giving
reasonable notice to the issuer of such securities or its paying agent. Under such circumstances, in the event that a
successor depository is not obtained, physical certificates are required to be printed and delivered to Beneficial
Owners.

The Town may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or a successor
securities depository). In that event, physical certificates will be printed and delivered to Beneficial Owners.

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC's book-entry system has been obtained from sources that the
Town believes to be reliable, but the Town takes no responsibility for the accuracy thereof.

Security and Remedies

Full Faith and Credit. General obligation bonds and notes of a Massachusetts city or town constitute a pledge of its full
faith and credit. Payment is not limited to a particular fund or revenue source. Except for “qualified bonds” as described
below (see “Serial Bonds and Notes” under “TYPES OF OBLIGATIONS") and setoffs of state distributions as described
below (see “State Distributions” below), no provision is made by the Massachusetts statutes for priorities among bonds and
notes and other general obligations, although the use of certain moneys may be restricted.

Tax Levy. The Massachusetts statutes direct the municipal assessors to include annually in the tax levy for the next fiscal
year “all debt and interest charges matured and maturing during the next fiscal year and not otherwise provided for [and] alll
amounts necessary to satisfy final judgments”. Specific provision is also made for including in the next tax levy payments of
rebate amounts not otherwise provided for and payment of notes in anticipation of federal or state aid, if the aid is no
longer forthcoming.

The total amount of a tax levy is limited by statute. However, the voters in each municipality may vote to exclude from the
limitation any amounts required to pay debt service on indebtedness incurred before November 4, 1980. Local voters may
also vote to exempt specific subsequent bond issues from the limitation. (See “Tax Limitations” Under “PROPERTY
TAXATION” below.) In addition, obligations incurred before November 4, 1980 may be constitutionally entitled to payment
from taxes in excess of the statutory limit.

No Lien. Except for taxes on the increased value of certain property in designated development districts which may be
pledged for the payment of debt service on bonds issued to finance economic development projects within such districts,
no provision is made for a lien on any portion of the tax levy or any other moneys to secure particular bonds or notes or
bonds and notes generally (or judgments on bonds or notes) in priority to other claims. Provision is made, however, for

4



borrowing to pay judgments, subject to the General Debt Limit. (See “DEBT LIMITS” below.) Subject to the approval of the
State Director of Accounts for judgments above $10,000, judgments may also be paid from available funds without
appropriation and included in the next tax levy unless other provision is made.

Court Proceedings. Massachusetts cities and towns are subject to suit on their general obligation bonds and notes and
courts of competent jurisdiction have power in appropriate proceedings to order payment of a judgment on the bonds or
notes from lawfully available funds or, if necessary, to order the city or town to take lawful action to obtain the required
money, including the raising of it in the next annual tax levy, within the limits prescribed by law. (See “Tax Limitations”
under “PROPERTY TAXATION” below.) In exercising their discretion as to whether to enter such an order, the courts
could take into account all relevant factors including the current operating needs of the city or town and the availability and
adequacy of other remedies. The Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court has stated in the past that a judgment against a
municipality can be enforced by the taking and sale of the property of any inhabitant. However, there has been no judicial
determination as to whether this remedy is constitutional under current due process and equal protection standards.

Restricted Funds. Massachusetts statutes also provide that certain water, gas and electric, community antenna television
system, telecommunications, sewer, parking meter and passenger ferry fee, community preservation and affordable
housing receipts may be used only for water, gas and electric, community antenna television system, telecommunications,
sewer, parking, mitigation of ferry service impacts community preservation and affordable housing and related purposes,
respectively; accordingly, moneys derived from these sources may be unavailable to pay general obligation bonds and
notes issued for other purposes. A city or town that accepts certain other statutory provisions may establish an enterprise
fund for a utility, health care, solid waste, recreational or transportation facility and for police or fire services; under those
provisions any surplus in the fund is restricted to use for capital expenditures or reduction of user charges. In addition,
subject to certain limits, a city or town may annually authorize the establishment of one or more revolving funds in
connection with use of certain revenues for programs that produce those revenues; interest earned on a revolving fund is
treated as general fund revenue. A city or town may also establish an energy revolving loan fund to provide loans to
owners of privately held property in the city or town for certain energy conservation and renewable energy projects, and
may borrow to establish such a fund. The loan repayments and interest earned on the investment of amounts in the fund
shall be credited to the fund. Also, the annual allowance for depreciation of a gas and electric plant or a community
antenna television and telecommunications system is restricted to use for plant or system renewals and improvements, for
nuclear decommissioning costs, and costs of contractual commitments, or, with the approval of the State Department of
Telecommunications and Energy, to pay debt incurred for plant or system reconstruction or renewals. Revenue bonds and
notes issued in anticipation of them may be secured by a prior lien on specific revenues. Receipts from industrial users in
connection with industrial revenue financings are also not available for general municipal purposes.

State Distributions. State grants and distributions may in some circumstances be unavailable to pay general obligation
bonds and notes of a city or town in that the State Treasurer is empowered to deduct from such grants and distributions
the amount of any debt service paid on “qualified bonds” (See “Serial Bonds and Notes” under “TYPES OF
OBLIGATIONS” below) and any other sums due and payable by the city or town to the Commonwealth or certain other
public entities, including any unpaid assessments for costs of any public transportation authority (such as the
Massachusetts Bay Transportation Authority or a regional transit authority) of which it is a member, for any debt service
due on obligations issued to the Massachusetts School Building Authority, for costs of the Massachusetts Water
Resources Authority if the city or town is within the territory served by the Authority, or for charges necessary to meet
obligations under the Commonwealth’s Water Pollution Abatement or Drinking Water Revolving Loan Programs, including
such charges imposed by another local governmental unit that provides wastewater collection or treatment services or
drinking water services to the city or town.

If a city or town is (or is likely to be) unable to pay principal or interest on its bonds or notes when due, it is required to notify
the State Commissioner of Revenue. The Commissioner shall in turn, after verifying the inability, certify the inability to the
State Treasurer. The State Treasurer shall pay the due or overdue amount to the paying agent for the bonds or notes, in
trust, within three days after the certification or one business day prior to the due date (whichever is later). This payment is
limited, however, to the estimated amount otherwise distributable by the Commonwealth to the city or town during the
remainder of the fiscal year (after the deductions mentioned in the foregoing paragraph). If for any reason any portion of
the certified sum has not been paid at the end of the fiscal year, the State Treasurer shall pay it as soon as practicable in
the next fiscal year to the extent of the estimated distributions for that fiscal year. The sums so paid shall be charged (with
interest and administrative costs) against the distributions to the city or town.

The foregoing does not constitute a pledge of the faith and credit of the Commonwealth. The Commonwealth has not
agreed to maintain existing levels of state distributions, and the direction to use estimated distributions to pay debt service
may be subject to repeal by future legislation. Moreover, adoption of the annual appropriation act has sometimes been
delayed beyond the beginning of the fiscal year and estimated distributions which are subject to appropriation may be
unavailable to pay local debt service until they are appropriated.
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Bankruptcy. Enforcement of a claim for payment of principal or interest on general obligation bonds or notes would be
subject to the applicable provisions of Federal bankruptcy laws and to the provisions of other statutes, if any, hereafter
enacted by the Congress or the State legislature extending the time for payment or imposing other constraints upon
enforcement insofar as the same may be constitutionally applied. Massachusetts municipalities are not generally
authorized by the Massachusetts General Laws to file a petition for bankruptcy under Federal Bankruptcy laws. In cases
involving significant financial difficulties faced by a single city, town or regional school district, the Commonwealth has
enacted special legislation to permit the appointment of a fiscal overseer, finance control board or, in the most extreme
cases, a state receiver. In a limited number of these situations, such special legislation has also authorized the filing of
federal bankruptcy proceedings, with the prior approval of the Commonwealth. In each case where such authority was
granted, it expired at the termination of the Commonwealth’s oversight of the financially distressed city, town or regional
school district. To date, no such filings have been approved or made.

Opinion of Bond Counsel

The unqualified approving opinion as to the validity of the Notes will be rendered by Locke Lord LLP, Boston,
Massachusetts, Bond Counsel. The opinion will be dated the date of the original delivery of the Notes and will speak
only as of such date.

Other than as to matters expressly set forth herein as the opinion of Bond Counsel, Bond Counsel are not passing
upon and do not assume any responsibility for the accuracy or adequacy of the statements made in this Official
Statement and make no representation that they have independently verified the same.

Bank Eligibility
The Notes will not be designated as “qualified tax-exempt obligations” for purposes of Section 265(b)(3) of the Code.
Financial Advisory Services of FirstSouthwest, a Division of Hilltop Securities Inc.

FirstSouthwest, a Division of Hilltop Securities Inc., Boston, Massachusetts serves as financial advisor to the Town of
Hanover, Massachusetts.

Disclosure of Significant Events

In order to assist underwriters in complying with the requirements of paragraph (b)(5)())(C) of Rule 15c2-12
promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Rule”) applicable to municipal securities having a
stated maturity of 18 months or less, the Town will covenant for the benefit of the owners of the Notes to file with the
Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (the “MSRB”), notices of the occurrence of any of the following events with
respect to the Notes within ten business days of such occurrence: (a) principal and interest payment delinquencies;
(b) non-payment related defaults, if material; (c) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial
difficulties; (d) unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; (e) substitution of credit or
liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; (f) adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of
proposed or final determination of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other material notices
or determinations with respect to the tax status of the Notes, or other material events affecting the tax status of the
Notes; (g) modifications to rights of owners of the Notes, if material; (h) bond calls, if material, and tender offers; (i)
defeasances; (j) release, substitution or sale of property securing the repayment of the Notes, if material; (k) ratings
changes on the Notes; (I) bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Town; (m) the consummation of a
merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the Town or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Town,
other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the
termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material; and (n)
appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a trustee, if material.

Other than the Town, there are no obligated persons with respect to the Notes within the meaning of the Rule.

The covenant will be included in a Significant Events Disclosure Certificate to be executed by the signers of the Notes
and incorporated by reference in the Notes. The sole remedy available to the owners of the Notes for the failure of the
Town to comply with any provision of the certificate shall be an action for specific performance of the Town’'s
obligations under the certificate and not for money damages; no other person shall have any right to enforce any
provision of the certificate.

In the past five years the Town believes it has complied, in all material respects, with its previous
undertakings to provide annual reports or notices of significant events in accordance with the Rule.
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TOWN OF HANOVER, MASSACHUSETTS

General

The Town is located along State Route 3 in northern Plymouth County, approximately 25 miles south of Boston.
Hanover is bordered by the Towns of Norwell, Pembroke, Hanson and Rockland. The Town's approximately 13,164
residents inhabit a land area of 15.6 square miles.

The Town operates under an open town meeting form of government presided over by a Town Manager. Subject to
the legislative decisions made by the Town Meeting, the affairs of the Town are generally administered by a five-
member Board of Selectmen, which in turn appoints a Town Manager who is solely responsible to the Board of
Selectmen.

The following tables set forth the principal executive officials of the Town.

Principal Town Officials

Manner
Town Title Name of Selection Term Expires
Selectman, Acting Chair Brian E. Barthelmes Elected 2018
Selectman Joceyln Keegan Elected 2020
Selectman John C. Tuzik Elected 2019
Selectman Emanuel Dockter Elected 2020
Selectman David Delaney Elected 2018
Town Manager Troy B.G. Clarkson Appointed 2018
Interim Director of Finance Chelsea Stevens Appointed TBD
Interim Treasurer/Collector Eric Kinsherf Appointed TBD
Town Clerk Catherine Harder-Bernier Elected 2019
Town Counsel Lauren C. Galvin Appointed Indefinite

Municipal Services

The Town provides general governmental services for the territory within its boundaries, including police and fire
protection, street maintenance, parks and recreational facilities, public education and water services. The Town
operates a water treatment plant which was built in 1972 and has been modified to meet current federal and state
regulations. In addition, the Hanover Housing Authority provides 29 units of low income and elderly housing.

The principal services provided by Plymouth County are courts, a jail and house of correction, registry of deeds, and
an agricultural aid program.

Education

The Town's school system provides education for students from pre-kindergarten through grade twelve. The Town
has three elementary schools providing education for grades pre-K through 4, one middle school providing education
for grades 5-8 and one high school providing education for grades 9-12. The total design capacity of existing buildings
is estimated at 3,020.



Following is a table setting forth actual and projected enroliments in the Town's schools.

PUBLIC SCHOOL ENROLLMENTS
(as of October 1)

Actual
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
Elementary 1,030 965 921 958 936
Middle School 897 934 878 821 834
High School 775 780 791 816 790
Totals 2,702 2,679 2,590 2,595 2,560

The South Shore Regional Vocational Technical High School provides vocational education in grades nine through
twelve to eight member municipalities. As of October 1, 2016 the school enroliment was 630 with 45 students from
Hanover.

Industry and Commerce

Hanover is located 25 miles southeast of downtown Boston and is centrally situated within Plymouth County. Hanover
is a regional commercial center served by Route 3 a state limited access highway. The community’s main commercial
artery is Route 53 running north to south. Land on both sides of Route 53 is commercially zoned for its entire five mile
length in Hanover. The Hanover Mall which is geographically positioned at the Route 3 and Route 53 interchange (exit
13 off Route 3) serves as a reginal economic anchor. The land encompassing the Hanover Mall is identified as
Planned Shopping Center District, allowing for large scale retail development. Commercial activity is further enhanced
by close access to two other Route 3 interchanges at Route 228, exit 14 in Rockland and at Route 139, exit 12 in
Pembroke. All three identified interchanges incorporate Route 53, promoting this state numbered route as a reginal
thoroughfare linking neighboring towns of Pembroke, Hanson, Rockland, Norwell, and Scituate. Due to Hanover’s
geographic location, present zoning regulations and a pro-business outlook Hanover has become a shopper’s choice
and destination as a regional business center.

Hanover’s Planning Office and Planning Board with the help of the Boston region’s Metropolitan Area Planning Council
(MACP) are currently embarking on the planning process to update the community’s master plan. This public process
will be used to envision and outline Hanover's future with respect to land use, transportation, and development.
Included in the master planning process will be a comprehensive review of the zoning regulations to study the potential
of the existing commercial corridors regarding economic growth and development while maintaining the community’s
strong historical fabric. Over the past decade the Massachusetts Department of Transportation (MassDOT) has
improved access to and from Hanover through three transportation improvement projects. The widening of Route 53 to
five lanes was completed several years ago, thus increasing road capacity surrounding the Hanover Mall south to the
intersection of Silver Street and Pond Street. The Route 3 overpass bridge replacement project was completed in 2012
to ease traffic flow north along Route 53. The third project implementation of a middle turning lane from along Route 53
to the intersection at Route 123 near the Norwell town line will be completed in 2016. In addition, the Town has
embarked on an ambitious effort to investigate the feasibility of establishing a municipal sewer along the commercial
corridor, a project that would allow for increased density and additional commercial development. Hanover continues
to work with local business owners, developers and Mass DOT to improve traffic flow on Route 53 to deal with
increased traffic flow due to an improving economy and the subsequent new businesses that follow.

In 2005, the Town adopted a Village Planned Unit Development bylaw which promotes mixed-use development,
allowing for the combination of commercial and residential land use along the Route 53 corridor. In September of
2015, Hanover saw the ground breaking of the second of three phased development projects which will create the
Town’s first mixed-use center. The second phase of planned development known as “Sconset Landing” will bring 130
condominium units to the local real estate market. Work is being undertaken by Five Mark Properties.

Hanover’'s geographical location has for many years attracted the automobile industry. The Prime Motor Group has
three car dealerships: Prime GMC, Prime Infinity and Prime Mercedes located along Route 53, with plans to develop a
new auto processing center. Additionally, McGee Toyota, Land Rover of Hanover, Coastal Volkswagen, Janell Ford
and Planet Subaru of Hanover are all located along the Route 53 corridor. Hanover continues to support the growth of
the automobile industry along Route 53. The community is pleased with the construction and completion of the
University Sports Complex and the redevelopment of the Star Land amusement park a local draw for many past
generations. This thriving sports complex includes eight indoor basketball courts, and a full size indoor turf field for
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both soccer and lacrosse. The University Sports Complex continues to attract both reginal and national youth sports
tournaments and competitions to the South Shore. Redevelopment has continued to the southern portions of Route 53
as witnessed by the recent permitting of 357 Columbia Road which will bring a blighted property back to life by
incorporating a new Planet Fitness workout facility to the region. Additionally, Tractor Supply Co., a national retailer of
home, lawn and farming equipment has received local permitting for 409 Columbia Road.

The Hanover Mall is in the middle of an exciting renaissance, led by the completion of a new Buffalo Wild Wings
restaurant at the site of a previous Uno’s restaurant. The Mall has also recently been granted a permit to construct an
assisted living facility and upgrade its wastewater treatment system. Mall management meets regularly with Town
officials and has strengthened its partnership through increased collaboration.

The South Shore YMCA welcomes a satellite Spaulding Rehab facility to the South Shores largest YMCA. The YMCA
has continued its growth in Hanover with the recently completed Emilson Arts and Entertainment Pavilion. The YMCA
has also recently completed a new sewage treatment plant to operate the YMCA complex.

The community continues to support affordable senior housing at Barstow Village, where the Legion and Cushing
residences continue to thrive. The Town has recently approved a new 40B 37 unit housing project on the Cardinal
Cushing campus which will restore the historic Kennedy Building. Said project will be spearheaded by the Planning
Office of Urban Affairs and the Cushing Center with a financial contribution from the Hanover Affordable Housing
Trust. The Town continues to forge a working relationship with Cardinal Cushing officials, having continued
conversations for further site and campus improvements.

Hanover continues to work closely with property owners to create and modify zoning bylaws that will allow for greater
commercial development along Route 53's commercial corridor, ensuring stable sustainable commercial growth. It is
forecast that more than $100 million of new construction will occur in the coming years. While Hanover is primarily a
residential town, it also has a substantial amount of commerce along the Route 53 corridor with access to Route 3.
Trade, transportation and utilities are leading economic pursuits accounting for approximately 59% of the employment.
Hanover is active in supporting the business community and in managing its resources to provide for expansion of the
tax base. Town Boards and committees are pleased with the amount of commercial and industrial development and
redevelopment which have continued to occur. Redevelopment has taken the form of expansion of existing
businesses, occupancy of vacant facilities, renovation of existing sites and facilities, and rehabilitation of older
industrial areas. Support for a partnership with the business community is exemplified by the Board of Selectmen’s
recent licensing of space in the Town Hall for use by the Chamber of Commerce.

EMPLOYMENT AND PAYROLLS

Hanover is a residential suburb of Boston. The wholesale/retail trade sector employed the greater percentage of
people, followed by the services sector. The following table lists the major categories of income and employment from
2011-2015.

Calendar Year Average

Industry 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Construction 362 417 465 542 597
Manufacturing 480 488 509 509 532
Trade, Transportation & Utilities 2,347 2,389 2,461 2,463 2,415
Information 111 105 102 85 81
Financial Activities 238 229 191 300 306
Professional and Business Services 674 697 761 814 817
Education and Health Services 844 938 1,000 1,005 990
Leisure and Hospitality 946 923 971 894 866
Other Services 406 408 361 540 875
Total Employment 6,408 6,594 6,821 7,152 7,479
Number of Establishments 681 654 657 685 691
Average Weekly Wages $ 749 $ 763 % 798 $ 813 $ 858
Total Wages $ 256,319,968 $ 267,644,966 $ 290,425,128 $ 309,375,058 $ 341,089,541

SOURCE: Massachusetts Department of Employment and Training. Data based upon place of employment, not place of
residence. Due to reclassification the U.S. Department of Labor now uses the North American Industry Classification
System (NAICS) as the basis for the assignment and tabulation of economic data by industry.



LARGEST EMPLOYERS
The following table lists the Town's largest employers, exclusive of the Town itself.

Approximate

Name Product/Function No. of Employees
YMCA Exercise/Family Facility 250-499
Direct Finance Group Finance 100-249
Independent Bank Corp. Banking 100-249
Joe's American Bar & Grill Restaurant 100-249
Macy's Retail Store 100-249
Mcgee Car dealership 100-249
PA Landers Construction 100-249
Shaw's Supermarket Food Market 100-249
South Shore Voc Tech School School 100-249
Target Retail Store 100-249

Labor Force, Employment and Unemployment Rates

According to the Massachusetts Department of Employment and Training, in March 2017, the Town had a total labor
force of 7,691 of which 7,448 were employed and 243 or 3.2% were unemployed as compared with 3.6% for the
Commonwealth.

The following table sets forth the Town's average labor force and unemployment rates for calendar years 2012 through
2016 and the unemployment rate for the Commonwealth and United States as a whole for the same period.

UNEMPLOYMENT RATES

Town of Hanover Commonwealth United States
Year  _Labor Force Unemployment Rate Unemployment Rate Unemployment Rate
2016 7,460 29 % 49 % 53 %
2015 7,425 4.0 4.9 5.0
2014 7,411 4.7 5.8 6.2
2013 7,562 5.6 6.1 7.4
2012 7,544 5.4 6.7 8.1

SOURCE: Mass. Department of Employment and Training, Federal Reserve Bank of Boston and U.S. Bureau of
Labor Statistics. Data based upon place of residence, not place of employment. Monthly data are
unadjusted.

Building Permits

The following table sets forth the number of building permits issued and the estimated dollar value of hew construction
and alterations for calendar years 2012 through 2016. The estimated dollar values are builders' estimates and are
generally considered to be conservative. Permits are filed and estimated valuations are shown for both private
construction and Town projects.

New Construction Additions/Alterations
Calendar Residential Non-Residential Residential Non-Residential Totals
Year No. Value No. Value No. Value No. Value No. Value
2017 (1) 9 $2,230,000 2 $2,100,000 92 $1,033,807 18 $268,640 121 $5,632,447
2016 16 4,052,500 8 4,881,540 392 4,294,280 48 3,007,948 464 16,236,268
2015 34 7,811,680 3 8,389,752 453 6,027,382 72 7,957,448 563 30,186,262
2014 13 3,720,660 1 300,000 294 5,640,483 30 2,501,612 337 12,162,755
2013 21 5,950,500 8 6,895,830 332 5,470,478 48 4,803,628 409 23,120,436
2012 18 4,921,600 4 1,025,842 205 3,245,299 6 105,572 233 9,298,313

(1) Issued through April 30, 2017.
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Transportation and Utilities

The principal highway serving the Town is Route 3 which provides direct access into Boston and Cape Cod. Public
transportation is provided by the Plymouth and Brockton Bus Company, under contract with the Massachusetts Bay
Transportation Authority (MBTA). The MBTA has completed construction of two lines of the Old Colony commuter rail
which expanded service for Hanover due to stations located in neighboring towns.

Water is supplied by the Town’s Water Department. Electricity is supplied by Massachusetts Electric.

Population, Income and Wealth Levels

The following table compares the most recent three census years' averages for the Town, the Commonwealth and the
United States.

Hanover Massachusetts United States

Median Age:

2010 41.8 39.1 37.2

2000 375 36.5 35.3

1990 34.1 33.6 329

1980 28.1 31.2 30.0
Median Family Income:

2010 $110,000 $81,165 $51,144

2000 86,835 50,502 50,046

1990 59,473 44,367 35,225

1980 27,034 21,166 19,908
Per Capita Income:

2010 $41,043 $33,966 $27,334

2000 30,268 25,952 21,587

1990 17,789 17,224 14,420

1980 7,568 7,459 7,313

SOURCE: Federal Census.
On the basis of the 2010 Federal census, the Town has a population density of 889 persons per square mile.

POPULATION TRENDS

2010 2000 1990 1980
13,879 13,164 11,912 11,358

SOURCE: Federal Census.
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PROPERTY TAXATION
Tax Levy Computation

The principal revenue source of the Town is the tax on real and personal property. The amount to be levied in each
year is the amount appropriated or required by law to be raised for municipal expenditures less estimated receipts from
other sources and less appropriations voted from available funds. The total amount levied is subject to certain limits
prescribed by law; for a description of those limits, see "Tax Limitations" below. As to the inclusion of debt service and
final judgments, see “Securities and Remedies” above. The estimated receipts for a fiscal year from other sources
may not exceed the actual receipts during the preceding fiscal year from the same sources unless approved by the
State Commissioner of Revenue. Excepting special funds the use of which is otherwise provided for by law, the
deduction for appropriations voted from available funds for a fiscal year cannot exceed the "free cash" as of the
beginning of the prior fiscal year as certified by the State Director of Accounts plus up to nine months' collections and
receipts on account of earlier years' taxes after that date. Subject to certain adjustments, free cash is surplus revenue
less uncollected overdue property taxes from earlier years. Although an allowance is made in the tax levy for
abatements (see "Overlay" below) no reserve is generally provided for uncollectible real property taxes. Since some of
the levy is inevitably not collected, this creates a cash deficiency which may or may not be offset by other items (see
"Taxation to Meet Deficits" below).

The table below illustrates the manner in which the tax levy was determined for the following fiscal years.

TAX LEVY COMPUTATION

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
GROSS AMOUNT TO BE RAISED:
Appropriations(1) $54,607,090 $56,245,067 $57,886,033 $63,310,629 $62,630,369
Other Local Expenditures 294,800 40,175 104,292 144,988 185,588
State and County Charges 552,995 568,946 601,023 587,173 635,726
Overlay Reserve 467,878 461,116 454,897 292,935 219,311
Total Gross Amount to be Raised $55,922,763 $57,315,304 $59,046,245 $64,335,725 $63,670,994
LESS EST. RECEIPTS & OTHER REVENUE:
Estimated Receipts from State(2) 9,346,066 9,467,271 9,625,073 9,722,093 9,959,339
Estimated Receipts - Local 7,524,529 8,096,829 7,245,537 8,973,743 8,513,587
Available Funds Appropriated:
Free Cash 2,067,248 1,924,421 1,533,736 2,166,750 1,270,962
Other Available Funds(3) 985,510 870,815 1,967,537 1,967,737 1,531,755
Total Estimated Receipts & Revenue 19,923,353 20,359,336 20,371,883 22,830,323 21,275,643
Net Amount to be Raised (Tax Levy) $35,999,410 $36,955,968 $38,674,362 $41,505,402 $42,395,351

(1) Includes additional appropriations from taxation voted subsequent to adoption of the annual budget but prior to
setting the tax rate.

(2) Estimated by the State Department of Revenue and required by law to be used in setting of the tax rate. Actual
state aid payments may vary upward or downward from said estimates. See “Reduction of State Aid” below.

(3) Transfers from other available funds including "Free Cash" (see "Town Finances - Free Cash"), are generally
made as an offset to a particular appropriation item. In addition, these transfers may include activity from the
prior fiscal year occurring after the setting of the prior fiscal year's tax rate.
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Assessed Valuations and Tax Levies

Property is classified for the purpose of taxation according to its use. The legislature has in substance created three
classes of taxable property: (1) residential real property, (2) open space land, and (3) all other (commercial, industrial and
personal property). Within limits, cities and towns are given the option of determining the share of the annual levy to be
borne by each of the three categories. The share required to be borne by residential real property is at least 50 percent of
its share of the total taxable valuation; the effective rate for open space must be at least 75 percent of the effective rate for
residential real property; and the share of commercial, industrial and personal property must not exceed 175 percent of
their share of the total valuation. A city or town may also exempt up to 20 percent of the valuation of residential real
property (where used as the taxpayer’s principal residence) and up to 10 percent of the valuation of commercial real
property (where occupied by certain small businesses). Property may not be classified in a city or town until the State
Commissioner of Revenue certifies that all property in the city or town has been assessed at its fair cash value. Such
certification must take place every three years, or pursuant to a revised schedule as may be issued by the Commissioner.

Related statutes provide that certain forest land, agricultural or horticultural land (assessed at the value it has for these
purposes) and recreational land (assessed on the basis of its use at a maximum of 25 percent of its fair cash value) are all
to be taxed at the rate applicable to commercial property. Land classified as forest land is valued for this purpose at five
percent of fair cash value but not less than ten dollars per acre.

In order to determine appropriate relative values for the purposes of certain distributions to and assessments upon cities
and towns, the Commissioner of Revenue biennially makes a redetermination of the fair cash value of the taxable property
in each municipality. This is known as the “equalized value”. See “INDEBTEDNESS” below.

The following table sets forth the trend in equalized valuations of the Town.

State Equalized Percent
January 1 Valuation Increase
2016 $ 2,595,375,300 8.89 %
2014 2,383,514,700 (2.12)
2012 2,435,053,200 (6.85)
2010 2,614,164,900 (7.89)
2008 2,838,173,500 10.08
2006 2,578,219,800 23.24

The table below sets forth the trend in the Town's assessed valuations, tax rates, tax levies, and tax levies per capita
for the following fiscal years. The Town completed revaluations of its property for use in fiscal 2015. The next
revaluation will occur in fiscal 2018.

Personal Total Tax Rate
Fiscal Real Estate Property Assessed Per $1,000 Tax Levy
Year Valuation Valuation Valuation Valuation Tax Levy Per Capita(1)
2017 $ 2,492,040,350 $ 54,204,940 $ 2,546,245,290 $ 1732 $ 42395351 $ 3,055
2016 2,385,810,850 51,159,150 2,436,970,000 17.88 41,505,402 2,991
2015 (2)  2,319,654,950 50,058,510 2,369,713,460 17.14 38,674,362 2,787
2014 2,208,203,150 47,241,170 2,255,444,320 17.20 36,955,968 2,663
2013 2,242,844,850 47,722,630 2,290,567,480 15.55 35,999,410 2,594

(1) Based on a 2010 Federal Census of 13,879.
(2) Revaluation year.
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Classification of Property

The following is a breakdown of the Town's assessed valuation of real estate in fiscal years 2017, 2016, and 2015.

2017 2016 2015
Property Type Amount % of Total Amount % of Total Amount % of Total
Residential(1) $ 2,186,227,323 859 % $ 2,078,239,469 853 % $ 2,012,206,926 849 %
Commercial 300,618,240 11.8 299,212,141 12.3 298,023,144 12.6
Industrial 59,399,727 2.3 59,518,390 2.4 59,483,390 2.5
Total Real Estate $ 2,546,245,290 1000 % $ 2,436,970,000 1000 % $ 2,369,713,460 100.0 %

(1) Includes personal property.

Largest Taxpayers

The following is a list of the largest taxpayers in the Town based upon assessed valuations for fiscal 2017. As of the
date of this statement all the taxpayers listed below were current in their tax payments.

Total Assesed % of
Nature of Valuation for Total
Name Business Fiscal 2017 Valuation
1175 Washington Street Holdings LLC Commercial $ 44,808,600 2.05 %
Target Corporation Commercial 15,110,800 0.69
MSCI 200-HQ8 Complex 2053, LLC Commercial 10,183,300 0.50
Starland Holdings LLC Commercial 10,886,300 0.47
Cushing Green Limited Partnership Residential 9,791,100 0.45
North Pointe Owner LLC Commercial 9,232,600 0.42
Northern Rose - Hanover LTD Commercial 8,258,500 0.38
AMR Real Estate Holdings - Hanover Commercial 8,000,000 0.37
Shaws Hanover Station LLC Commercial 6,589,100 0.30
Hanover Washington LTD Partnership Commercial 6,588,600 0.30
Total $ 129,448,900 5.93 %

Abatements and Overlay

The Town is authorized to increase each tax levy by an amount approved by the State Commissioner of Revenue as
an "overlay" to provide for tax abatements. If abatements are granted in excess of the applicable overlay, the excess
is required to be added to the next tax levy. Abatements are granted where exempt real or personal property has been
assessed or where taxable real or personal property has been overvalued or disproportionately valued. The assessors
may also abate uncollectible personal property taxes. They may abate real and personal property taxes on broad
grounds (including inability to pay) with the approval of the State Commissioner of Revenue.
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The table below sets forth the amount of the overlay reserve for the following fiscal years and actual abatements and
exemptions granted through June 30, 2016.

Abatements

Overlay Reserve and Exemptions
Fiscal Net Tax Dollar As a % of Granted Through
Year Levy(1) Amount Net Levy June 30, 2016
2016 $41,212,417 $292,935 0.71 % $154,024
2015 38,219,466 454,897 1.19 170,943
2014 36,494,852 461,116 1.26 250,061
2013 35,531,532 467,878 1.32 193,432
2012 33,650,844 507,420 151 177,766

(1) Levy net of Overlay Reserve.

Tax Collections

The taxes for each fiscal year are payable in quarterly installments on August 1, November 1, February 1 and May 1.
Interest accrues on delinquent taxes at the rate of 14 percent per annum. Real property (land and buildings) is subject
to a lien for the taxes assessed upon it, subject to any paramount federal lien and subject to bankruptcy and
insolvency laws. (In addition, real property is subject to a lien for certain unpaid municipal charges or fees.) f the
property has been transferred, an unenforced lien expires on the fourth December 31 after the end of the fiscal year to
which the tax relates. If the property has not been transferred by the fourth December 31, an unenforced lien expires
upon a later transfer of the property. Provision is made, however, for continuation of the lien where it could not be
enforced because of a legal impediment. The persons against whom real or personal property taxes are assessed are
personally liable for the tax (subject to bankruptcy and insolvency laws). In the case of real property, this personal
liability is effectively extinguished by sale or taking of the property as described below.

The following table compares the Town's net tax collections with its net (gross tax levy less overlay reserve for
abatements) tax levies for the last five fiscal years.

Collections During Collections as
Overlay Fiscal Year Payable(2) of June 30, 2016 (3)

Fiscal Gross Tax Reserve for Net Dollar % of Dollar % of
Year Levy Abatements Tax Levy(1) Amount Net Levy Amount Net Levy
2016 $41,505,402 $292,935 $41,212,467 $41,090,414 99.7 % $41,090,414 99.7 %
2015 38,674,362 454,897 38,219,465 37,967,782 99.3 38,663,698 101.2
2014 36,955,968 461,116 36,494,852 36,304,878 99.5 36,966,664 101.3
2013 35,999,410 467,878 35,531,532 35,356,454 99.5 36,063,133 101.5
2012 34,158,264 507,420 33,650,844 33,677,536 100.1 34,107,093 101.4

(1) Levy net of Overlay Reserve.

(2) Actual collections. Does not include, abatements, proceeds of tax titles or tax possessions attributable to each
levy or other non-cash credits.

(3) Collections for the current fiscal year are comparable to previous fiscal years.

Tax Titles and Possessions

Massachusetts law permits a municipality either to sell by public sale (at which the municipality may become the
purchaser) or to take real property for non-payment of taxes thereon. In either case the property owner can redeem
the property by paying the unpaid taxes, with interest (at a rate of 14%) and other charges, but if the right of
redemption is not exercised within six months (which may be extended an additional year in the case of certain
installment payments) it can be foreclosed by petition to the land court.

Upon such foreclosure, a tax title purchased or taken by the municipality becomes a "tax possession" and may be held
and disposed of like any land held for municipal purposes. Uncollectible real property taxes are ordinarily not written
off until they become municipal tax titles (either by purchase at the public sale or by taking), at which time the tax is
written off in full by reserving the amount of tax and charging surplus.
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The following table sets forth the amount of tax titles and possessions as of the end of each of the last five fiscal years
and the amounts realized by the Town through tax title redemptions and the sale of tax title property during the same
period.

Total Tax Total Realized Through

Fiscal Titles and Sale of Tax Title Property
Year Possessions and Tax Title Redemption
2016 $ 477,346 $ 105,057

2015 359,175 46,374

2014 222,651 68,375

2013 273,168 87,292

2012 392,189 -

Sale of Tax Receivables

Cities and towns are authorized to sell delinquent property tax receivables by public sale or auction, either individually
or in bulk.

Taxation to Meet Deficits

As noted elsewhere (see “Overlay” above) overlay deficits, i.e. tax abatements in excess of the overlay included in the tax
levy to cover abatements, are required to be added to the next tax levy. It is generally understood that revenue deficits, i.e.
those resulting from non-property tax revenues being less than anticipated, are also required to be added to the tax levy (at
least to the extent not covered by surplus revenue).

Amounts lawfully expended since the prior tax levy and not included therein are also required to be included in the annual
tax levy. The circumstances under which this can arise are limited since municipal departments are generally prohibited
from incurring liabilities in excess of appropriations except for major disasters, mandated items, contracts in aid of housing
and renewal projects and other long-term contracts. In addition, utilities must be paid at established rates and certain
established salaries, e.g. civil service, must legally be paid for work actually performed, whether or not covered by
appropriations.

Cities and towns are authorized to appropriate sums, and thus to levy taxes, to cover deficits arising from other causes,
such as “free cash” deficits arising from a failure to collect taxes. This is not generally understood, however, and it has not
been the practice to levy taxes to cover free cash deficits. Except to the extent that such deficits have been reduced or
eliminated by subsequent collections of uncollected taxes (including sales of tax titles and tax possessions), lapsed
appropriations, non-property tax revenues in excess of estimates, other miscellaneous items or funding loans authorized
by special act, they remain in existence.

Tax Limitations

Chapter 59, Section 21C of the General Laws, also known as Proposition 2%, imposes two separate limits on the annual
tax levy of a city or town.

The primary limitation is that the tax levy cannot exceed 2¥2 percent of the full and fair cash value. If a city or town exceeds
the primary limitation, it must reduce its tax levy by at least 15 percent annually until it is in compliance, provided that the
reduction can be reduced in any year to not less than 7% percent by majority vote of the voters, or to less than 7Yz percent
by two-thirds vote of the voters.

For cities and towns at or below the primary limit, a secondary limitation is that the tax levy cannot exceed the maximum
levy limit for the preceding fiscal year as determined by the State Commissioner of Revenue by more than 2% percent,
subject to exceptions for property added to the tax rolls or property which has had an increase, other than as part of a
general revaluation, in its assessed valuation over the prior year's valuation.

This “growth” limit on the tax levy may be exceeded in any year by a majority vote of the voters, but an increase in the
secondary or growth limit under this procedure does not permit a tax levy in excess of the primary limitation, since the two
limitations apply independently. In addition, if the voters vote to approve taxes in excess of the “growth” limit for the
purpose of funding a stabilization fund, such increased amount may only be taken into account for purposes of calculating

16



the maximum levy limit in each subsequent year if the board of selectmen of a town or the city council of a city votes by a
two-thirds vote to appropriate such increased amount in such subsequent year to the stabilization fund.

The applicable tax limits may also be reduced in any year by a majority vote of the voters.

The State Commissioner of Revenue may adjust any tax limit “to counterbalance the effects of extraordinary, non-recurring
events which occurred during the base year”.

The statute further provides that the voters may exclude from the taxes subject to the tax limits and from the calculation of
the maximum tax levy (a) the amount required to pay debt service on bonds and notes issued before November 4, 1980, if
the exclusion is approved by a majority vote of the voters, and (b) the amount required to pay debt service on any specific
subsequent issue for which similar approval is obtained. Even with voter approval, the holders of the obligations for which
unlimited taxes may be assessed do not have a statutory priority or security interest in the portion of the tax levy
attributable to such obligations. It should be noted that Massachusetts General Laws Chapter 44, Section 20 requires that
the taxes excluded from the levy limit to pay debt service on any such bonds and notes be calculated based on the true
interest cost of the issue. Accordingly, the Department of Revenue limits the amount of taxes which may be levied in each
year to pay debt service on any such bonds and notes to the amount of such debt service, less a pro rata portion of any
original issue premium received by the city or town that was not applied to pay costs of issuance.

Voters may also exclude from the Proposition 2% limits the amount required to pay specified capital outlay expenditures or
for the city or town’s apportioned share for certain capital outlay expenditures by a regional governmental unit. In addition,
the city council of a city, with the approval of the mayor if required, or the board of selectmen or the town council of a town
may vote to exclude from the Proposition 2% limits taxes raised in lieu of sewer or water charges to pay debt service on
bonds or notes issued by the municipality (or by an independent authority, commission or district) for water or sewer
purposes, provided that the municipality’s sewer or water charges are reduced accordingly.

In addition, Proposition 2% limits the annual increase in the total assessments on cities and towns by any county, district,
authority, the Commonwealth or any other governmental entity (except regional school districts, the MWRA and certain
districts for which special legislation provides otherwise) to the sum of (a) 2% percent of the prior year's assessments and
(b) “any increases in costs, charges or fees for services customarily provided locally or for services subscribed to at local
option”. Regional water districts, regional sewerage districts and regional veterans districts may exceed these limitations
under statutory procedures requiring a two-thirds vote of the district's governing body and either approval of the local
appropriating authorities (by two-thirds vote in districts with more than two members or by majority vote in two-member
districts) or approval of the registered voters in a local election (in the case of two-member districts). Under Proposition 2%2
any State law to take effect on or after January 1, 1981 imposing a direct service or cost obligation on a city or town will
become effective only if accepted or voluntarily funded by the city or town or if State funding is provided. Similarly, State
rules or regulations imposing additional costs on a city or town or laws granting or increasing local tax exemptions are to
take effect only if adequate State appropriations are provided. These statutory provisions do not apply to costs resulting
from judicial decisions.

The Town of Hanover has been in full compliance with Proposition 2 1/2 since its inception.

The Town has passed three operating overrides for $642,126, $1,050,000 and $1,230,199 on May 7, 1988, May 12,
1990 and May 10, 1999 respectively. The Town has passed debt exclusions for $3,280,000 for the construction of a
new Police Station, $3,823,428 for a new Town library and $14,850,000 for the reconstruction of three schools. On
May 20, 2000 the Town excluded $1,380,000 for two land acquisitions authorizations, and on May 10, 2008, the Town
voted to exempt debt service on a senior center construction project ($3,940,000). In addition, in 2009 the Town
passed a debt exclusion for a new high school for $59,484,384 and in 2011 a debt exclusion of $8,500,000 for roads
was approved.
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Unused Levy Capacity (1)

The table below presents the Town's primary levy limits, its maximum levy limits, and its actual tax levies for the
following fiscal years.

Calendar Year Average

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Primary Levy Limit (2) $ 63,656,132 $ 60,924,250 $ 59,242,837 $ 56,386,108 $ 57,264,187
Prior Fiscal Year Levy Limit 36,980,861 35,747,973 34,450,915 33,158,341 31,914,258
2.5% Levy Growth 924,522 893,699 861,273 828,959 797,856
New Growth (3) 255,920 339,189 435,785 463,615 446,227
Overrides - - - -
Growth Levy Limit 38,161,303 36,980,861 35,747,973 34,450,915 33,158,341
Debt Exclusions 4,235,786 4,577,190 3,522,772 3,523,614 2,975,508
Capital Expenditure Exclusions - - - - -
Other Adjustments - - - - -
Tax Levy Limit 42,397,089 41,558,051 39,270,745 37,974,529 36,133,849
Tax Levy 42,395,351 41,505,402 38,674,362 36,955,968 35,999,410
Unused Levy Capacity (4) 1,738 52,649 596,383 1,018,561 134,439

Unused Primary Levy Capacity (5) $ 25,494,829 $ 23,943,389 $ 23,494,864 $ 21935193 $ 24,105,846

(1) Source: Massachusetts Department of Revenue.

(2) 2.5% of assessed valuation.

(3) Allowed increase for new valuations (or required reduction) - certified by the Department of Revenue.
(4) Tax Levy Limit less Tax Levy.

Pledged Taxes

Taxes on the increased value of certain property in designated development districts may be pledged for the payment
of costs of economic development projects within such districts and may therefore be unavailable for other municipal
purposes. The Town has no such Districts.

Initiative Petitions

Various proposals have been made in recent years for legislative amendments to the Massachusetts Constitution to
impose limits on state and local taxes. To be adopted, such amendments must be approved by two successive
legislatures and then by the voters at a state election.

Community Preservation Act

The Massachusetts Community Preservation Act (the “CPA”) permits cities and towns that accept its provisions to levy
a surcharge on its real property tax levy, dedicate revenue (other than state or federal funds), and to receive state
matching funds for (i) the acquisition, creation, preservation, rehabilitation and restoration of land for recreational use,
open space, and affordable housing and (ii) the acquisition, preservation, rehabilitation and restoration of historic
resources. The provisions of the CPA must be accepted by the voters of the city or town at an election after such
provisions have first been accepted by either a vote of the legislative body of the city or town or an initiative petition
signed by 5% of its registered voters.

A city or town may approve a surcharge of up to 3% (but not less than 1% under certain circumstances) and may
make an additional commitment of funds by dedicating revenue other than state or federal funds, provided that the
total funds collected do no exceed 3% of the real property tax levy, less any exemptions adopted (such as an
exemption for low-income individuals and families and for low and moderate-income senior citizens, an exemption for
$100,000 of the value of each taxable parcel of residential real property or $100,000 of the value of each taxable
parcel of class three, commercial property, and class four, industrial property as defined in Chapter 59, Section 2A of
the General Laws, and an exemption for commercial and industrial properties in cities and towns with classified tax
rates). In the event that the municipality shall no longer dedicate all or part of the additional funds to community
preservation, the surcharge on the real property tax levy of not less than 1% shall remain in effect, provided that any
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such change must be approved pursuant to the same process as acceptance of the CPA. The surcharge is not
counted in the total taxes assessed for the purpose of determining the permitted levy amount under Proposition 2%
(see “Tax Limitations” under “PROPERT TAXATION” above). A city or town may revoke its acceptance of the
provisions of the CPA at any time after 5 years from the date of such acceptance and may change the amount of the
surcharge or the exemptions to the surcharge at any time, including reducing the surcharge to 1% and committing
additional municipal funds as outlined above, provided that any such revocation or change must be approved pursuant
to the same process as acceptance of the CPA.

Any city or town that accepts the provisions of the CPA will receive annual state matching grants to supplement
amounts raised by its surcharge and dedication of revenue. The state matching funds are raised from certain
recording and filing fees of the registers of deeds. Those amounts are deposited into a state trust fund and are
distributed to cities and towns that have accepted the provisions of the CPA, which distributions are not subject to
annual appropriation by the state legislature. The amount distributed to each city and town is based on a statutory
formula and the total state distribution made to any city or town may not exceed 100% of the amount raised locally by
the surcharge on the real property tax levy.

The amounts raised by the surcharge on taxes, the dedication of revenue and received in state matching funds are
required to be deposited in a dedicated community preservation fund. Each city or town that accepts the provisions of
the CPA is required to establish a community preservation committee to study the community preservation needs of
the community and to make recommendations to the legislative body of the city or town regarding the community
preservation projects that should be funded from the community preservation fund. Upon the recommendations of the
committee, the legislative body of the city or town may appropriate amounts from the fund for permitted community
preservation purposes or may reserve amounts for spending in future fiscal years, provided that at least 10% of the
total annual revenues to the fund must be spent or set aside for open space purposes, 10% for historic resource
purposes and 10% for affordable housing purposes.

The CPA authorizes cities and towns that accept its provisions to issue bonds and notes in anticipation of the receipt of
surcharge and dedicated revenues to finance community preservation projects approved under the provisions of the
CPA. Bonds and notes issued under the CPA are general obligations of the city or town and are payable from
amounts on deposit in the community preservation fund. In the event that a city or town revokes its acceptance of the
provisions of the CPA, the surcharge shall remain in effect until all contractual obligations incurred by the city or town
prior to such revocation, including the payment of bonds or notes issued under the CPA, have been fully discharged.

The Town accepted the Act in November 2004 and set the rate at 3% minus certain exemptions. The Town
implemented the program in fiscal 2006 and has revenues as shown below. The CPA Fund Balance as of June 30,
2016 was $3,388,213.

Community Preservation Fund Revenues

Fiscal Year Property Tax State Contribution Total
2016 $ 952,314 $ 318,073 $ 1,270,387
2015 881,623 320,797 1,202,420
2014 828,061 521,682 1,349,743
2013 813,234 251,709 1,064,943
2012 775,278 238,535 1,013,813
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TOWN FINANCES

Budget and Appropriation Process

Town Meeting: The annual appropriations of the Town are ordinarily made at the annual meeting which usually takes
place in May. Appropriations may also be voted at special meetings. The Town has a finance committee which
submits reports and recommendations on proposed expenditures at Town Meetings. Any item which proposes the
appropriation of funds at a special town meeting can be voted only if the appropriation is approved by the Finance
Committee. The school budget is limited to the amount appropriated by the Town Meeting, but the school committee
retains full power to allocate the funds appropriated.

Mandatory Items: Mandatory items, such as state and county assessments, the overlay for abatements, abatements
in excess of overlays, principal and interest not otherwise provided for and final judgments are included in the tax levy
whether or not included in the appropriations voted at town meeting.

Enterprises: In fiscal 1993, the Town converted its Water Department operations from a Special Revenue Fund to an
Enterprise fund. It is fully self-supporting, including all direct and indirect expenses.

Revenues: Revenues are not required to be set forth in the budget but estimated non-tax revenues are taken into
account by the assessors in fixing the tax levy. (See "PROPERTY TAXATION--Tax Levy Computation".)

Operating Budget Trends
The following table sets forth the operating budgets for fiscal years 2014 through 2018 as voted by the Annual Town
Meetings. Said budgets exclude Mandatory Items (see above) and expenditures for "non-operating" or extraordinary

items authorized under "separate" warrant articles.

BUDGET COMPARISON

Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2015 Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2017 Fiscal 2018
General Government $1,404,732 $1,129,510 $1,118,635 $1,314,130 $1,310,244
Public Safety 5,882,893 6,111,530 6,300,486 6,511,517 6,842,436
Schools 23,410,430 24,811,838 25,662,155 26,490,521 27,962,919
Public Works(1) 9,112,907 6,240,044 6,539,121 6,651,003 6,648,154
Community Services (2) 1,547,735 1,585,981 1,686,329 1,908,061 1,886,151
Debt & Interest 5,199,087 5,173,314 5,872,705 5,474,530 5,013,619
Unclassified(3) 6,910,694 6,987,339 7,274,455 7,723,909 7,970,189
Total Expenditures $53,468,478 $52,039,556 $54,453,886 $56,073,671 $57,633,712

(1) Includes transfer station and water department operations & related debt service.
(2) Includes library and council on aging.
(3) Includes insurance and other employee benefits.

Revenues

Property Taxes: Property taxes are a major source of revenue for the Town. The total amount levied is subject to
certain limits prescribed by law; for a description of those limits see "PROPERTY TAXATION--Tax Limitations" above.

State Aid Distributions: In addition to grants for specified capital purposes (some of which are payable over the life of the
bonds issued for the projects), the Commonwealth provides financial assistance to cities and towns for current purposes.
Payments to cities and towns are derived primarily from a percentage of the State’s personal income, sales and use, and
corporate excise tax receipts, together with the net receipts from the State Lottery. A municipality’s state aid entitlement is
based on a number of different formulas, of which the “schools” and “lottery” formulas are the most important. Both of the
major formulas tend to provide more state aid to poorer communities. The formulas for determining a municipality’s state
aid entittement are subject to amendment by the state legislature and, while a formula might indicate that a particular
amount of state aid is owed, the amount of state aid actually paid is limited to the amount appropriated by the state
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legislature. The state annually estimates state aid, but the actual state aid payments may vary from the estimate. In fiscal
2012 state aid in the General Fund totaled $7,968,446. In fiscal 2013 state aid in the General Fund totaled
$9,271,455. In fiscal 2014 state aid in the General Fund totaled $9,433,441. In fiscal 2014 state aid in the General
Fund totaled $9,567,235. In fiscal 2016 state aid in the General Fund totaled $9,705,723. In fiscal 2017 state aid in the
General Fund is expected to total $9,943,121.

In the fall of 1986, both the State Legislature (by statute, repealed as of July 1, 1999) and the voters (by initiative petition)
placed limits on the growth of state tax revenues. Although somewhat different in detail, each measure essentially limited
the annual growth in state tax revenues to an average rate of growth in wages and salaries in the Commonwealth over the
three previous calendar years. If not amended, the remaining law could restrict the amount of state revenues available for
state aid to local communities.

State School Building Assistance Program: Under its school building assistance program, the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts provides grants to cities, towns and regional school districts for school construction projects. Until July
26, 2004, the State Board of Education was responsible for approving grants for school projects and otherwise
administering the program. Grant amounts ranged from 50% to 90% of approved project costs. Municipalities
generally issued bonds to finance the entire project cost, and the Commonwealth disbursed the grants in equal annual
installments over the term of the related bonds.

Pursuant to legislation which became effective on July 26, 2004, the state legislature created the Massachusetts
School Building Authority (the “Authority”) to finance and administer the school building assistance program. The
Authority has assumed all powers and obligations of the Board of Education with respect to the program. In addition to
certain other amounts, the legislation dedicates a portion of Commonwealth sales tax receipts to the Authority to
finance the program.

Projects previously approved for grants by the State Board of Education are entitled to receive grant payments from
the Authority based on the approved project cost and reimbursement rate applicable under the prior law. The Authority
has paid and is expected to continue to pay the remaining amounts of the grants for such projects either in annual
installments to reimburse debt service on bonds issued by the municipalities to finance such projects, or as lump sum
payments to contribute to the defeasance of such bonds.

Projects on the priority waiting list as of July 1, 2004 are also entitled to receive grant payments from the Authority
based on the eligible project costs and reimbursement rates applicable under the prior law. With limited exceptions,
the Authority is required to fund the grants for such projects in the order in which they appear on the waiting list.
Grants for any such projects that have been completed or substantially completed have been paid and are expected to
continue to be paid by the Authority in lump sum payments, thereby eliminating the need for the Authority to reimburse
interest expenses that would otherwise be incurred by the municipalities to permanently finance the Authority’s share
of such project costs. Interest on debt issued by municipalities prior to July 1, 2004 to finance such project costs, and
interest on temporary debt until receipt of the grant, is included in the approved costs of such projects. Grants for any
such projects that have not yet commenced or that are underway have been and are expected to continue to be paid
by the Authority as project costs are incurred by the municipality pursuant to a project funding agreement between the
Authority and the municipality, eliminating the need for the municipality to borrow even on a temporary basis to finance
the Authority’s share of the project costs in most cases.

The range of reimbursement rates for new project grant applications submitted to the Authority on or after July 1, 2007
has been reduced to between 40% and 80% of approved project costs. The Authority promulgated new regulations
with respect to the application and approval process for projects submitted after July 1, 2007. The Authority expects to
pay grants for such projects as project costs are incurred pursuant to project funding agreements between the
Authority and the municipalities. None of the interest expense incurred on debt issued by municipalities to finance
their portion of the costs of new projects will be included in the approved project costs eligible for reimbursement.

Motor Vehicle Excise: An excise is imposed on the registration of motor vehicles (subject to exemptions) at the rate of
$25 per $1,000 of valuation. The excise is collected by and for the benefit of the municipality in which the motor
vehicle is customarily kept. Valuations are determined by a statutory formula based on manufacturer's list price and
year of manufacture. Bills not paid when due bear interest at 12 per cent per annum. Provision is also made, after
notice of the owner, for suspension of the owner’s operating license or registration by the registrar of motor vehicles.
In fiscal 2016, motor vehicle excise tax receipts in the General Fund totaled $2,298,640.

Water: Services are provided by the Department of Public Works of the Town of Hanover. It is the policy of the Town
to have water revenues cover all direct operating costs, debt service and indirect costs of the Water Department.
Beginning in fiscal year 1995, all water revenues and expenditures have been accounted for on an enterprise fund
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basis with rates set to fully cover all related costs. Water rates were last increased in fiscal 2016. There is a minimum
charge per quarter, which depends on the size of the water meter at the service location, ranges from $38.00 to
$632.88 and a usage charge per quarter ranges from $2.80 to $11.07 per hundred cubic feet.

The Water Department's revenues and expenditures for fiscal years 2012 through 2016 are as follows:

Fiscal Year Revenues Expenditures
2016 $ 3,473,962 $ 3,605,210
2015 3,627,883 3,261,406
2014 3,388,299 2,911,305
2013 3,202,723 3,128,005
2012 3,248,547 2,921,432

Local Option Meals Tax: On May 7, 2012, the Town adopted the local meals excise tax to be effective July 1, 2012.
The local meals excise tax is a 0.75% tax on the gross receipts of a vendor from the sale of restaurant meals. The tax
is paid by the vendor to the State Commissioner of Revenue, who in turn pays the tax to the municipality in which the
meal was sold. In fiscal 2016, the total revenue generated from this tax totaled $339,341, which is deposited into the
OPEB Trust Fund.

Other: Other major general fund sources of revenue in fiscal 2016 include licenses and permits $677,915,
departmental revenues $355,819 and fines $122,453.

Investment of Town Funds

All funds of the Town, except for trust funds and funds of the Plymouth County Retirement System are invested in
accordance with Section 55 of Chapter 44 of the Massachusetts General Laws (MGL). That statute permits
investment of available funds and bond and note proceeds, in term deposits and Certificates of Deposit of banks and
trust companies, in obligations issued or unconditionally guaranteed by the federal government and an agency thereof
with a maturity of one year or less, in repurchase agreements secured by federal or federal agency securities with a
maturity of 90 days or less, in participation units in the Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust (MMDT), or in
shares in SEC-registered money market funds with the highest possible rating from at least one nationally recognized
rating organization.

MMDT is an investment pool created by the Commonwealth. The State Treasurer is the sole trustee, and the funds are
managed under contract by an investment firm under the supervision of the State Treasurer’s office. According to the
State Treasurer the Trust's investment policy is designed to maintain an average weighted maturity of 90 days or less and
is limited to high-quality, readily marketable fixed income instruments, including U.S. Government obligations and highly-
rated corporate securities with maturities of one year or less.

Trust funds, unless otherwise provided by the donor, may be invested in accordance with Section 54 of Chapter 44 of
the MGL, which permits a broader range of investments than Section 55, including any bonds or notes that are legal
investments for savings banks in the Commonwealth. The restrictions imposed by Sections 54 and 55 do not apply to
Town and town retirement systems.

Breakdown of the above investments may be obtained from the Town Treasurer. Pension funds are under the
jurisdiction of the Plymouth County Retirement System. Investments and the retirement system are discussed in
Appendix A.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

See audited financial statements attached as Appendix A.
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Audits

The Town’s most recent annual audits have been performed by Melanson Heath, Public Accountants. A copy of the
fiscal 2016 audit is attached here to as Appendix A.

The attached report speaks only as of its date, and only to the matters expressly set forth therein. The auditors have
not been engaged to review this Official Statement or to perform audit procedures regarding the post-audit period, nor
have the auditors been requested to give their consent to the inclusion of the report in Appendix A. The auditors have
not been engaged to verify the financial information set out in Appendix A and are not passing upon and do not
assume responsibility for the sufficiency, accuracy or completeness of the financial information presented in that
appendix.

Financial Statements
Set forth on the following pages are Governmental Funds Balance Sheets for fiscal years 2016, 2015 and 2014 and

Statements of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance for fiscal year 2016 through 2012. Said
statements were extracted from the Town’s audited financials.
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ASSETS
Cash and short term investments
Investments
Receivables:

Property taxes

Excises

Departmental and other
Due from other funds
Due from other governments
Other assets
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Warrants payable
Due to other funds
Tax refunds payable
Notes payable
Other liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES

DEFERED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned
TOTAL FUND BALANCES
TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS
OFRESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES

TOWN OF HANOVER
BALANCE SHEET

AS OF JUNE 30, 2016 (1)

Community Nonmajor

School Capital Preservation Ambulance Governmental Total Governmental

General Fund Project Fund Act Fund Fund Funds Funds
$ 896,555 $ 1,373,355 $ 3403505 $ 1,735924 $ 3569383 $ 10,978,722
12,027,081 - - - 690,384 12,717,465
1,313,492 - - - - 1,313,492
296,530 - - - 701 297,231
- - 11,229 1,266,452 80,000 1,357,681
30,000 - - - - 30,000
- - - - 1,317,670 1,317,670
- - - - 197,870 197,870
$ 14,563,658 $ 1,373,355 $ 3,414,734 $ 3,002,376 $ 5856008 $ 28,210,131
$ 731,805 $ 128 % 15291 $ - $ 137,232 $ 884,456
- - - - 30,000 30,000
40,650 - - - - 40,650
- 475,059 - - 919,100 1,394,159
1,074,529 - - - - 1,074,529
1,846,984 475,187 15,291 - 1,086,332 3,423,794
1,526,483 - 11,227 1,266,452 198,571 3,002,733
- - - - 166,460 166,460
1,562,764 1,302,435 - 1,735,924 5,621,839 10,222,962
2,393,270 - 3,388,216 - - 5,781,486
1,842,685 - - - - 1,842,685
5,391,472 (404,267) - - (1,217,194) 3,770,011
11,190,191 898,168 3,388,216 1,735,924 4,571,105 21,783,604
$ 14563658 $ 1,373,355 $ 3414734 $ 3,002,376 $ 5856008 % 28,210,131

(1) Extracted from the audited financial statements of the Town.



ASSETS
Cash and short term investments
Investments
Receivables:
Property taxes
Excises
Departmental and other
Due from other governments
Other assets
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Warrants payable
Accrued liabilities
Tax refunds payable
Notes payable
Other liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES

DEFERED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned

TOTAL FUND BALANCES

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS

OFRESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES

TOWN OF HANOVER
BALANCE SHEET

AS OF JUNE 30, 2015 (1)

High School Community Nonmajor

Total General Capital Project Preservation Ambulance Governmental Total Governmental

Fund Fund Act Fund Fund Funds Funds
$ 2,051,986 $ 2,766,000 $ 2,935227 $ 1,791,339 $ 5,148,260 $ 14,692,812
10,978,993 - - - 656,519 11,635,512
1,270,126 - - - - 1,270,126
176,616 - - - 580 177,196
- - 13,678 121,700 - 135,378
- - - - 304,372 304,372
- - - - 171,866 171,866
$ 14,477,721 % 2,766,000 $ 2,948905 $ 1,913,039 $ 6,281,597 $ 28,387,262
$ 1395287 % - $ 11,897  $ - $ 106,718  $ 1,513,902
10,043 - - - - 10,043
30,000 - - - - 30,000
- 1,476,698 - - 826,757 2,303,455
382,650 - - - - 382,650
1,817,980 1,476,698 11,897 - 933,475 4,240,050
1,318,329 - 13,675 1,121,700 172,446 2,626,150
- - - - 166,460 166,460
2,108,983 1,289,302 - 1,791,339 6,954,331 12,143,955
1,897,432 - 2,923,333 - - 4,820,765
2,534,417 - - - - 2,534,417
4,800,580 - - - (1,945,115) 2,855,465
11,341,412 1,289,302 2,923,333 1,791,339 5,175,676 22,521,062
$ 14,477,721 % 2,766,000 $ 2,948905 $ 2,913,039 3 6,281,597 $ 29,387,262

(1) Extracted from the audited financial statements of the Town.
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ASSETS
Cash and short term investments
Investments
Receivables:

Property taxes

Excises

Departmental and other
Due from other governments
Other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES
Warrants payable
Tax refunds payable
Notes payable
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned
Total fund balances
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of

resources and fund balances

Town of Hanover, Massachusetts
Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds
June 30, 2014 (1)

High School Road Nonmajor Total
General Capital Project Reconstruction Governmental ~ Governmental

Fund Fund Fund Funds Funds
$ 1,464,050 $ 1,565,310 $ 2,874,050 $ 8,652,262 $ 14,555,672
10,571,073 - 630,756 11,201,829
1,159,081 - - 1,159,081
222,579 - 827 223,406
- - 1,089,658 1,089,658
376,700 84,995 461,695
- - - 171,866 171,866
$ 13,416,783 $ 1,942,010 $ 2,874,050 $ 10,630,364 $ 28,863,207
$ 1,320,003 $ - $ $ 376,991 $ 1,953,746
168,012 - - - 168,012
- 8,500,000 4,785,000 300,000 13,585,000
462,225 - - - 462,225
1,950,240 8,500,000 5,041,752 676,991 16,168,983
1,222,321 376,700 1,182,351 2,781,372
- - 166,460 166,460
1,012,883 - 6,400,726 7,413,609
1,644,146 - 2,420,105 4,064,251
1,625,561 - - - 1,625,561
5,961,632 (6,934,690) (2,167,702) (216,269) (3,357,029)
10,244,222 (6,934,690) (2,167,702) 8,771,022 9,912,852
$ 13,416,783 $ 1,942,010 $ 2,874,050 $ 10,630,364 $ 28,863,207

(2) Extracted from the audited financial statements. 26



TOWN OF HANOVER, MASSACHUSETTS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

AS OF JUNE 30, 2016 (1)

Community Nonmajor Total
School Capital Preservation Ambulance Governmental Governmental
General Fund Project Fund Act Fund Fund Funds Funds
REVENUES
Property taxes $ 41,291,327 % - $ - $ - $ 952,314 $ 42,243,641
Excises 2,595,258 - - - 22,660 2,617,918
Penalties, interest, and other taxes 524,727 - - - 80 524,807
Charges for services 354,995 - 952,314 994,880 1,923,302 4,225,491
Licenses and permits 677,916 - - - - 677,916
Fines and forfeitures 117,238 - - - - 117,238
Intergovernmental 9,724,996 24,941 318,073 - 2,849,406 12,917,416
Investment income 148,360 - - - 34,881 183,241
Miscellaneous 105,833 - - - 716,664 822,497
TOTAL REVENUES $ 55,540,650 $ 24941 $ 1,270,387 $ 994,880 $ 6,499,307 $ 64,330,165
EXPENDITURES
Current:
General government $ 2623130 $ - $ 249254 % - $ 250,485 % 3,122,869
Public safety 7,569,678 - - - 339,576 7,909,254
Education 29,080,773 416,075 - - 4,322,886 33,819,734
Public works 2,785,922 - - - 1,918,471 4,704,393
Health and Human services 504,840 - - - 185,401 690,241
Culture and recreation 623,607 - - - 307,394 931,001
Employee benefits 6,768,667 - - - - 6,768,667
Miscellaneous 80,813 - - - 130,206 211,019
Debt Senvice 5,990,944 - 456,250 - - 6,447,194
Intergovernmental 583,791 - - - - 583,791
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 56,612,165 416,075 705,504 - 7,454,419 65,188,163
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES OVER
EXPENDITURES (1,071,515) (391,134) 564,883 994,880 (955,112) (857,998)
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 1,235,144 - - - 375,000 1,610,144
Transfers out (344,850) - (100,000) (1,050,295) (184,849) (1,679,994)
TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 890,294 - (100,000) (1,050,295) 190,151 (69,850)
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES (181,221) (391,134) 464,883 (55,415) (764,961) (927,848)
FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING OF YEAR 11,371,412 1,289,302 2,923,333 1,791,339 5,336,066 22,711,452
FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR $ 11,190,191  $ 898,168 $ 3388216 $ 1735924 $ 4571,105 $ 21,783,604

(1) Extracted from the audited financial statements of the Town.
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REVENUES
Property taxes
Excises

Penalties, interest, and other taxes
Charges for services
Licenses and permits
Fines and forfeitures
Intergovernmental
Investment income
Miscellaneous
TOTAL REVENUES

EXPENDITURES
Current:
General government
Public safety
Education
Public works
Health and Human services
Culture and recreation
Employee benefits
Miscellaneous
Debt Service
Intergovernmental
TOTAL EXPENDITURES

TOWN OF HANOVER, MASSACHUSETTS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

AS OF JUNE 30, 2015 (1)

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES OVER

EXPENDITURES

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Proceeds of bonds
Transfers in
Transfers out

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES
FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING OF YEAR
FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR

High School Community Nonmajor Total
Total General ~ Capital Project ~ Preservation Ambulance Governmental Governmental
Fund Fund Act Fund Fund Funds Funds

$ 38,436,058 $ - $ 881,253 $ - $ - 39,317,311
2,514,965 - - - 983 2,515,948
525,763 - - - 300 526,063
332,886 - - 1,049,010 2,711,955 4,093,851
439,668 - - - - 439,668
107,736 - - - - 107,736
9,560,285 2,212,125 320,797 - 2,043,686 14,136,893
54,469 - 370 - 27,264 82,103
1,323,375 - - - 641,135 1,964,510

$ 53295205 $ 2,212,125 $ 1,202,420 $ 1,049,010 $ 5,425,323 63,184,083
$ 2,463,524 $ - $ 132817 % - $ 473,860 3,070,201
7,118,173 - - - 600,263 7,718,436
27,535,974 13,133 - - 3,441,188 30,990,295
3,309,518 - - - 2,746,526 6,056,044
469,794 - - - 114,904 584,698
616,719 - - - 288,753 905,472
6,569,343 - - - - 6,569,343
5,064 - - - 281,777 286,841
5,091,245 - - - 5,091,245
516,615 - - - - 516,615
53,695,969 13,133 132,817 - 7,947,271 61,789,190
(400,764) 2,198,992 1,069,603 1,049,010 (2,521,948) 1,394,893
- 6,025,000 - - 4,785,000 10,810,000
1,707,954 - - - 310,000 2,017,954
(210,000) - (566,375) (675,095) (174,894) (1,626,364)
1,497,954 6,025,000 (566,375) (675,095) 4,920,106 11,201,590
1,097,190 8,223,992 503,228 373,915 2,398,158 12,596,483
10,244,222 (6,934,690) 2,420,105 1,417,424 2,777,518 9,924,579
$ 11341412 $ 1,289,302 $ 2923333 $ 1,791,339 $ 5175676 22,521,062

(1) Extracted from the audited financial statements of the Town.
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REVENUES:
Property Taxes
Excises
Penalities, interest and other taxes
Charges for services
Licenses and Permits
Fines and Forfeitures
Intergovernmental
Investment Income
Miscellaneous
Total Revenues
EXPENDITURES:
General Government
Public Safety
Education
Public Works
Health and Human Services
Culture and Recreation
Employee Benefits
Miscellaneous
Debt Service
Intergovernmental
Total Expenditures

Excess Revenues Over (Under)
Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Operating Transfers in
Operating Transfers (out)

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Change in Fund Balance
Fund Equity, at Beginning of Year
Fund Equity, at End of Year

TOWN OF HANOVER, MASSACHUSETTS
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and
Changes in Fund Balances (1)

As of June 30, 2014

Road Nonmajor Total
High School ~ Reconstruction ~ Governmental ~ Governmental

General Capital Project Fund Funds Funds
$ 36,546,943 $ $ $ 835860 $ 37,382,803
2,332,894 49,744 2,382,638
528,070 200 528,270
355,789 3,169,444 3,525,233
428,227 - 428,227
105,400 - - 105,400
15,452,085 813,302 1,906,237 18,171,624
78,104 - 105,757 183,861
178,381 - 698,995 877,376
$ 56,005893 $ 813302 $ $ 6,766,237 $ 63,585,432
2,228,294 728,823 2,957,117
6,944,939 - 157,711 7,102,650
32,226,667 35,760 3,595,055 35,857,482
3,340,614 2,073,860 264,086 5,678,560
474,588 - 211,030 685,618
586,009 920,022 1,506,031
6,148,562 - 6,148,562
- 185,590 185,590
5,109,564 - 5,109,564
547,609 - - - 547,609
57,606,846 35,760 2,073,860 6,062,317 65,778,783
(1,600,953) 777,542 (2,073,860) 703,920 (2,193,351)
1,645,772 536,540 2,182,312
(426,540 (1,397,033 (1,823,573)
1,219,232 (860,493) 358,739
(381,721) 777,542 (2,073,860) (156,573) (1,834,612
10,625,943 (7,712,232) (93,842) 8,927,595 20,675,049
$ 10,244,222 $ (6,934,690) $ (2,167,702) $ 8,771,022 $ 9,912,852

(1) Extracted from the audited financial statements of the Town.
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TOWN OF HANOVER, MASSACHUSETTS
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and
Changes in Fund Balances (1)

As of June 30, 2013

Community Nonmajor Total
High School ~ Preservation ~ Governmental ~ Governmental
General Capital Project Fund Funds Funds
REVENUES:
Property Taxes $ 35715668 $ - $ $ 814064 $ 36,529,732
Excises 1,931,864 - 7,161 1,939,025
Penalities, interest and other taxes 212,360 - - - 212,360
Charges for services 359,428 - 814,064 2,203,744 3,377,236
Licenses and Permits 604,666 - - - 604,666
Fines and Forfeitures 100,723 - - 378 101,101
Intergovernmental 15,121,429 - 251,709 1,252,370 16,625,508
Investment Income 23,253 - - 81,371 104,624
Miscellaneous 162,610 - 1,702 272,059 436,371
Contributions 257,667 - - 359,388 617,055
Total Revenues $ 54,489,668 $ - $ 1067475 $ 4990535 $ 60,547,678
EXPENDITURES:
General Government 2,637,049 - 293,607 112,347 3,043,003
Public Safety 6,429,874 - - 120,124 6,549,998
Education 29,972,779 655,551 3,354,713 33,983,043
Public Works 2,753,190 - 1,801,804 4,554,994
Health and Human Services 406,130 70,673 476,803
Culture and Recreation 538,331 311,114 849,445
Employee Benefits 6,373,695 - 6,373,695
Miscellaneous 11,887 5,070 16,957
Debt Service 5,187,850 - 5,187,850
Intergovernmental 529,169 - - - 529,169
Total Expenditures 54,839,954 655,551 293,607 5,775,845 61,564,957
Excess Revenues Over (Under)
Expenditures (350,286) (655,551) 773,868 (785,310) (1,017,279)
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Operating Transfers in 1,713,132 - - 1,291,168 3,004,300
Operating Transfers (out) (1,116,109) - (779,193) (833,125) (2,728,427)
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 597,023 - (779,193) 458,043 275,873
Change in Fund Balance 246,737 (655,551) (5,325) (327,267) (741,406)
Fund Equity, at Beginning of Year 10,379,205 (7,056,681) 2,947,612 6,218,733 12,488,869
Fund Equity, at End of Year $ 10625942 $ (7,712,232) $ 2,942,287 $ 5891466 $ 11,747,463

(1) Extracted from the audited financial statements of the Town.
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REVENUES:
Property Taxes
Excises
Penalities, interest and other taxes
Charges for services
Licenses and Permits
Fines and Forfeitures
Intergovernmental
Investment Income
Miscellaneous
Contributions
Total Revenues
EXPENDITURES:
General Government
Public Safety
Education
Public Works
Health and Human Services
Culture and Recreation
Employee Benefits
Miscellaneous
Debt Service
Intergovernmental
Total Expenditures
Excess Revenues Over (Under)
Expenditures
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Proceeds of bonds
Operating Transfers in
Operating Transfers (out)
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Change in Fund Balance
Fund Equity, at Beginning of Year
Fund Equity, at End of Year

TOWN OF HANOVER, MASSACHUSETTS

Changes in Fund Balances (1)
As of June 30, 2012

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and

Community Nonmajor Total
High School ~ Preservation ~ Governmental ~ Governmental

General Capital Project Fund Funds Funds
$34,100,431 $ $ $ 770,201 $ 34,879,632
1,876,555 2,881 1,879,436
400,481 - - 400,481
554,032 770,201 2,241,263 3,565,496
499,569 - - 499,569
99,819 - - 872 100,691
14,369,541 1,205,837 238,335 1,248,513 17,062,226
50,032 - - 30,671 80,703
1,084,480 192,273 185,589 1,462,342
- - - 907,799 907,799
$53,043,940 $ 1,205,837 $ 1,200,809 $ 5387,789 $ 60,838,375
1,822,068 351,637 243,343 2,417,048
6,173,178 - - 157,730 6,330,908
29,858,101 9,798,290 3,493,071 43,149,462
2,381,485 - 1,308,110 3,689,595
368,746 - 58,981 427,727
547,425 291,803 263,232 1,102,460
6,180,484 - - 6,180,484
14,936 15,004 29,940
4,287,133 9,075 4,296,208
513,932 - - - 513,932
52,147,488 9,798,290 643,440 5,548,546 68,137,764
896,452 (8,592,453) 557,369 (160,757) (7,299,389)
8,000,000 2,300,000 4,594,075 14,894,075
1,832,790 35,922 580,687 2,449,399
(722,227) (752,868) (1,071,326) (2,546,421)
" 1,110,563 8,000,000 1,583,054 4,103,436 14,797,053
2,007,015 (592,453) 2,140,423 3,942,679 7,497,664
8,372,191 (6,464,228) 807,189 2,260,186 4,975,338
$10,379,206 $ (7,056,681) $ 2,947,612 $ 6,202,865 $ 12,473,002

'(1) Extracted from the audited financial statements of the Town.
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Unassigned General Fund Balances and Free Cash

Under Massachusetts law an amount known as "free cash" is certified as of the beginning of each fiscal year by the
State Bureau of Accounts, and this, together with certain subsequent tax receipts, is used as the basis for subsequent
appropriations from available funds, which are not required to be included in the annual tax levy. Subject to certain
adjustments, free cash is surplus revenue less uncollected and overdue property taxes from prior years.

The following table sets forth the trend in the Town's unassigned general fund balances and free cash:

Unassigned
General Fund Balance Certified Free Cash
for Fiscal Year for Fiscal Year
Year Ending June 30 (1) Beginning July 1
2016 $5,931,472 (2) $2,543,589
2015 4,800,580 (2) 1,734,000
2014 5,961,632 (2) 2,784,497
2013 3,877,738 (2) 2,074,285
2012 3,692,738 (2) 3,049,716

(1) Source: Audited Financial Statements.
(2) Unassigned General Fund Balance. Stabilization funds are not included in “unassigned” fund balance. Stabilization funds are
included in the “committed” classification.

Stabilization Fund

The Town maintains a stabilization fund which is accounted for in the Trust Funds. The stabilization fund plus interest
income may be used for purposes for which the Town can appropriate funds. Following are the balances of the
stabilization fund as of the end of the fiscal years listed below.

Fiscal Stabilization Fund
Year Balance (1)
2017 (Projected) $2,110,480
2016 2,093,950
2015 1,868,785
2014 1,903,554
2013 1,864,218
2012 1,696,776

(1) Stabilization funds are classified under “committed” fund balance and not included in “unassigned” fund balance.

Capital Stabilization Fund

In fiscal 2015, the Town created a Capital Stabilization Fund with an initial deposit of $200,000. The balance of this
fund as of June 30, 2016 was $503,085. The balance projected as of June 30, 2017 is approximately $507,098.

Tax Increment Financing for Development Districts

Under recent legislation, cities and towns are authorized to establish development districts to encourage increased
residential, industrial and commercial activity. All or a portion of the taxes on growth in assessed value in such districts
may be pledged and used solely to finance economic development projects pursuant to the city or town’s development
program for the district. This includes pledging such “tax increments” for the payment of bonds issued to finance such
projects. As a result of any such pledge, tax increments raised from new growth properties in development districts
are not available for other municipal purposes. Tax increments are taken into account in determining the total taxes
assessed for the purpose of calculating the maximum permitted tax levy under Proposition 2 ¥z (see “Property Tax
Limitation” under “PROPERTY TAXATION” above.) The Town has not established any development districts.
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INDEBTEDNESS
Authorization Procedure and Limitations

Bonds and notes are generally authorized on behalf of the Town by vote of two-thirds of all the registered voters
present and voting at an annual or special town meeting. Borrowings for certain purposes require state administrative
approval. Temporary loans in anticipation of current revenues and certain state and county reimbursements are
generally authorized by majority vote but provision is made for temporary loans in anticipation of federal grants and for
other purposes in certain circumstances without town meeting authorization.

The general debt limit of the Town consists of a normal debt limit and a double debt limit. The normal debt limit is 5
per cent of the valuation of taxable property as last equalized by the State Department of Revenue. The Town can
authorize debt up to this amount without State approval. It can authorize debt up to twice this amount (the double debt
limit) with State administrative approval.

There are many categories of general obligation debt which are exempt from and do not count against the general
debt limit. Among others, these exempt categories include revenue anticipation notes and grant anticipation notes,
emergency loans, loans exempted by special laws, certain school bonds and sewer bonds, and subject to special debt
limits, bonds for water (limited to 10 per cent of equalized valuation), housing, and urban renewal and economic
development (limited to 5 1/2 per cent). Industrial revenue bonds generally are not subject to these debt limits. The
general debt limit and water debt limit apply at the time debt is authorized.

Types of Obligations

General Obligations. Massachusetts cities and towns are authorized to issue general obligation indebtedness of these
types:

Serial Bonds and Notes. These are generally required to be payable in annual principal amounts beginning no later than
the end of the next fiscal year commencing after the date of issue and ending within the terms permitted by law. A level
debt service schedule, or a schedule that provides for a more rapid amortization of principal than level debt service, is
permitted. The principal amounts of certain economic development bonds supported by tax increment financing may be
payable in equal, diminishing or increasing amounts beginning within 5 years after the date of issue. The maximum terms
of serial bonds and notes vary from one year to 40 years, depending on the purpose of the issue. The maximum terms
permitted are set forth in the statutes. In addition, for many projects, the maximum term may be determined in accordance
with useful life guidelines promulgated by the State Department of Revenue (‘“DOR”). Serial bonds and notes may be
issued for the purposes set forth in the statutes. In addition, serial bonds and notes may be issued for any other public
work improvement or asset not specifically listed in the Statutes that has a useful life of at least 5 years. Bonds or notes
may be made callable and redeemed prior to their maturity, and a redemption premium may be paid. Refunding bonds or
notes may be issued subject to the maximum applicable term measured from the date of the original bonds or notes and
must produce present value savings over the debt service of the refunded bonds. Generally, the first required annual
payment of principal of the refunding bonds cannot be later than the first principal payment of any of the bonds or notes
being refunded thereby, however, principal payments made before the first principal payment of any of the bonds or notes
being refunded thereby may be in any amount.

Serial bonds may be issued as “qualified bonds” with the approval of the state Municipal Finance Oversight Board
composed of the State Treasurer, the State Auditor, the Attorney General and the Director of Accounts, subject to such
conditions and limitations (including restrictions on future indebtedness) as may be required by the Board. Qualified bonds
may mature not less than 10 nor more than 30 years from their dates and are not subject to the amortization requirements
described above. The State Treasurer is required to pay the debt service on qualified bonds and thereafter to withhold the
amount of the debt service paid by the State from state aid or other state payments; administrative costs and any loss of
interest income to the State are to be assessed upon the city or town.

Tax Credit Bonds or Notes. Subject to certain provisions and conditions, the officers authorized to issue bonds or notes
may designate any duly authorized issue of bonds or notes as “tax credit bonds” to the extent such bonds and notes are
otherwise permitted to be issued with federal tax credits or other similar subsidies for all or a portion of the borrowing costs.
Tax credit bonds may be made payable without regard to the annual installments required by any other law, and a sinking
fund may be established for the payment of such bonds. Any investment that is part of such a sinking fund may mature not
later than the date fixed for payment or redemption of the applicable bonds.
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Bond Anticipation Notes. These generally must mature within two years of their original dates of issuance but may be
refunded from time to time for a period not to exceed ten years from their original dates of issuance, provided that for each
year that the notes are refunded beyond the second year they must be paid in part from revenue funds in an amount at
least equal to the minimum annual payment that would have been required if the bonds had been issued at the end of the
second year. For certain school projects, however, notes may be refunded from time to time for a period not to exceed
seven years without having to pay any portion of the principal of the notes from revenue funds. The maximum term of
bonds issued to refund bond anticipation notes is measured (except for certain school projects) from the date of the original
issue of the notes.

Revenue Anticipation Notes. These are issued to meet current expenses in anticipation of taxes and other revenues.
They must mature within one year but, if payable in less than one year, may under the statute be refunded from time to
time up to one year from the original date of issue. The Town of Hanover has not issued revenue anticipation notes
during the current or any of the past five fiscal years.

Grant Anticipation Notes. These are issued for temporary financing in anticipation of federal grants and state and
county reimbursements. They must generally mature within two years but may be refunded from time to time as long
as the municipality remains entitled to the grant or reimbursement. Notes in anticipation of certain state and county
reimbursements may be refunded only up to two years from the original date of issue.

Han

Revenue Bonds. Cities and towns may issue revenue bonds for solid waste disposal facilities and for projects financial
under the Commonwealth's Clean Water Trust Program. In addition to general obligation bonds and notes, cities and
towns, having electric light departments may issue revenue bonds, and notes in anticipation of revenue bonds, subject
to the approval of the State Department of Public Utilities.

DIRECT DEBT SUMMARY
As of June 30, 2016 (1),
Including Subsequent Issues

General Obligation Bonds:

Sewer $4,500

Water (2) 2,266,300

Schools (3) 29,439,000

MCWT (4) 386,904

General (5) 14,030,200
Total Long Term Outstanding $46,126,904
Short Term Debt:

Bond Anticipation Notes Outstanding (6) 1,388,159

To Be Retired with MSBA Grant Proceeds (219,974)

This Issue New Money Bond Anticipation Notes 13,357,000
Total Short Term Outstanding (7) 14,525,185
Total Direct Debt $60,652,089

(1) Principal amount only. Excludes lease and installment purchase obligations, overlapping debt, unfunded pension
liability, and other post-employment benefits liability.

(2) Supported by the water enterprise fund. $2,166,300 is outside the Town’s debt limit.

(3) $28,912,500 is exempt from the provisions of Proposition 2 %2. $5,895,000 is outside the Town’s debt limit. As of
June 30, 2016, the Town is expecting to receive $4,442,910 in grant payments from the Massachusetts School
Building Authority over the life of the School bonds for the Cedar Elementary, Center Elementary and Middle
School.

(4) Does not reflect subsidy from MCWT. $311,904 has been excluded from the provisions of Proposition 2 % and is
outside the Town’s debt limit.

(5) $10,020,500 has been excluded from the provisions of Proposition 2 ¥. $150,000 is outside the Town’s debt limit.

(6) Payable June 23, 2017.

(7) This issue, payable June 22, 2018.
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Debt Ratios

The table below sets forth debt as a percentage of assessed valuation and per capita debt at the end of the following
fiscal years. The table considers the principal amount of general obligation bonds and serial notes of the Town of

Hanover. The table does not deduct anticipated state grant payments applicable to the principal amount of
outstanding bonds or debt that may be supported in whole, or part, by non-tax revenues. (See “Direct Debt
Summary”.)
General Population Debt as a%
Fiscal Obligation Bonds (2010 Federal Assessed Per Capita of Full
Year End Outstanding census) Valuation Debt Valuation
2016 $46,126,904 13,879 $2,436,970,000 $3,324 1.89 %
2015 51,302,472 13,879 2,369,713,460 3,696 2.16
2014 44,124,340 13,879 2,255,444,320 3,179 1.96
2013 48,015,212 13,879 2,290,567,480 3,460 2.10
2012 51,900,484 13,879 2,253,595,960 3,739 2.30

Principal Payments by Purpose

The following table sets forth the projected principal payments by purpose on outstanding Bonds of the Town.

GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS
PRINCIPAL PAYMENTS BY PURPOSE

As of June 30, 2016 (1)

Cummulative
Fiscal Percentage
Year Sewer Water (2) School (3) MCWT (4) General (5) Total Retired
2017 $ 4,500 $ 425,000 $ 2,480,000 $ 35,568 $ 1,600,500 $ 4,545,568 9.9 %
2018 - 270,000 2,485,000 35,568 1,375,000 4,165,568 18.9
2019 - 267,000 2,529,000 35,568 1,294,000 4,125,568 27.8
2020 - 264,300 2,575,000 24,700 1,290,700 4,154,700 36.8
2021 - 265,000 2,640,000 24,700 1,170,000 4,099,700 45.7
2022 - 255,000 1,595,000 24,700 1,115,000 2,989,700 52.2
2023 - 255,000 1,630,000 29,700 1,115,000 3,029,700 58.8
2024 - 240,000 1,670,000 14,700 1,120,000 3,044,700 65.4
2025 - 10,000 1,705,000 14,700 1,010,000 2,739,700 71.3
2026 - 10,000 1,745,000 14,700 885,000 2,654,700 77.1
2027 - 5,000 1,767,500 14,700 677,500 2,464,700 824
2028 - - 1,770,000 14,700 610,000 2,394,700 87.6
2029 - - 1,787,500 14,700 607,500 2,409,700 92.8
2030 - - 710,000 14,700 70,000 794,700 94.6
2031 - - 710,000 14,700 45,000 769,700 96.2
2032 - - 710,000 14,700 45,000 769,700 97.9
2033 - - 310,000 14,700 - 324,700 98.7
2034 - - 310,000 14,700 - 324,700 99.4
2035 - - 310,000 14,700 - 324,700 100.0
Total $ 4,500 $ 2,266,300 $ 29,439,000 $ 386,904 $ 14,030,200 $ 46,126,904

(1) Principal amount only. Excludes lease and installment purchase obligations, overlapping debt, unfunded pension liability and other post-

employment benefits liability.

(2)  Supported by the water enterprise fund. $2,166,300 is outside the Town’s debt limit.
(3) $28,912,500 is exempt from the provisions of Proposition 2 %. $5,895,000 is outside the Town’s debt limit. As of June 30, 2016, the Town is
expecting to receive $4,442,910 in grant payments from the Massachusetts School Building Authority over the life of the School bonds for the

Cedar Elementary, Center Elementary and Middle School.

(4) Does not reflect subsidy from MCWT. $311,904 has been excluded from the provisions of Proposition 2 %2 and is outside the Town’s debt

limit.

(5) $10,020,500 has been excluded from the provisions of Proposition 2 %. $150,000 is outside the Town’s debt limit.
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Debt Service Requirements
The following table sets forth the required principal and interest payments on all general obligation debt of the Town.
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS

DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS
AS OF JUNE 30, 2016

Total
Fiscal Outstanding (1) SRF MSBA Net Debt
Year Principal Interest Subsidy Subsidy Service
2017 $4,545,568 $1,693,684 ($6,162) ($888,582) $5,344,508
2018 4,165,568 1,567,810 (5,489) (888,582) 4,839,307
2019 4,125,568 1,395,478 (4,885) (888,582) 4,627,579
2020 4,154,700 1,225,959 (4,249) (888,582) 4,487,828
2021 4,099,700 1,056,094 (4,126) (888,582) 4,263,087
2022 2,989,700 892,131 (4,028) - 3,877,803
2023 3,029,700 760,956 (3,545) - 3,787,111
2024 3,044,700 634,181 - - 3,678,881
2025 2,739,700 515,331 - - 3,255,031
2026 2,654,700 407,188 - - 3,061,888
2027 2,464,700 303,625 - - 2,768,325
2028 2,394,700 232,225 - - 2,626,925
2029 2,409,700 165,400 - - 2,575,100
2030 794,700 106,325 - - 901,025
2031 769,700 78,225 - - 847,925
2032 769,700 51,125 - - 820,825
2033 324,700 24,025 - - 348,725
2034 324,700 14,531 - - 339,231
2035 324,700 4,844 - - 329,544
Total $46,126,904 $11,129,138 $(32,485) $(4,442,910) $52,780,647

(1) $39,192,904 in principal and $9,859,639 in interest is exempt from Proposition 2 2.

Authorized Unissued Debt

The Town currently has $40,009,386 in authorized unissued debt for various projects. $32,726,186 is for construction
of a new Sylvester/Center School, $1,558,000 is for various equipment purchases, and the balance for other municipal
purposes. The Sylvester/Center School project was approved by the Massachusetts School Building Authority
(MSBA) for construction grants equal to approximately 53.70% of eligible project costs of which the Town has received
$735,518.
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Overlapping Debt

The Town of Hanover is located in Plymouth County and is a member of the South Shore Regional Vocational School
District and the Massachusetts Bay Transportation Authority. The following table sets forth the outstanding bonded
debt, exclusive of temporary loans in anticipation of bonds or current revenue, of each of the overlapping entities the
Town of Hanover's estimated gross share of such debt, and the fiscal 2017 dollar assessment for each.

Outstanding Hanover's Fiscal 2017 Dollar
Overlapping Entity Debt Estimated Share (1) Assessment (2)
Plymouth County (3) $2,200,000 3.62 % $2,961,848
South Shore Regional Vocational
School District (4) 690,000 11.71 725,406
Massachusetts Bay
Transportation Authority (5) 5,656,191,000 0.2075 23,706

(1) Estimated share based on debt service only.

)
©)

4

®)

Estimated dollar assessment based upon total net operating expenses, inclusive (where applicable) of debt service.

SOURCE: County Treasurer. Debt as of June 30, 2016. Assessment is for fiscal 2017. County expenses including debt service
on county bonds are assessed upon the cities and towns within the county in proportion to their taxable valuation as last equalized
by the State Commissioner of Revenue. (The expenses of Suffolk County are borne by the City of Boston alone.) Legislation
enacted in 1997 abolished the county governments of Franklin and Middlesex counties as of July 1, 1997, with their assets,
functions, debts and other obligations being assumed by the Commonwealth. The abolishment of the Middlesex County
government was in part in response to a default by the county in the payment of general obligation notes of the county. The
legislation also abolished the county governments of Hampden and Worcester counties as of July 1, 1998. Legislation enacted
in 1998 abolished the county governments of Hampshire, Essex and Berkshire counties as of January 1, 1999, July 1, 1999
and July 1, 2000, respectively. The legislation requires the state secretary for administration and finance to establish a plan to
recover the Commonwealth’s expenditures for the liabilities and other debts assumed and paid by the Commonwealth on
behalf of an abolished county. Unless these provisions are changed by further legislation, the state treasurer shall assess upon
each city and town within the jurisdiction of an abolished county an amount not exceeding or equal to the county tax paid by
each such city and town for the fiscal year immediately prior to the abolishment of the county (or two years prior in the case of
Essex county) until such expenditures by the Commonwealth are recovered. It is possible that similar legislation will be sought
to provide for the abolishment of county government in all the remaining counties.

SOURCE: Regional School District. Debt as of June 30, 2016. Assessment is for fiscal 2017. Towns may organize regional
school districts to carry out general or specialized educational functions. Pursuant to special laws a number of cities may also
participate in regional school districts, primarily for vocational education. The operating expenses and debt service of regional
school districts are apportioned among the member municipalities in accordance with the agreements establishing the districts
subject to the provisions of the Education Reform Act of 1993.

SOURCE: M.B.T.A. Debt as of June 30, 2016. Assessment is for fiscal 2017. The Massachusetts Bay Transportation
Authority (the “MBTA”") was created in 1964 to finance and operate mass transportation facilities within the greater Boston
metropolitan area. Under its enabling act, the MBTA is authorized to issue bonds for capital purposes, other than refunding
bonds, and for certain specified purposes to an outstanding amount, which does not exceed the aggregate principal amount of
$3,556,300,000. In addition, pursuant to certain of the Commonwealth’s transportation bond bills, the MBTA is authorized to issue
additional bonds for particular capital projects. The MBTA also is authorized to issue bonds of the purpose of refunding bonds.
Under the MBTA'’s enabling act debt service, as well as other operating expenses of the MBTA, are to be financed by a dedicated
revenue stream consisting of the amounts assessed on the cities and towns of the MBTA and a dedicated portion of the statewide
sales tax. The amount assessed to each city and town is based on its weighted percentage of the total population of the authority as
provided in the enabling act. The aggregate amount of such assessments is generally not permitted to increase by more than 2.5
percent per year.
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

Municipal contracts are generally limited to currently available appropriations. A city or town generally has authority to enter
into contracts for the exercise of any of its corporate powers for any period of time deemed to serve its best interests, but
generally only when funds are available for the first fiscal year; obligations for succeeding fiscal years generally are
expressly subject to availability and appropriation of funds. Municipalities have specific authority in relatively few cases to
enter long-term contractual obligations that are not subject to annual appropriation, including contracts for refuse disposal
and sewage treatment and disposal. Municipalities may also enter into long-term contracts in aid of housing and renewal
projects. There may be implied authority to make other long-term contracts required to carry out authorized municipal
functions, such as contracts to purchase water from private water companies.

Municipal contracts relating to solid waste disposal facilities may contain provisions requiring the delivery of minimum
amounts of waste and payments based thereon and requiring payments in certain circumstances without regard to the
operational status of the facilities.

Municipal electric departments have statutory power to enter into long-term contracts for joint ownership and operation of
generating and transmission facilities and for the purchase or sale of capacity, including contracts requiring payments
without regard to the operational status of the facilities.

Pursuant to the Home Rule Amendment to the Massachusetts Constitution, cities and towns may also be empowered to
make other contracts and leases.

The Town of Hanover has a limited number of contractual obligations.
RETIREMENT PLAN

The Massachusetts General Laws provide for the establishment of contributory retirement systems for state employees, for
teachers and for county, city and town employees other than teachers. Teachers are assigned to a separate statewide
teachers’ system and not to the city and town systems. For all employees other than teachers, this law is subject to
acceptance in each city and town. Substantially all employees of an accepting city or town are covered. If a town has a
population of less than 10,000 when it accepts the statute, its non-teacher employees participate through the county
system and its share of the county cost is proportionate to the aggregate annual rate of regular compensation of its
covered employees. In addition to the contributory systems, cities and towns provide non-contributory pensions to a
limited number of employees, primarily persons who entered service prior to July 1, 1937 and their dependents. The Public
Employee Retirement Administration Commission (“PERAC") provides oversight and guidance for and regulates all state
and local retirement systems.

The obligations of a city or town, whether direct or through a county system, are contractual legal obligations and are
required to be included in the annual tax levy. If a city or town, or the county system of which it is a member, has not
established a retirement system funding schedule as described below, the city or town is required to provide for the
payment of the portion of its current pension obligations which is not otherwise covered by employee contributions and
investment income.  “Excess earnings,” or earnings on individual employees’ retirement accounts in excess of a
predetermined rate, are required to be set aside in a pension reserve fund for future, not current, pension liabilities. Cities
and towns may voluntarily appropriate to their system’s pension reserve fund in any given year up to five percent of the
preceding year’s tax levy. The aggregate amount in the fund may not exceed ten percent of the equalized valuation of the
city or town.

If a city or town, or each member city and town of a county retirement system, has accepted the applicable law, it is
required to annually appropriate an amount sufficient to pay not only its current pension obligations, but also a portion of its
future pension liability. The portion of each such annual payment allocable to future pension obligations is required to be
deposited in the pension reserve fund. The amount of the annual city or town appropriation for each such system is
prescribed by a retirement system funding schedule which is periodically reviewed and approved by PERAC. Each
system’s retirement funding schedule is designed to reduce the unfunded actuarial pension liability of the system to zero
by not later than June 30, 2030, with annual increases in the scheduled payment amounts of not more than 4.5 percent.
The funding schedule must provide that payment in any year of the schedule is not less than 95 percent of the amount
appropriated in the previous fiscal year. City, town and county systems which have an approved retirement funding
schedule receive annual pension funding grants from the Commonwealth for the first 16 years of such funding schedule.
Pursuant to recent legislation, a system (other than the state employees’ retirement system and the teachers’
retirement system) which conducts an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2009, or later, may establish a revised
schedule which reduces the unfunded actuarial liability to zero by not later than June 30, 2040, subject to certain
conditions. If the schedule is so extended under such provisions and a later updated valuation allows for the
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development of a revised schedule with reduced payments, the revised schedule shall be adjusted to provide that the
appropriation for each year shall not be less than that for such year under the prior schedule, thus providing for a
shorter schedule rather than reduced payments.

City, town and county systems may choose to participate in the Pension Reserves Investment Trust Fund (the “PRIT
Fund”), which receives additional state funds to offset future pension costs of participating state and local systems. If a
local system participates in the PRIT Fund, it must transfer ownership and control of all assets of its system to the Pension
Reserves Investment Management Board, which manages the investment and reinvestment of the PRIT Fund. Cities and
towns with systems patrticipating in the PRIT Fund continue to be obligated to fund their pension obligations in the manner
described above. The additional state appropriations to offset future pension liabilities of state and local systems
participating in the PRIT Fund are required to total at least 1.3 percent of state payroll. Such additional state appropriations
are deposited in the PRIT Fund and shared by all participating systems in proportion to their interests in the assets of the
PRIT Fund as of July 1 for each fiscal year.

Cost-of-living increases for each local retirement system may be granted and funded only by the local system, and only if it
has established a funding schedule. Those statutory provisions are subject to acceptance by the local retirement board
and approval by the local legislative body, which acceptance may not be revoked.

The Town participates in the contributory retirement system of Plymouth County that is partially funded by employee
contributions. The Town meets its share of retirement system costs on a pay-as-you-go basis by contributing annually
the amounts determined by the State Commissioner of Public Employee Retirement. Such amounts are legal
obligations of the municipality and are required to be included in its annual tax levy. The retirement systems cover
substantially all municipal employees except schoolteachers, whose pensions are paid by the Commonwealth. The
trend in annual required contributions of the Town to the retirement system is as follows:

Year Ending Contributory

June 30, 2017 $ 2,961,848
June 30, 2016 2,850,514
June 30, 2015 2,637,067
June 30, 2014 2,426,018
June 30, 2013 2,377,229

The Town’s share of the estimated unfunded actuarial accrued liability for Plymouth County Retirement System as of
January 1, 2015 was approximately $29,262,147. The Town's 2015 contribution represented 4.53% of total
contributions required of all participating entities.
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Current Plymouth County Funding Schedule

Employer Amortization Employer Employer

Fiscal Employee Normal Cost Payments Total Cost Total Cost Unfunded Funded

Year Contribution with Interest with Interest with Interest % of Payroll Liability Ratio**

2016 $ 21,335,589 $ 13,243,028 $ 50,869,520 $ 64,112,548 26.0 $ 590,566,333 58.3
2017 22,325,258 13,538,829 53,834,388 67,373,217 26.3 585,995,837 59.8
2018 23,359,149 13,838,193 55,951,286 69,789,479 26.3 577,980,373 61.7
2019 24,439,187 14,140,969 58,152,861 72,293,830 26.2 567,165,058 63.6
2020 25,567,379 14,446,994 59,860,420 74,307,414 26.0 553,239,562 65.7
2021 26,745,817 14,756,086 61,950,357 76,706,443 25.9 536,458,765 67.8
2022 27,976,685 15,068,043 64,426,829 79,494,872 25.8 516,204,359 69.9
2023 29,262,256 15,382,646 67,002,360 82,385,006 25.8 491,804,329 722
2024 30,604,903 15,699,654 69,680,912 85,380,566 258 462,826,013 74.6
2025 32,007,098 16,018,807 72,466,606 88,485,413 258 428,798,099 772
2026 33,471,420 16,339,818 75,363,728 91,703,546 25.7 389,207,363 79.9
2027 35,000,556 16,662,379 78,376,735 95,039,114 25.7 343,495,159 82.8
2028 36,597,308 16,986,154 81,510,262 98,496,416 25.7 291,053,598 85.8
2029 38,264,597 17,310,781 84,730,574 102,041,355 25.6 231,221,439 89.0
2030 40,005,468 17,635,868 88,119,797 105,755,665 25.6 163,318,934 925
2031 41,823,094 17,960,993 91,644,589 109,605,582 25.6 86,528,220 96.1
2032 43,720,785 18,285,702 - 18,285,702 4.1 - 100.0
2033 45,701,988 18,609,507 - 18,609,507 4.0 - 100.0
2034 47,770,300 18,931,882 - 18,931,882 4.0 - 100.0
2035 49,929,466 19,252,267 - 19,252,267 3.9 - 100.0
2036 52,183,393 19,570,057 - 19,570,057 3.8 - 100.0
2037 54,536,152 19,884,608 - 19,884,608 37 - 100.0
2038 56,991,984 20,195,229 - 20,195,229 36 - 100.0
2039 59,555,312 20,501,185 - 20,501,185 36 - 100.0
2040 62,230,745 20,801,688 - 20,801,688 35 - 100.0
2041 65,023,085 21,095,899 - 21,095,899 34 - 100.0
2042 67,461,451 21,886,995 - 21,886,995 34 - 100.0
2043 69,991,255 22,707,757 - 22,707,757 34 - 100.0
2044 72,615,927 23,559,298 - 23,559,298 34 - 100.0
2045 75,339,025 24,442,722 - 24,442,722 34 - 100.0

SOURCE: January 1, 2015 Plymouth County Retirement System Actuarial Valuation, PERAC.

Other Post-Employment Benefits

In addition to pension benefits, cities and towns may provide retired employees with health care and life insurance
benefits. The portion of the cost of such benefits paid by cities and towns is generally provided on a pay-as-you-go
basis. The following is a five year history of the Town’s pay-as-you cost:

Fiscal

Year Amount
2017 (Budgeted) $ 922,360
2016 802,052
2015 733,500
2014 888,840
2013 958,493
2012 900,000

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) recently promulgated its Statement Nos. 43 and 45, which will
for the first time require public sector entities to report the future costs of these non-pension, post-employment benefits in
their financial statements. These new accounting standards do not require pre-funding the payment of these costs as the
liability for such costs accrues, but the basis applied by the standards for measurement of costs and liabilities for these
benefits is conservative if they continue to be funded on a pay-as-you-go basis and will result in larger yearly cost and
liability accruals than if the cost of such benefits were pre-funded in a trust fund in the same manner as traditional pension
benefits. Cities and towns that choose to self-insure all or a portion of the cost of the health care benefits they provide to
employees and retirees may establish a trust fund for the purpose of paying claims. In addition, cities and towns may
40



establish a trust fund for the purpose of pre-funding other post-employment benefits liability in the same manner as
traditional pension benefits.

The Town of Hanover participates in a cost-sharing multiple employer plan, operated by the Mayflower Municipal
Health Group, which has not conducted the required actuarial valuation. The Town performed an actuarial study as of
January 1, 2015 that estimated the unfunded liability at approximately $37.9 million with an annual required
contribution (ARC) of approximately $2.1 million (using a 4.0% earnings assumption). The Town voted to fund the
OPERB liability trust fund with meals tax receipts.

The Town funds the OPEB Trust fund with the revenue generated from the local option meals tax. The balance of this
fund as of June 30, 2016 was $1,290,949. The projected balance of the OPEB Trust as of June 30, 2017 is
approximately $1,724,863.

EMPLOYEE RELATIONS

The Town employs approximately 900 full-time, part-time, seasonal, and temporary workers, of whom 576 are
employed by the School Department, 37 by the Fire Department, 44 by the Police Department and the balance by the
other various departments of the Town. Town and school employees (other than managerial employees and
confidential employees) are entitled to join unions and to bargain collectively on questions of wages, hours and other
terms and conditions of employment. Approximately 448 employees are represented by nine unions, four are which
are town and five of which are school. The Teachers contract expires on June 30, 2018. Three school contracts and
Fire, Town Clerical, Police and Public Works contracts contract expire on June 30, 2017.

LITIGATION

At present there are several cases pending in various courts throughout the Commonwealth where the Town of
Hanover is a defendant. In the opinion of the Town, there is no pending or threatened litigation against the Town that
is likely to result, either individually or in the aggregate, in final judgment against the Town that would materially affect
its financial position.

TOWN OF HANOVER, MASSACHUSETTS
/sl Chelsea Stevens, Acting Finance Director & Town Accountant

June 8, 2017
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ACCOUNTANTS * AUDITORS

MELANSON

years

10 New England Business
Center Dr. « Suite 107
Andover, MA 01810
(978)749-0005
melansonheath.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Additional Offices:

To the Board of Selectmen Nashua, NH
Manchester, NH

Town of Hanover, Massachusetts Greenfield, MA
Ellsworth, ME

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activi-
ties, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund
information of the Town of Hanover, Massachusetts, as of and for the year ended
June 30, 2016, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise the Town’s basic financial statements as listed in the Table of Contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Town’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of
these financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and main-
tenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of finan-
cial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial
audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General
of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assess-
ments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and
fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion



on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such
opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by manage-
ment, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-
type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the
Town of Hanover, Massachusetts, as of June 30, 2016, and the respective changes
in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof and the respective
budgetary comparison for the general fund for the year then ended in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that
Management’s Discussion and Analysis, the Schedule of OPEB Funding Progress,
the Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability, and the Schedule of
Pension Contributions be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.
Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential
part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited proce-
dures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing stand-
ards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries
of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the
information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic
financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with evidence suffi-
cient to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report
dated March 22, 2017 on our consideration of the Town of Hanover, Massachusetts’
internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.
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The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control
over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to
provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government
Auditing Standards in considering the Town’s internal control over financial reporting
and compliance.

MeLamson Heatd

March 22, 2017



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As management of the Town of Hanover, we offer readers this narrative overview
and analysis of the financial activities of the Town of Hanover for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2016.

A. OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the basic
financial statements. The basic financial statements are comprised of three com-
ponents: (1) government-wide financial statements, (2) fund financial statements,
and (3) notes to financial statements. This report also contains other supplemen-
tary information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves.

Government-wide financial statements. The government-wide financial state-
ments are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of our finances in a
manner similar to a private-sector business.

The Statement of Net Position presents information on all assets, liabilities, and
deferred outflows/inflows of resources, with the difference reported as net position.
Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator
of whether the financial position is improving or deteriorating.

The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the Town’s net posi-
tion changed during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are
reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs,
regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are
reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future
fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave).

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions that are
principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental
activities) from other functions that are intended to recover all or a significant
portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type activities).
The governmental activities include general government, public safety, education,
public works, health and human services, and culture and recreation. The business-
type activities include water activities.

Fund financial statements. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used
to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for specific activi-
ties or objectives. Fund accounting is used to ensure and demonstrate compli-
ance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds can be divided into
three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.




Governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially
the same functions reported as governmental activities in the government-wide
financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial statements,
governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows
of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available
at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a gov-
ernment’s near-term financing requirements.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-
wide financial statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for
governmental funds with similar information presented for governmental activities
in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better
understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing deci-
sions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund state-
ment of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a recon-
ciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and govern-
mental activities.

An annual appropriated budget is adopted for the general fund. A budgetary com-
parison statement has been provided for the general fund to demonstrate compli-
ance with this budget.

Proprietary funds. Proprietary funds are maintained as follows:

Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-
type activities in the government-wide financial statements. Specifically, enter-
prise funds are used to account for water operations.

Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the business-type activ-
ities reported in the government-wide financial statements, only in more detail.
The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate information for the
water operations, which is considered to be a major fund.

Fiduciary funds. Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the
benefit of parties outside the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the
government-wide financial statements because the resources of those funds are
not available to support the Town’s own programs. The accounting used for fidu-
ciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds.

Notes to financial statements. The notes provide additional information that is
essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and
fund financial statements.

Other information. In addition to the basic financial statements and accompany-
ing notes, this report also presents certain required supplementary information
which is required to be disclosed by accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America.




B. FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

e As of the close of the current fiscal year, the total of assets exceeded liabil-
ities by $37,443,698 (i.e., net position), a change of $253,362 in comparison
to the prior year.

e As of the close of the current fiscal year, governmental funds reported com-
bined ending fund balances of $21,783,604, a change of $(927,848) in com-
parison to the prior year.

e At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balance for the general
fund was $5,391,472, a change of $590,892 in comparison to the prior year.

e Total long-term debt (i.e., bonds payable) at the close of the current fiscal

year was $46,126,904, a change of $(5,175,567) in comparison to the prior
year.

C. GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

The following is a summary of condensed government-wide financial data for the
current and prior fiscal years.

NET POSITION
Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
Current and other assets $ 31376 $ 33,755 $ 2076 $ 2681 $ 33452 $ 36,436
Deferred outflows 3,192 1,152 168 61 3,360 1,213
Capital assets 98,288 98,459 9,778 9,697 108,066 108,156

Total assets and deferred outflows 132,856 133,366 12,022 12,439 144,878 145,805

Current liabilities 8,277 9,306 598 568 8,875 9,874
Noncurrent liabilities 92,786 93,246 5,001 5,456 97,787 98,702
Deferred inflows 552 39 221 - 773 39
Total liabilities 101,615 102,591 5,820 6,024 107,435 108,615
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 54,949 52,004 6,890 6,139 61,839 58,143
Restricted 10,582 9,853 - - 10,582 9,853
Unrestricted (34,290) (31,082) (688) 276 (34,978) (30,806)
Total net position $ 31241 $ 30,775 $ 6202 $ 6415 $ 37443 $ 37,190



Revenues:

Program revenues:
Charges for services
Operating grants and

contributions
Capital grants and
contributions
General revenues:
Property taxes
Excises
Penalties and interest on
taxes

Grants and contributions
not restricted to specific
programs

Investment income

Other

Total revenues

Expenses:
General government
Public safety
Education
Public works
Human services
Culture and recreation
Employee benefits
Interest on long-term debt
Intergovernmental
Miscellaneous
Water

Total expenses

Change in net position
before transfers

Transfers in (out)
Change in net position

Net position - beginning of
year, as restated

Net position - end of year

$

CHANGES IN NET POSITION

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total

016 015 2016 2015 2016 015
5041 $ 4612 $ 3690 $ 3409 $ 8731 § 8,021
13,945 11,850 - - 13,945 11,850
1,307 2,523 - - 1,307 2,523
42,327 39,420 - - 42,327 39,420
2,723 2,520 - - 2,723 2,520
525 526 - - 525 526
2,182 2,135 - 2 2,182 2,137
183 82 - - 183 82
335 357 - - 335 357
68,568 64,025 3,690 3,411 72,258 67,436
3,175 3,193 - - 3,175 3,193
7,041 7,508 - - 7,041 7,508
39,869 36,128 - - 39,869 36,128
3,672 4,512 - - 3,672 4,512
691 586 - - 691 586
1,239 1,205 - - 1,239 1,205
9,674 8,011 - - 9,674 8,011
1,876 1,793 - - 1,876 1,793
584 517 - - 584 517
211 287 - - 211 287
- - 3,970 3,131 3,970 3,131
68,032 63,740 3,970 3,131 72,002 66,871
536 285 (280) 280 256 565

(70) 359 67 (359) (3) -
466 644 (213) (79) 253 565
30,775 30,131 6,415 6,494 37,190 36,625
31241 $ 30,775 $ 6202 $ 6415 $ 37443 $ 37,190

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a gov-
ernment’s financial position. At the close of the most recent fiscal year, total net

position was $37,443,698, a change of $253,362 from the prior year.



The largest portion of net position, $61,838,990, reflects our investment in capital
assets (e.g., land, buildings, machinery, equipment, and infrastructure), less any
related debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding. These capital
assets are used to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are
not available for future spending. Although the investment in capital assets is
reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to
repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets
themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.

An additional portion of net position, $10,582,650, represents resources that are
subject to external restrictions on how they may be used. The remaining balance
of unrestricted net position reflects a deficit balance of $(34,977,942) caused pri-
marily by accrued but unfunded other post-employment benefits (see Note 19) and
the net pension liability (see Note 20).

Governmental activities. Governmental activities for the year resulted in a change
in net position of $466,297. Key elements of this change are as follows:

General fund operations, as discussed further

in Section D $ (181,221)
School capital project fund - accrual basis (416,075)
Community preservation fund - operating results 464,883
Ambulance fund - operating results (55,415)
Nonmajor funds - accrual basis 734,632
Principal debt service in excess of depreciation

expense 665,512
MSBA receipts 24,941
Change in accrued other post-employment benefits (2,621,012)
Increase in bond premiums 305,139
Other 1,544,913

Total $ 466,297

Business-type activities. Business-type activities for the year resulted in a change
in net position of $(212,935) from water operations.

Water operations $ (212,935)
Total $  (212,935)

. FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE GOVERNMENT’S FUNDS

As noted earlier, fund accounting is used to ensure and demonstrate compliance
with finance-related legal requirements.



Governmental funds. The focus of governmental funds is to provide information
on near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources.

Such information is useful in assessing financing requirements. In particular, unas-
signed fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government’s net
resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.

As of the end of the current fiscal year, governmental funds reported combined
ending fund balances of $21,783,604, a change of $(927,848) in comparison to
the prior year. Key elements of this change are as follows:

General fund operating results $ (181,221)
School capital project operations (391,134)
Community preservation revenues over expenditures 464,883
Ambulance fund revenues over expenditures (55,415)
Nonmajor funds revenues over expenditures (764,961)

Total $ (927,848)

The general fund is the chief operating fund. At the end of the current fiscal year,
unassigned fund balance of the general fund was $5,391,472, while total fund
balance was $11,190,191. As a measure of the general fund’s liquidity, it may be
useful to compare both unassigned fund balance and total fund balance to total
general fund expenditures. Refer to the table below.

% of
Total General
General Fund 6/30/16 6/30/15 Change Fund Expenditures
Unassigned fund balance $ 5,391,472 $ 4,800,580 $ 590,892 10%
Total fund balance $ 11,190,191 $ 11371412 § (181,221) 20%

The total fund balance of the general fund changed by $(181,221) during the
current fiscal year. Key factors in this change are as follows:

Revenue surplus $ 1,235,744
Appropriation turnbacks by departments 522,681
Excess property tax collections 78,860

Prior year encumbrances to be spent in the current
year over current year encumbrances to be spent in

the subsequent year (277,065)
Use of free cash as a funding source (2,197,450)
Use of overlay surplus as a funding source (500,000)
Other uses 111,526
Change in stabilization 915,253
Other (70,770)

Total $  (181,221)




Included in the total general fund balance are the Town’s stabilization accounts
with the following balances:

6/30/16 6/30/15 Change

General stabilization $ 2107597 $ 1,869,990 §$ 237,607
Capital stabilization 503,085 200,404 302,681
OPERB stabilization 1,298,302 923,337 374,965
Total $ 3908984 $ 2993731 $ 915,253

Proprietary funds. Proprietary funds provide the same type of information found
in the business-type activities reported in the government-wide financial statements,
but in more detail.

Unrestricted net position of the enterprise funds at the end of the year amounted
to $(687,347), a change of $(963,162) in comparison to the prior year, as restated.

Other factors concerning the finances of proprietary funds have already been
addressed in the entity-wide discussion of business-type activities.

. GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS

Differences between the original budget and the final amended budget resulted in
an overall change in appropriations of $695,350. Major reasons for these amend-
ments include:

e $5,000 for general government appropriations.

e $15,350 for public safety appropriations.

e $175,000 for public works appropriations.

e $200,000 transfer to general stabilization.

e $300,000 transfer to capital stabilization.

These supplemental appropriations were funded by $195,350 from free cash and
$500,000 from overlay surplus.

. CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Capital assets. Total investment in capital assets for governmental and business-
type activities at year-end amounted to $108,066,019 (net of accumulated depre-
ciation), a change of $(89,333) from the prior year. This investment in capital assets
includes land, buildings and system, improvements, and machinery and equipment.
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Major capital asset events during the current fiscal year included the following:

e $1,584,994 increase in vehicles relating to various cruiser, truck, and back-
hoe purchases

Additional information on capital assets can be found in the Notes to Financial
Statements.

Long-term _debt. At the end of the current fiscal year, total bonded debt out-
standing was $46,126,904, all of which was backed by the full faith and credit of
the government.

Additional information on long-term debt can be found in the Notes to Financial
Statements.

REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Town of Hanover’s
finances for all those with an interest in the government’s finances. Questions concern-
ing any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional financial
information should be addressed to:
Office of Finance Director
Town of Hanover, Massachusetts
550 Hanover Street

Hanover, MA 02339

11



TOWN OF HANOVER, MASSACHUSETTS

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2016

ASSETS
Current:
Cash and short-term investments
Investments
Receivables, net of allowance for uncollectibles:
Property taxes
Excises
User fees
Departmental and other
Intergovernmental
Other assets
Noncurrent:
Receivables, net of allowance for uncollectibles:
Property taxes
Intergovernmental
Capital Assets:
Land and construction in progress
Other assets, net of accumulated depreciation

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED
OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

LIABILITIES
Current:
Warrants payable
Accrued liabilities
Tax refunds payable
Notes payable
Other current liabilities
Current portion of long-term liabilities:
Bonds payable
Compensated absence
Bond premium
Noncurrent:
Bonds payable, net of current portion
Compensated absence
Bond premium
Accrued other post-employment benefits
Net pension liability

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED
INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for:
Grants and other statutory restrictions
Permanent funds:
Nonexpendable
Expendable
Unrestricted

TOTAL NET POSITION

$

$

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total

10,978,722 $ 690,724 $ 11,669,446
12,717,465 - 12,717,465
581,392 - 581,392
237,711 - 237,711

- 1,386,221 1,386,221
319,305 - 319,305
1,317,670 - 1,317,670
197,870 - 197,870
534,363 - 534,363
4,461,436 - 4,461,436
10,212,183 827,766 11,039,949
88,076,368 8,949,702 97,026,070
3,191,840 167,992 3,359,832
132,856,325 12,022,405 144,878,730
884,456 115,055 999,511
311,420 7,367 318,787
40,650 - 40,650
1,394,159 - 1,394,159
1,104,529 - 1,104,529
4,075,568 470,000 4,545,568
147,375 5,045 152,420
228,275 - 228,275
39,215,036 2,366,300 41,581,336
2,800,118 95,854 2,895,972
2,085,925 - 2,085,925
21,581,006 1,113,397 22,694,403
27,103,921 1,426,523 28,530,444
642,453 220,600 863,053
101,614,891 5,820,141 107,435,032
54,949,379 6,889,611 61,838,990
10,324,680 - 10,324,680
166,460 - 166,460
91,510 - 91,510
(34,290,595) (687,347) (34,977,942)
31,241,434 $ 6,202,264 $ 37,443,698

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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TOWN OF HANOVER, MASSACHUSETTS

RECONCILIATION OF TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUND
BALANCES TO NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL
ACTIVITIES IN THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2016

Total governmental fund balances $ 21,783,604

* Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial
resources and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. 98,288,551

* Revenues are reported on the accrual basis of accounting and are
not deferred until collection. 1,617,045

* Noncurrent assets, including MSBA reimbursements for contracted
assistance projects, are not receivable in the current period and,
therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds. 4,461,436

* In the statement of activities, interest is accrued on outstanding long-
term debt, whereas in governmental funds interest is not reported
until due. (311,420)

* Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, capital leases, landfill
closure, accrued compensated absences and net OPEB obligation
are not due and payable in the current period and, therefore, are not
reported in the governmental funds. (70,554,603)

* Certain changes in the net pension liability, which are deferred to
future reporting periods, are not reported in the governmental
funds. (24,043,179)

Net position of governmental activities $ 31,241,434

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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TOWN OF HANOVER, MASSACHUSETTS

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES,
EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016
Net changes in fund balances - total governmental funds $  (927,848)

* Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the
Statement of Activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their
estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense:

Capital outlay purchases 3,234,090
Depreciation (3,405,056)

* Revenues in the Statement of Activities that do not provide current financial
resources are fully deferred in the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures,
and Changes in Fund Balances. Therefore, the recognition of revenue for
various types of accounts receivable (e.g., property taxes) differ between
the two statements. This amount represents the net change in deferred
revenue. 208,836

* Some revenues reported in the Statement of Activities, such as MSBA
reimbursements for contracted assistance, do not provide current financial
resources and therefore, are not reported as revenues in the governmental
funds. (888,281)

* The issuance of long-term debt (e.g., bonds and leases) provides current
financial resources to governmental funds, while the repayment of the
principal of long-term debt consumes the financial resources of
governmental funds. Neither transaction, however, has any effect on net

position:
Repayments of debt 4,070,568
Amortization of bond premium 305,139

* In the statement of activities, interest is accrued on outstanding long-term
debt, whereas in governmental funds interest is not reported until due. 195,497

* Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities, such as
compensated absences, do not require the use of current financial
resources and therefore, are not reported as expenditures in the
governmental funds.

Compensated absences 578,660
Net OPEB obligation (2,621,012)

* Certain changes in the net pension liability, which are deferred to future
reporting periods, are not reported in the governmental funds. (284,296)
Change in net assets of governmental activities $ 466,297

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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TOWN OF HANOVER, MASSACHUSETTS

GENERAL FUND

STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND OTHER SOURCES,
AND EXPENDITURES AND OTHER USES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

Revenues and other sources:
Property taxes
Excises
Penalties, interest, and other taxes
Charges for services
Licenses and permits
Fines and forfeitures
Intergovernmental
Investment income
Other revenues
Other financing sources:
Transfers in
Use of overlay surplus
Use of fund balance

Total Revenues

Expenditures and other uses:
Current:
General government
Public safety
Education
Public works
Health and human services
Culture and recreation
Employee benefits
Debt service
Intergovernmental
Other financing uses:
Transfers out
Other uses

Total Expenditures

Excess of revenues and other sources
over expenditures and other uses

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016

Actual Variance with
Amounts Final Budget

Original Final (Budgetary Positive
Budget Budget Basis) (Negative)

$ 41,212,467 $ 41,212,467 $ 41,212,467 $ -
1,983,088 1,983,088 2,595,258 612,170
90,000 90,000 185,386 95,386
313,043 313,043 354,995 41,952
417,886 417,886 677,916 260,030
87,570 87,570 117,238 29,668
9,705,723 9,705,723 9,724,996 19,273
35,000 35,000 72,448 37,448
35,000 35,000 105,833 70,833
1,524,899 1,524,899 1,593,883 68,984

- 500,000 500,000 -

2,002,100 2,197,450 2,197,450 -
57,406,776 58,102,126 59,337,870 1,235,744
5,154,735 5,159,735 5,087,233 72,502
7,488,991 7,504,341 7,339,549 164,792
26,867,521 26,867,521 26,857,754 9,767
2,938,060 3,113,060 2,997,051 116,009
450,805 450,805 436,617 14,188
545,305 545,305 562,331 (17,026)
7,114,955 7,114,955 6,767,799 347,156
5,872,705 5,872,705 6,060,794 (188,089)
587,173 587,173 583,791 3,382

275,000 775,000 775,000 -

111,526 111,526 111,526 -
57,406,776 58,102,126 57,579,445 522,681
$ - $ - $ 1,758,425 $ 1,758,425

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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TOWN OF HANOVER, MASSACHUSETTS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2016

ASSETS

Current:
Cash and short-term investments
User fees, net of allowance for uncollectibles

Total current assets
Noncurrent:
Capital Assets:
Land and construction in progress

Other assets, net of accumulated depreciation

Total noncurrent assets
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED
OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

LIABILITIES

Current:
Warrants payable
Accrued liabilities
Current portion of long-term liabilities:
Bonds payable
Compensated absence

Total current liabilities
Noncurrent:
Bonds payable, net of current portion
Compensated absence, net of current portion
Net OPEB obligation
Net pension liability

Total noncurrent liabilities
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED
INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

NET POSITION

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt
Unrestricted

TOTAL NET POSITION

Business-Type Activities
Enterprise Funds

Water
Fund

$ 690,724
1,386,221

2,076,945

827,766
8,949,702

9,777,468
167,992

12,022,405

115,055
7,367

470,000
5,045
597,467
2,366,300
95,854

1,113,397
1,426,523

5,002,074
220,600

5,820,141

6,889,611

(687,347)
$ 6,202,264

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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TOWN OF HANOVER, MASSACHUSETTS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016

Operating Revenues:
Charges for services
Other

Total Operating Revenues
Operating Expenses:
Operating expenses

Depreciation
Employee benefits

Total Operating Expenses
Operating Income (Loss)
Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses):
Interest expense
Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses), Net
Income (Loss) Before Transfers
Transfers:

Transfers in
Transfers out

Change in Net Position

Net Position at Beginning of Year, as restated
Net Position at End of Year

Business-Type Activities
Enterprise Funds

Water
Fund

$ 3,558,519
131,301

3,689,820

3,269,217
420,290
129,199

3,818,706
(128,886)

(151,299)
(151,299)
(280,185)

69,850
(2,600)

(212,935)
6,415,199
$ 6,202,264

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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TOWN OF HANOVER, MASSACHUSETTS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016

Business-Type Activities
Enterprise Funds

Water
Fund
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Receipts from customers and users $ 3,559,798
Payments to vendors and employees (3,025,181)
Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities 534,617
Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities:
Transfers in 69,850
Transfers out (2,600)
Net Cash Provided By Noncapital Financing Activities 67,250
Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing Activities:
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (501,923)
Principal payments on bonds and notes (689,700)
Interest expense (151,299)
Net Cash (Used For) Capital and Related Financing Activities (1,342,922)
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Net Change in Cash and Short-Term Investments (741,055)
Cash and Short-Term Investments, Beginning of Year 1,431,779
Cash and Short-Term Investments, End of Year $ 690,724

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash

Provided by (Used For) Operating Activities:
Operating income $ (128,886)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net
cash provided by (used for) operating activities:

Depreciation 420,290
Changes in assets and liabilities:
User fees (130,022)
Deferred outflows (107,364)
Deferred inflows 220,600
Warrants and accounts payable 30,740
Accrued liabilities (404)
Compensated absences (23,712)
Accrued other post-employment 137,948
Net pension liability 115,427
Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities $ 534,617

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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TOWN OF HANOVER, MASSACHUSETTS
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2016

Private
Purpose
Trust
Funds
ASSETS
Cash and short-term investments $ 133,879
Accounts receivable -
Total Assets 133,879
LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION
Accounts payable -
Escrow deposits -
Total Liabilities -
NET POSITION
Total net position held in trust $ 133,879

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Agency
Funds

826,021

117,573

943,594

30,538

913,056
943,594



TOWN OF HANOVER, MASSACHUSETTS
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016

Private
Purpose
Trust Funds

Additions:
Contributions $ 10,000
Interest income 16
Total additions 10,016
Deductions:
Other 22,250
Total deductions 22,250
Net increase (decrease) (12,234)
Net position:
Beginning of year 146,113
End of year $ 133,879

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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TOWN OF HANOVER, MASSACHUSETTS

Notes to Financial Statements

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accounting policies of the Town of Hanover (the Town) conform to gener-
ally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applicable to governmental
units. The following is a summary of the more significant policies:

A. Reporting Entity

The Town is a municipal corporation governed by an elected Board of
Selectmen. As required by generally accepted accounting principles, these
financial statements present the government and applicable component
units for which the government is considered to be financially accountable.
In fiscal year 2016, it was determined that no entities met the required
GASB 14 (as amended) criteria of component units.

B. Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements

Government-wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the Statement of Net Posi-
tion and the Statement of Activities) report information on all of the nonfi-
duciary activities of the primary government. For the most part, the effect
of interfund activity has been removed from these statements. Governmental
activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental
revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely
to a significant extent on fees and charges for support.

The Statement of Activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct
expenses of a given function or segment are offset by program revenues.
Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific func-
tion or segment. Program revenues include (1)charges to customers
or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services,
or privileges provided by a given function or segment and (2) grants and
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital
requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other items
not properly included among program revenues are reported instead as
general revenues.

Fund Financial Statements

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, propri-
etary funds, and fiduciary funds, even though the latter are excluded from
the government-wide financial statements. Major individual governmental
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funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate col-
umns in the fund financial statements.

. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement
Presentation

Government-wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the eco-
nomic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting,
as is the proprietary fund and fiduciary fund financial statements. Reve-
nues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liabil-
ity is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes
are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants
and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility
requirements imposed by the provider have been met. As a general rule,
the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-
wide financial statements.

Amounts reported as program revenues include (1) charges to customers
or applicants for goods, services, or privileges provided, (2) operating grants
and contributions, and (3) capital grants and contributions, including special
assessments. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general reve-
nues rather than as program revenues. Likewise, general revenues include
all taxes and excises.

Fund Financial Statements

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current
financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of
accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measur-
able and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they
are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay
liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the Town considers prop-
erty tax revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the
end of the current fiscal period. All other revenue items are considered to
be measurable and available only when cash is received by the govern-
ment. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as
under accrual accounting. However, debt service expenditures, as well as
expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and judgments,
are recorded only when payment is due.

The Town reports the following major governmental funds:

e The General Fund is the government’s primary operating fund. It
accounts for all financial resources of the general government, except
those required to be accounted for in another fund.

e The School Construction Fund reports activities related to the High
School construction and Sylvester School renovation projects.
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e The Community Preservation Fund reports all open space, historic
resources, and community housing activities whose costs are prin-
cipally funded through Community Preservation Act revenues.

e The Ambulance fund is used to track the activities related to providing
ambulance services to the Town.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-
operating items. Operating revenues and expenses generally result from
providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with
a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating
revenues of the enterprise fund are charges to customers for sales and
services. Operating expenses for enterprise funds include the cost of sales
and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets.
All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-
operating revenues and expenses.

The government reports the following major proprietary funds:
e Water Enterprise Fund

The private-purpose trust fund is used to account for trust arrangements,
other than those properly reported in the pension trust fund or permanent
fund, under which principal and investment income exclusively benefit
individuals, private organizations, or other governments.

The agency funds account for fiduciary assets held by the Town in a cus-
todial capacity as an agent on behalf of others. Agency funds report only
assets and liabilities, and therefore, have no measurement focus.

. Cash and Short-Term Investments

Cash balances from all funds, except those required to be segregated by law,
are combined to form a consolidation of cash. Cash balances are invested to
the extent available, and interest earnings are recognized in the general
fund. Certain special revenue, proprietary, and fiduciary funds segregate
cash, and investment earnings become a part of those funds.

Deposits with financial institutions consist primarily of demand deposits,
certificates of deposits, and savings accounts. A cash and investment pool
is maintained that is available for use by all funds. Each fund’s portion of
this pool is reflected on the combined financial statements under the cap-
tion “cash and short-term investments.” The interest earnings attributable
to each fund type are included under investment income.

For purpose of the statement of cash flows, the proprietary funds consider

investments with original maturities of three months or less to be short-
term investments.
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E.

Investments

State and local statutes place certain limitations on the nature of deposits
and investments available. Deposits in any financial institution may not
exceed certain levels within the financial institution. Non-fiduciary fund
investments can be made in securities issued by or unconditionally guar-
anteed by the U.S. Government or agencies that have a maturity of one
year or less from the date of purchase and repurchase agreements guar-
anteed by such securities with maturity dates of no more than 90 days
from the date of purchase.

Investments for the Trust Funds consist of marketable securities, bonds,
and short-term money market investments. Investments are carried at market
value.

Property Tax Limitations

Legislation known as “Proposition 22" has limited the amount of revenue
that can be derived from property taxes. The prior fiscal year’s tax levy limit
is used as a base and cannot increase by more than 2.5 percent (excluding
new growth), unless an override is voted. The actual fiscal year 2016 tax
levy reflected an excess capacity of $82,649.

. Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastruc-
ture assets (for enterprise funds only) are reported in the applicable gov-
ernmental or business-type activities columns in the government-wide
financial statements. Capital assets are defined by the Town as assets
with an initial individual cost of more than $10,000 and an estimated useful
life in excess of five years. Such assets are recorded at historical cost or
estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed. Donated capital assets
are recorded at estimated fair market value at the date of donation.

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value
of the asset or materially extend assets’ lives are not capitalized.

Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as pro-
jects are constructed. Interest incurred during the construction phase of
capital assets of business-type activities is included as part of the capital-
ized value of the assets constructed.
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Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the fol-
lowing estimated useful lives:

Assets Years
Buildings 40

Building improvements 40

Infrastructure 40 - 50
Vehicles 5-15
Office equipment 5-10
Computer equipment 5-10

H. Compensated Absences

It is the Town’s policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused
vacation and sick pay benefits. All vested sick and vacation pay is accrued
when incurred in the government-wide, proprietary, and fiduciary fund finan-
cial statements. A liability for these amounts is reported in governmental
funds only if they have matured, for example, as a result of employee res-
ignations and retirements.

. Long-Term Obligations

In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in
the fund financial statements, long-term debt, and other long-term obliga-
tions are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities,
business-type activities, or proprietary fund type Statement of Net Position.

J. Fund Equity

Fund equity at the governmental fund financial reporting level is classified
as “fund balance.” Fund equity for all other reporting is classified as “net
position.”

Fund Balance - Generally, fund balance represents the difference
between the current assets and current liabilities. The Town reserves
those portions of fund balance that are legally segregated for a specific
future use or which do not represent available, spendable resources
and therefore, are not available for appropriation or expenditure. Unas-
signed fund balance indicates that portion of fund balance that is avail-
able for appropriation in future periods.

The Town’s fund balance classification policies and procedures are as
follows:

1) Nonspendable funds are either unspendable in the current form
(i.e., inventory or prepaid items) or can never be spent (i.e., perpet-
ual care).

28



2) Restricted funds are used solely for the purpose in which the fund
was established. In the case of special revenue funds, these funds
are created by statute or otherwise have external constraints on how
the funds can be expended.

3) Committed funds are reported and expended as a result of motions
passed by the highest decision making authority in the government
(i.e., Town Meeting).

4) Assigned funds are used for specific purposes as established by
management. These funds, which include encumbrances, have been
assigned for specific goods and services ordered but not yet paid
for. This account also includes fund balance (free cash) voted to be
used in the subsequent fiscal year.

5) Unassigned funds are available to be spent in future periods.

When an expenditure is incurred that would qualify for payment from muilti-
ple fund balance types, the Town uses the following order to liquidate lia-
bilities: restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned.

Net Position - Net position represents the difference between assets/
deferred outflows and liabilities/deferred inflows. Net investment in capital
assets, consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced
by the outstanding balances of any borrowing used for the acquisition,
construction or improvement of those assets. Net position is reported as
restricted when there are limitations imposed on their use either through the
enabling legislation adopted by the Town or through external restrictions
imposed by creditors, grantors, or laws or regulations of other govern-
ments. The remaining net position is reported as unrestricted.

K. Use of Estimates

The preparation of basic financial statements in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and disclosures for contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the basic
financial statements and the reported amounts of the revenues and
expenditures/expenses during the fiscal year. Actual results could vary
from estimates that were used.

2. Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability

A. Budgetary Information

At the annual town meeting, the Advisory Committee presents an operating
and capital budget for the proposed expenditures of the fiscal year com-
mencing the following July 1. The budget, as enacted by town meeting,
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establishes the legal level of control and specifies that certain appro-
priations are to be funded by particular revenues. The original budget is
amended during the fiscal year at special town meetings as required by
changing conditions. In cases of extraordinary or unforeseen expenses,
the Advisory Committee is empowered to transfer funds from the Reserve
Fund (a contingency appropriation) to a departmental appropriation.
“Extraordinary” includes expenses which are not in the usual line, or are
great or exceptional. “Unforeseen” includes expenses which are not foreseen
as of the time of the annual meeting when appropriations are voted.

Departments are limited to appropriations as voted. Certain items may
exceed the department budget as approved if it is for an emergency and
for the safety of the general public. These items are limited by the Massa-
chusetts General Laws and must be raised in the next year’s tax rate.

Formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control device
during the year for the General Fund and Proprietary Funds. Effective
budgetary control is achieved for all other funds through provisions of the
Massachusetts General Laws.

At year-end, appropriation balances lapse, except for certain unexpended
capital items and encumbrances which will be honored during the subse-
quent year.

. Budgetary Basis

The general fund final appropriation appearing on the “Budget and Actual”
page of the fund financial statements represents the final amended budget
after all reserve fund transfers and supplemental appropriations.

. Budget/GAAP Reconciliation

The budgetary data for the general and proprietary funds is based upon
accounting principles that differ from generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples (GAAP). Therefore, in addition to the GAAP basis financial state-
ments, the results of operations of the general fund are presented in
accordance with budgetary accounting principles to provide a meaningful
comparison to budgetary data.

The following is a summary of adjustments made to the actual revenues

and other sources, and expenditures and other uses, to conform to the
budgetary basis of accounting.
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Revenues Expenditures

and Other and Other
General Fund Financing Sources  Financing Uses
Revenues/Expenditures
(GAAP basis) $ 55,540,650 $ 56,612,165
Other financing sources/uses
(GAAP basis) 1,235,144 344,850
Subtotal (GAAP Basis) 56,775,794 56,957,015
Adjust tax revenue to accrual basis (78,860) -
Reverse beginning of year appropriation
carryforwards from expenditures - (940,672)
Add end-of-year appropriation
carryforwards from expenditures - 663,607
To record use of overlay surplus 500,000 -
To record use of free cash 2,197,450 -
To record other uses - 111,526
To remove unbudgeted stabilization fund (415,253) 500,000
Other timing issues and reclassifications 358,739 287,969
Budgetary basis $ 59,337,870 $ 57,579,445

D. Deficit Fund Equity

The following funds had deficits as of June 30, 2016:

Special Revenue Funds:

FEMA/FY15 Winter Storm $ (221,057)
FY14 BVP Grant (9,938)
ECC FY16 911 EMD (11,730)
HS Transportation (21,990)
FY16 MAHB (2,822)
MS Extended Day (2,920)
Capital Projects:

Fire Breath Apparatus SCBA (269,926)
Fire Portable Radio Equip (120,214)
DPW 4X4 Pickup Purch/equip (37,745)
DPW 1 Ton Dump Truck Purch/equip (63,951)
DPW LRG Dump Truck Purch/equip (156,526)
Energy MGMT Controls (80,954)
Generator Fire Headquarters (177,205)
Fire HQ Kitchen Renovations (40,216)
Sylvester Feasibility (404,267)

$_(1,621,461)

The deficits in these funds will be eliminated through future departmental
revenues, bond proceeds, and transfers from other funds.
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3. Cash and Short-Term Investments

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that in the event of a bank failure,
the deposits may not be returned. The custodial credit risk for investments is
the risk that, in the event of a failure of the counterparty (e.g., broker-dealer)
to a transaction, a government will not be able to recover the value of its invest-
ment or collateral securities that are in the possession of another party.

Custodial Credit Risk - Deposits. Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event
of a bank failure, the Town’s deposits may not be returned. Massachusetts
General Law Chapter 44, Section 55, limits the Town’s deposits “in a bank or
trust company or banking company to an amount not exceeding sixty percent
of the capital and surplus of such bank or trust company or banking company,
unless satisfactory security is given to it by such bank or trust company or
banking company for such excess.” The Town does not have a deposit policy
for custodial credit risk.

As of June 30, 2016, $475,076 of the Town’s bank balance of $13,353,841
was exposed to custodial credit risk as uninsured or uncollateralized.

4, Investments

A. Credit Risk

Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not
fulfill its obligation to the holder of the investment. For short-term invest-
ments that were purchased using surplus revenues, Massachusetts General
Law, Chapter 44, Section 55, limits the Town’s investments to the top rating
issued by at least one nationally recognized statistical rating organization
(NRSROs).

Presented below (in thousands) is the actual rating as of year-end for each
investment of the Town. (All federal agency securities have an implied credit
rating of AAA.):

Exempt Rating as of

Fair From Year End
Investment Type Value Disclosure  AA+ AA A+ A- BBB+ BBB-
U.S. Treasury notes $ 257 $ - $ 257% - $ - $ - $ - %
Certificates of deposits 6,802 6,802 - - - - -
Corporate bonds 481 - 51 40 132 60 106 92
Mutual funds 4,272 4,272 - - - - -
Federal agency securities 905 - 905
Total investments $ 12717 $ 11,074 $ 1213 $ 40 $ 132 % 60 $ 106 $ 92
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B. Custodial Credit Risk

The custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the
failure of the counterparty (e.g., broker-dealer) to a transaction, a govern-
ment will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral
securities that are in the possession of another party. The Town does not
have policies for custodial credit risk.

The Town’s investments are exposed to custodial credit risk because the
related securities are uninsured, unregistered, and/or held by the Town’s
brokerage firm, which is also the Counterparty to these securities. The Town
manages this custodial credit risk with SIPC, excess SIPC, and by main-
taining investments in the Town’s name.

C. Concentration of Credit Risk

The Town does not have an investment in one issuer greater than 5% of
total investments.

D. Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely
affect the fair value of an investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of
an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its fair value to changes in
market interest rates. The Town does not have a formal investment policy
that limits investment maturities as a means of managing its exposure to
fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates.

Information about the sensitivity of the fair values of the Town’s invest-
ments to market interest rate fluctuations is as follows (in thousands):

Investment Maturities

(in Years)
Fair Less
Investment Type Value Than 1 1-5 N/A
U.S. Treasury notes $ 257 $ - $ 257 $ -
Certificates of deposit 6,802 6,273 529 -
Corporate bonds 481 - 481 -
Mutual funds 4,272 - - 4,272
Federal agency securities 905 - 905 -
Total $ 12717 $ 6273 § 2172 § 4,272
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E. Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in foreign exchange rates will
adversely affect the fair value of an investment. The Town does not have
policies for foreign currency risk.

F. Fair Value

The Town categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value
hierarchy established by Governmental Accounting Standards Board State-
ment No. 72 Fair Value Measurement and Application (GASB 72). The
hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value
of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identi-
cal assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3
inputs are significant unobservable inputs.

The Town has the following fair value measurements as of June 30, 2016:

Fair Value Measurements Using:

Quoted prices

in active Significant Significant
markets for observable  unobservable
identical assets inputs inputs
Description (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Investments by fair value level:
Debt securities
Federal agency securities $ 905 $ - $ 905 $
U.S. Treasury notes 257 - 257
Corporate bonds 481 - 481
Mutual funds 4,272 4,272 -
Total $ 5,915 $ 4,272 $ 1,643 $

Taxes Receivable

Real estate and personal property taxes are levied and based on values
assessed on January 1 of every year. Assessed values are established by the
Board of Assessor’s for 100% of the estimated fair market value. Taxes are
due on a quarterly basis and are subject to penalties and interest if they are
not paid by the respective due date. Real estate and personal property taxes
levied are recorded as receivables in the fiscal year they relate to.

Fourteen days after the due date for the final tax bill for real estate taxes, a
demand notice may be sent to the delinquent taxpayer. Fourteen days after
the demand notice has been sent, the tax collector may proceed to file a lien
against the delinquent taxpayers’ property. The Town has an ultimate right to
foreclose on property for unpaid taxes. Personal property taxes cannot be
secured through the lien process.
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Taxes receivable at June 30, 2016 consist of the following (in thousands):

Real Estate

2016 $ 510
2015 7
2014 -
2013
2012
2011
2010
2009
2008
Prior

—_—
Wb PO WOOo

568
Personal Property

2016 13
2015 8
2014 10
2013 5
2012 4
2011 5
2010 12
57
Tax Liens 594
Deferred Taxes 95

Total $ 1314

6. Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The receivables reported in the accompanying entity-wide financial statements
reflect the following estimated allowances for doubtful accounts (in thousands):

Governmental Business-Type
Property taxes $ 198 $ -
Excises $ 59 $ -
Utilities $ - $ 85
Other $ 1,038 $ -
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Intergovernmental Receivables

This balance represents reimbursements requested from Federal and State
agencies for expenditures incurred in fiscal 2016.

Interfund Transfers

The Town reports interfund transfers between many of its funds. The sum of
all transfers presented in the table agrees with the sum of interfund transfers
presented in the governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary fund financial state-
ments. The following is an analysis of interfund transfers made in fiscal year
2016.

Transfers In Transfers Out
Governmental Funds:
Major Funds:
General fund $ 1,235,144 $ (344,850)
Community preservation fund - (100,000)
Ambulance fund - (1,050,295)
Nonmaijor Funds:
Special revenue funds - (184,849)
Trust funds 375,000 -
Subtotal - Governmental 1,610,144 (1,679,994)
Business-type Funds:
Water fund 69,850 (2,600)
Subtotal - Business-type 69,850 (2,600)
Fiduciary Funds:
Agency fund 2,600 -
Subtotal - Fiduciary 2,600 -
Total $ 1,682,594 $_ (1,682,594)
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9. Capital Assets

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2016 was as follows (in
thousands):
Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Balance

Governmental Activities:
Capital assets, being depreciated:

Buildings and improvements $ 100,401 $ 209 $§ - $ 100,610
Machinery, equipment, and furnishings 3,714 76 - 3,790
Vehicles 7,058 1,383 - 8,441
Infrastructure 28,968 1,388 - 30,356
Total capital assets, being depreciated 140,141 3,056 - 143,197
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements (26,929) (2,312) - (29,241)
Machinery, equipment, and furnishings (2,159) (156) - (2,315)
Vehicles (6,190) (404) - (6,594)
Infrastructure (16,438) (533) - (16,971)
Total accumulated depreciation (51,716) (3,405) - (55,121)
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 88,425 (349) - 88,076
Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land 10,031 - - 10,031
Construction in progress 3 178 - 181
Total capital assets, not being depreciated 10,034 178 - 10,212
Governmental activities capital assets, net $ 98459 $§ (171) $ - $ 98,288
Beginning Ending

Balance Increases Decreases Balance

Business-Type Activities:
Capital assets, being depreciated:

Buildings and improvements $ 6,415 $ - $ - $ 6,415
Vehicles 90 202 - 292
Infrastructure 12,163 300 - 12,463
Total capital assets, being depreciated 18,668 502 - 19,170
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements (2,112) (137) - (2,249)
Vehicles (19) (53) - (72)
Infrastructure (7,668) (231) - (7,899)
Total accumulated depreciation (9,799) (421) - (10,220)
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 8,869 81 - 8,950
Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land 828 - - 828
Total capital assets, not being depreciated 828 - - 828
Business-type activities capital assets, net $ 9697 $ 81 $§ - $ 9,778
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Depreciation expense was charged to functions of the Town as follows (in
thousands):

Governmental Activities:

General government $ 122
Public safety 451
Education 1,791
Public works 745
Culture and recreation 296
Total depreciation expense - governmental activities $ 3,405

Business-Type Activities:
Water $§ 421

Total depreciation expense - business-type activities $§ 421

10. Deferred Outflows of Resources

Deferred outflows of resources represent the consumption of net assets by
the Town that is applicable to future reporting periods. Deferred outflows of
resources have a positive effect on net position, similar to assets.

The following is a summary of deferred outflow of resources balances as of
June 30, 2016:
Entity-wide Basis
Governmental  Business-type

Activities Activities
Pension related:
Net difference between projected and
actual pension investment earnings $ 3,191,840 $ 167,992

11. Warrants and Accounts Payable

Warrants payable represent 2016 expenditures paid by July 15, 2016. Accounts
payable represent additional 2016 expenditures paid after July 15, 2016.
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12. Anticipation Notes Payable

The Town had the following notes outstanding at June 30, 2016:

Interest Date of Date of Balance at

Rate Issue Maturity 6/30/16
Bond anticipation 0.00% 01/15/12 0115117 $ 6,000
Bond anticipation 2.00% 06/24/16 06/23/17 1,388,159
Total $ 1,394,159

The following summarizes activity in notes payable during fiscal year 2016:

Balance Balance
Beginning New End of
of Year Issues Maturities Year

$ 2309455 $ 561,402 $ (1,476,698) $ 1,394,159
Total $§ 2,309,455 § 561,402 $ (1,476,698) $ 1,394,159

13. Long-Term Debt

A. General Obligation Bonds

The Town issues general obligation bonds to provide funds for the acquisi-
tion and construction of major capital facilities. General obligation bonds
have been issued for both governmental and business-type activities.
General obligation bonds currently outstanding are as follows:

Amount
Serial Outstanding
Maturities Interest as of
Governmental Activities: Through Rate(s) % 6/30/16

Stormwater management 08/01/22 3.00% $ 75,000
General purpose refunding 05/15/17 2.00% 4,500
General purpose refunding 05/15/18 2.00% 40,000
Police station construction refunding 05/15/17 2.00% 175,500
General purpose 08/15/16 4.00% 65,000
General purpose 05/15/27  3.25-4.00% 335,000
General purpose 05/15/29 3.00% 2,795,000
School reconstruction refunding 05/15/21 4.50% 5,065,000
Library reconstruction refunding 05/15/21 4.50% 495,000
Septic betterment 08/01/18 0.00% 32,604
Landfill closure refunding 05/15/18 2.00% 155,000
General obligation loan 06/30/32 2.87% 11,035,000
General obligation loan 09/01/34 3.96% 10,165,000
MWPAT T5-97-1140-A 01/15/35 0.00% 279,300
General obligation refunding 05/15/29  2.00-4.00% 12,573,700
Total Governmental Activities: $ 43,290,604
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Amount

Serial Outstanding
Maturities Interest as of
Business-Type Activities: Through Rate(s) % 6/30/16

Water building and mains 08/15/16 4.00% $ 135,000
Plant and mains 05/15/27  3.25-4.00% 30,000
Alternative Energy 06/30/32 2.87% 570,000
General obligation refunding 5/15/029 2.00-4.00% 2,101,300
Total Business-Type Activities: $ 2,836,300

B. Future Debt Service

The annual payments to retire all general obligation long-term debt out-
standing as of June 30, 2016 are as follows:

Governmental Principal Interest Total
2017 $ 4075568 $ 2122949 $§ 6,198,517
2018 3,850,568 2,002,223 5,852,791
2019 3,813,568 1,795,434 5,609,002
2020 3,845,400 1,156,237 5,001,637
2021 3,789,700 999,195 4,788,895
2022 - 2026 13,488,500 3,096,989 16,585,489
2027 - 2031 8,683,500 872,100 9,555,600
2032 - 2036 1,743,800 94,525 1,838,325

Total $ 43,290,604 $ 12,139,652 $ 55,430,256

Business-Type Principal Interest Total
2017 $ 470,000 $ 103,000 $ 573,000
2018 315,000 98,402 413,402
2019 312,000 82,202 394,202
2020 309,300 69,722 379,022
2021 310,000 56,900 366,900

2022 - 2026 970,000 112,800 1,082,800
2027 - 2031 150,000 13,700 163,700
Total $ 2,836,300 $ 536,726 $ 3,373,026
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C. Changes in General Long-Term Liabilities

During the year ended June 30, 2016, the following changes occurred in
long-term liabilities (in thousands):

Equals
Total Total Less Long-Term
Balance Balance Current Portion

7115 Additions Reductions  6/30/16 Portion 6/30/16

Governmental Activities

Bonds payable $ 47782 $ - $ (4,492) $ 43290 $ (4,075) $ 39215
Other:
Compensated absences 3,526 - (579) 2,947 (147) 2,800
Bond premium 2,619 - (305) 2,314 (228) 2,086
Accrued other post-employment benefits 18,960 2,621 - 21,581 - 21,581
Net pension liability 24,911 2,193 - 27,104 - 27,104
Totals $ 97,798 $ 4814 $ (5376) $ 97236 $ (4450) $ 92,786
Business-Type Activities
Bonds payable $ 3520 § - $ (684) $ 2836 $ (470) $ 2,366
Other:
Compensated absences 125 - (24) 101 (5) 96
Accrued other post-employment benefits 976 137 - 1,113 - 1,113
Net pension liability 1,311 115 - 1,426 - 1,426
Totals $ 5932 $§ 252 % (708) $ 5476 $ (475 $ 5,001

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Deferred inflows of resources are the acquisition of net assets by the Town
that are applicable to future reporting periods. Deferred inflows of resources
have a negative effect on net position, similar to liabilities.

The following is a summary of deferred inflow of resources balances as of
June 30, 2016:

Entity-wide Basis Fund Basis
Governmental Business-type Governmental Funds
Community
General Preservation ~ Ambulance
Activities Activities Fund Maijor Major Nonmaijor
Unavailable revenues $ - $ - $ 1,436,427 $ 11,227 $ 1,266,452 $ 198,571
Taxes collected in advance 90,056 - 90,056 - - -
Gain on refunding 421,300 213,700 - - - -

Pension related:
Changes in proportion
and differences between
contributions and
proportionate share of
contributions 131,097 6,900 - - - -

$ 642,453 $ 220,600 $ 1526483 $ 11,227 $ 1,266,452 $ 198,571
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15.

16.

Restricted Net Position

The accompanying entity-wide financial statements report restricted net posi-
tion when external constraints from grantors or contributors are placed on net
position.

Permanent fund restricted net position is segregated between nonexpendable
and expendable. The nonexpendable portion represents the original restricted
principal contribution, and the expendable represents accumulated earnings
which are available to be spent based on donor restrictions.

Governmental Funds - Balances

Fund balances are segregated to account for resources that are either not avail-
able for expenditure in the future or are legally set aside for a specific future use.

The Town implemented GASB Statement No. 54 (GASB 54), Fund Balance
Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions, which enhances the
usefulness of fund balance information by providing clearer fund balance
classifications that can be more consistently applied and by clarifying existing
governmental fund type definitions.

The following types of fund balances are reported at June 30, 2016:

Nonspendable - Represents amounts that cannot be spent because they
are either (a) not in spendable form or (b) legally or contractually required to
be maintained intact. This fund balance classification includes general fund
reserves for prepaid expenditures and nonmajor governmental fund reserves
for the principal portion of permanent trust funds.

Restricted - Represents amounts that are restricted to specific purposes by
constraints imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations
of other governments, or constraints imposed by law through constitutional
provisions or enabling legislation. This fund balance classification includes
general fund encumbrances funded by bond issuances, various special reve-
nue funds, and the income portion of permanent trust funds.

Committed - Represents amounts that can only be used for specific purposes
pursuant to constraints imposed by formal action of the Town’s highest level
of decision-making authority. This fund balance classification includes general
fund encumbrances for non-lapsing, special article appropriations approved at
Town Meeting, stabilization funds set aside by Town Meeting vote for future
capital acquisitions and improvements (now reported as part of the general
fund per GASB 54), and various special revenue funds.
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Assigned - Represents amounts that are constrained by the Town’s intent to
use these resources for a specific purpose. This fund balance classification
includes general fund encumbrances that have been established by various
Town departments for the expenditure of current year budgetary financial
resources upon vendor performance in the subsequent budgetary period, and
surplus set aside to be used in the subsequent year’s budget.

Unassigned - Represents amounts that are available to be spent in future
periods.

Following is a breakdown of the Town's fund balances at June 30, 2016:

School Community Nonmajor Total
General Capital Project ~ Preservation Ambulance Governmental Governmental
Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds Funds
Nonspendable
Nonexpendable permanent funds  $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 166,460 $ 166,460
Total Nonspendable - - - - 166,460 166,460
Restricted
Bonded projects - 1,302,435 - - - 1,302,435
Debt service 1,562,764 - - - - 1,562,764
Special revenue funds - - - 1,735,924 5,530,329 7,266,253
Expendable permanent funds - - - - 91,510 91,510
Total Restricted 1,562,764 1,302,435 - 1,735,924 5,621,839 10,222,962
Committed
Continued appropriations
General government 271,051 - - - - 271,051
Public safety 89,215 - - - - 89,215
Education 96,563 - - - - 96,563
Public works 109,495 - - - - 109,495
Culture and recreation 25,559 - - - - 25,559
OPERB stabilization 1,298,302 - - - - 1,298,302
Capital stabilization 503,085 - - - - 503,085
Community preservation - - 3,388,216 - - 3,388,216
Total Committed 2,393,270 - 3,388,216 - - 5,781,486
Assigned
Encumbrances
General government 1,714 - - - - 1,714
Public safety 6,129 - - - - 6,129
Education 28,368 - - - - 28,368
Public works 34,795 - - - - 34,795
Health and human services 642 - - - - 642
Employee benefits 75 - - - - 75
Reserved for expenditures 1,770,962 - - - - 1,770,962
Total Assigned 1,842,685 - - - - 1,842,685
Unassigned
Special revenue funds - - - - (270,458) (270,458)
Capital projects - (404,267) - - (946,736) (1,351,003)
General stabilization 2,107,597 - - - - 2,107,597
Unassigned 3,283,875 - - - - 3,283,875
Total Unassigned 5,391,472 (404,267) - - (1,217,194) 3,770,011
Total Fund Balances $ 11,190191 $ 898,168 $ 3,388,216 $ 1,735924 $§ 4571105 $ 21,783,604
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18.

General Fund Unassigned Fund Balance

The unassigned general fund balance reported on the balance sheet is stated
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), which
differs in certain respects from the Massachusetts Uniform Municipal Accounting
System (UMAS). The following paragraphs summarize the major differences.

Massachusetts general laws include provisions to allow municipalities to over
expend certain appropriations if they are incurred in an emergency situation
and for the safety of the public. The most common example involves the “snow
and ice” appropriation. All such overexpenditures, however, must be funded
in the subsequent year’s tax rate.

Massachusetts General Laws require that non-property tax revenue budget
shortfalls, net of appropriation turnbacks, be funded in the subsequent year.
The same treatment is also applied to the excess of actual property tax abate-
ments and exemptions over the provision for abatements and exemptions
(overlay).

The accompanying financial statements include an estimate for future poten-
tial tax refunds, which is not recognized under UMAS

The following summarizes the specific differences between GAAP basis and
budgetary basis of reporting the general fund unassigned fund balance:

GAAP basis balance $ 5,391,472
Stabilization fund (2,107,597)
Tax refund estimate 40,650

Statutory (UMAS) Balance $ 3,324,525

Commitments and Contingencies

Outstanding Legal Issues — On an ongoing basis, there are typically pending
legal issues in which the Town is involved. The Town’s management is of the
opinion that the potential future settlement of these issues would not materi-
ally affect its financial statements taken as a whole.

Grants - Amounts received or receivable from grantor agencies are subject to
audit and adjustment by grantor agencies, principally the federal government.
Any disallowed claims, including amounts already collected, may constitute a
liability of the applicable funds. The amount of expenditures which may be dis-
allowed by the grantor cannot be determined at this time, although the Town
expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial.
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Post-Employment Healthcare and Life Insurance Benefits

Other Post-Employment Benefits

GASB Statement 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Post-
Employment Benefits Other Than Pensions, requires governments to account
for other post-employment benefits (OPEB), primarily healthcare, on an accrual
basis rather than on a pay-as-you-go basis. The effect is the recognition of an
actuarially required contribution as an expense on the Statement of Activities
when a future retiree earns their post-employment benefits, rather than when
they use their post-employment benefit. To the extent that an entity does not
fund their actuarially required contribution, a post-employment benefit liability
is recognized on the Statement of Net Position over time.

A. Plan Description

In addition to providing the pension benefits described, the Town provides
post-employment healthcare and life insurance benefits for retired employees
through the Town’s plan. The benefits, benefit levels, employee contribu-
tions, and employer contributions are governed by Chapter 32 of the
Massachusetts General Laws. As of January 1, 2015, the actuarial valua-
tion date, approximately 422 retirees and 561 active employees meet the
eligibility requirements. The plan does not issue a separate financial report.

B. Benefits Provided

The Town provides medical and life insurance to retirees and their covered
dependents. All active employees who retire from the Town and meet the
eligibility criteria will receive these benefits.

C. Funding Policy

Retirees contribute 50% of the cost of the health plan, as determined by
the Town. The Town contributes the remainder of the health plan costs on
a pay-as-you-go basis.

D. Annual OPEB Costs and Net OPEB Obligation

The Town’s fiscal 2016 annual OPEB expense is calculated based on the
annual required contribution of the employer (ARC), an amount actuarially
determined in accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement No. 45.
The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is
projected to cover the normal cost per year and amortize the unfunded
actuarial liability over a period of thirty years. The following table shows
the components of the Town’s annual OPEB cost for the year ending
June 30, 2016, the amount actually contributed to the plan, and the change
in the Town’s net OPEB obligation based on an actuarial valuation as of
January 1, 2015.
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Annual Required Contribution (ARC) $ 3,942,428

Interest on net OPEB obligation 797,418
Adjustment to ARC (937,505)
Annual OPEB cost 3,802,341
Contributions made (1,043,381)
Increase in net OPEB obligation 2,758,960
Net OPEB obligation - beginning of year 19,935,443
Net OPEB obligation - end of year $ 22,694,403

The Town’s annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost con-
tributed to the plan, and the net OPEB obligation were as follows:

Percentage of

Annual OPEB OPEB Net OPEB

Fiscal Year Ended Cost Cost Contributed Obligation
2016 $ 3,802,341 27% $ 22,694,403
2015 $ 3,345,926 56% $ 19,935,443
2014 $ 5,118,809 33% $ 18,476,790

The Town’s net OPEB obligation as of June 30, 2016 is recorded as a
component of the “other long-term liabilities” line item.

E. Funded Status and Funding Progress

The funded status of the plan as of January 1, 2015, the date of the most
recent actuarial valuation was as follows (in thousands):

Actuarial accrued liability (AAL) $ 37,819
Less actuarial value of plan assets -

Unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) $ 37,819
Funded ratio (actuarial value of plan assets/AAL) 0.00%
Covered payroll (active plan members) $ 35,989
UAAL as a percentage of covered payroll 105.1%

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of
reported amount and assumptions about the probability of occurrence of
events far into the future. Examples included assumptions about future
employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts deter-
mined regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required
contributions of the employer are subject to continual revision as actual
results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made
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20.

about the future. The Schedule of OPEB Funding Progress, presented as
required supplementary information following the Notes to Financial State-
ments, presents multiyear trend information that shows whether the actu-
arial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to
the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits.

F. Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the
plan as understood by the Town and the plan members and include the
types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the historical
pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the Town and plan members to
that point. The actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques
that are designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabili-
ties and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term per-
spective of the calculations.

In the January 1, 2015 actuarial valuation, the projected unit credit cost
method was used. The actuarial assumptions included a 4.00% invest-
ment rate of return and an initial annual healthcare cost trend rate of
between 2.61% and 6.69%, after the initial year trends start at 8% and
decrease to 5% or 6% over 6 to 8 years (depending on health insurance
plan). The amortization costs for the initial UAAL is a level percentage of
payroll for a period of 23 years. This has been calculated assuming the
amortization payment increases at a rate of 3.25%.

Retirement System

The Town follows the provisions of GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Pensions — an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27,
with respect to the employees’ retirement funds.

A. Plan Description

Substantially all employees of the Town (except teachers and administra-
tors under contract employed by the School Department) are members of
the Plymouth County Contributory Retirement System (the System), a cost
sharing, multiple-employer public employee retirement system (PERS).
Eligible employees must participate in the System. The pension plan pro-
vides pension benefits, deferred allowances, and death and disability ben-
efits. Chapter 32 of the Massachusetts General Laws establishes the
authority of the System, contribution percentages and benefits paid. The
System Retirement Board does not have the authority to amend benefit pro-
visions. Additional information is disclosed in the System’s annual financial
reports publicly available from the System located at 10 Cordage Park Circle,
Suite 234, Plymouth, Massachusetts 02360.
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Participant Retirement Benefits

The System provides for retirement allowance benefits up to a maximum
of 80% of a member's highest 3-year average annual rate of regular com-
pensation for those hired prior to April 2, 2012 and the highest five-year
average annual rate of regular compensation for those first becoming
members of the Massachusetts System on or after that date. However,
per Chapter 176 of the Acts of 2011, for members who retire on or after
April 2, 2012, if in the 5 years of creditable service immediately preceding
retirement, the difference in the annual rate of regular compensation
between any 2 consecutive years exceeds 100 percent, the normal yearly
amount of the retirement allowance shall be based on the average annual
rate of regular compensation received by the member during the period of
5 consecutive years preceding retirement. Benefit payments are based upon
a member's age, length of creditable service, level of compensation and
group classification.

A retirement allowance may be received at any age, upon attaining 20 years
of service. The plan also provides for retirement at age 55 if the participant
was a member prior to January 1, 1978, with no minimum vesting require-
ments. If the participant was a member on or after January 1, 1978 and a
member of Groups 1 or 2, then a retirement allowance may be received if
the participant (1) has at least 10 years of creditable service, (2) is age 55,
(3) voluntarily left Town employment on or after that date, and (4) left
accumulated annuity deductions in the fund. Members of Group 4 have no
minimum vesting requirements; however, must be at least age 55. Groups 2
and 4 require that participants perform the duties of the Group position for
at least 12 months immediately prior to retirement.

A participant who became a member on or after April 2, 2012 is eligible for
a retirement allowance upon 10 years’ creditable service and reaching ages
60 or 55 for Groups 1 and 2, respectively. Participants in Group 4 must be
at least age 55. Groups 2 and 4 require that participants perform the duties of
the Group position for at least 12 months immediately prior to retirement.

A retirement allowance consists of two parts: an annuity and a pension. A
member’s accumulated total deductions and a portion of the interest they
generate constitute the annuity. The difference between the total retire-
ment allowance and the annuity is the pension. The average retirement
benefit is approximately 80-85% pension and 15-20% annuity.

Participant Refunds

Employees who resign from service and who are not eligible to receive a
retirement allowance are entitled to request a refund of their accumulated
total deductions. Members voluntarily withdrawing with at least 10 years of
service or involuntarily withdrawing, receive 100% of the regular interest
that has accrued on those accumulated total deductions. Members volun-
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tarily withdrawing with less than 10 years of service get credited interest
each year at a rate of 3%.

Participants Contributions

Participants contribute a set percentage of their gross regular compensation
annually. Employee contribution percentages are specified in Chapter 32 of
the Massachusetts General Laws. The employee’s individual contribution
percentage is determined by their date of entry into the system. In addi-
tion, all employees hired on or after January 1, 1979 contribute an addi-
tional 2% on all gross regular compensation over the rate of $30,000 per
year. The percentages are as follows:

Before January 1, 1975 5%
January 1, 1975 - December 31, 1983 7%
January 1, 1984 - June 30, 1996 8%
Beginning July 1, 1996 9%

For those members entering a Massachusetts System on or after April 2,
2012 in Group 1, the contribution rate will be reduced to 6% when at least
30 years of creditable service has been attained.

Employer Contributions

Employers are required to contribute at actuarially determined rates as
accepted by the Public Employee Retirement Administration Commission
(PERAC).

The Town’s contribution to the System for the year ended June 30, 2016
was $2,849,033, which was equal to its annual required contribution.

. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pen-
sion expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the System
and additions to/deductions from System’s fiduciary net position have been
determined on the same basis as they are reported by System. For this
purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions)
are recognized when due and payable in accordance with benefit terms.
Investments are reported at fair value.

. Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources
and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions

At June 30, 2016, the Town reported a liability of $28,530,444 for its pro-
portionate share of the net pension liability. The net pension liability was
measured as of December 31, 2015, and the total pension liability used to
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calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation
as of January 1, 2015. The Town’s proportion of the net pension liability
was based on a projection of the Town’s long-term share of contributions
to the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of all participat-
ing employers, actuarially determined. At December 31, 2015, the Town’s
proportion was 4.498 percent.

For the year ended June 30, 2016, the Town recognized pension expense
of $3,305,860. In addition, the Town reported deferred outflows of resources
and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following
sources:

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources
Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on pension plan investments $ 3,359,832 $ 137,997
Total $ 3,359,832 $ 137,997

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions
will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended June 30:

2017 $ 881,500
2018 881,500
2019 881,500
2020 577,335

Total $ 3,221,835

. Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability in the December 31, 2014 actuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods
included in the measurement:

COLA 3% of the first $13,000
Salary increases 3.75% per year, including longevity
Investment rate of return 8%

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 mortality table (sex-distinct,
healthy employees for actives and healthy annuitants for retirees) pro-
jected with a scale AA and Generational Mortality. For members retired
under an Accidental Disability (job-related), 40% of deaths are assumed to
be from the same cause as the disability. Disabled mortality is the healthy
retiree table ages set forward 2 years.
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The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was
selected from a best estimate range determined using the building block
approach. Under this method, an expected future real return range (expected
returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) is calcu-
lated separately for each asset class. These ranges are combined to pro-
duce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected
future real rates of return net of investment expenses by the target asset
allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target alloca-
tion and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major
class are summarized in the following table:
Long-term
Target Expected
Asset Real Rate

Asset Class Allocation  of Return
Fixed income 25.50% 7.90%
Domestic equity 33.00% 10.20%
International equity 16.00% 11.00%
Real estate 13.00% 9.30%
Private equity 7.50% 14.60%
Hedge funds 4.00% 8.70%

Cash and cash equivalents 1.00% 4.00%

. Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 8%. The
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that
the plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate
and that employer contributions will be made at contractually required rates,
actuarially determined. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s
fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected
future benefit payments to current active and inactive plan members. There-
fore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments
was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the
total pension liability.

. Sensitivity of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes
in the Discount Rate

The following presents the Town'’s proportionate share of the net pension
liability calculated using the discount rate of 8 percent, as well as what the
Town’s proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were
calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage-point lower (7%) or
1 percentage-point higher (9%) than the current rate:

1% Current 1%
Decrease Discount Increase
Fiscal Year Ended (7%) Rate (8%) (9%)

June 30,2016 $ 35,397,177 $ 28,530,444 $ 22,641,756
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G. Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is availa-
ble in the separately issued System financial report.

21. Massachusetts Teachers’ Retirement System (MTRS)

A. Plan Description

The Massachusetts Teachers’ Retirement System (MTRS) is a public
employee retirement system (PERS) that administers a cost-sharing multi-
employer defined benefit plan, as defined in Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 67, Financial Reporting for Pen-
sion Plans. MTRS is managed by the Commonwealth on behalf of munic-
ipal teachers and municipal teacher retirees. The Commonwealth is a non-
employer contributor and is responsible for all contributions and future
benefit requirements of the MTRS. The MTRS covers certified teachers in
cities (except Boston), towns, regional school districts, charter schools,
educational collaboratives, and Quincy College. The MTRS is part of the
Commonwealth’s reporting entity and does not issue a stand-alone audited
financial report.

Management of MTRS is vested in the Massachusetts Teachers’ Retire-
ment Board (MTRB), which consists of seven members—two elected by
the MTRS members, one who is chosen by the six other MTRB mem-
bers, the State Treasurer (or their designee), the State Auditor (or their
designee), a member appointed by the Governor, and the Commissioner
of Education (or their designee), who serves ex-officio as the Chairman of
the MTRB.

B. Benefits Provided

MTRS provides retirement, disability, survivor, and death benefits to mem-
bers and their beneficiaries. Massachusetts General Laws (MGL) estab-
lishes uniform benefit and contribution requirements for all contributory
PERS. These requirements provide for superannuation retirement allow-
ance benefits up to a maximum of 80% of a member’s highest three-year
average annual rate of regular compensation. For employees hired after
April 1, 2012, retirement allowances are calculated on the basis of the last
five years or any five consecutive years, whichever is greater in terms of
compensation. Benefit payments are based upon a member’s age, length
of creditable service, and group creditable service, and group classification.
The authority for amending these provisions rests with the Legislature.

Members become vested after ten years of creditable service. A superan-
nuation retirement allowance may be received upon the completion of
twenty years of creditable service or upon reaching the age of 55 with ten
years of service. Normal retirement for most employees occurs at age 65.
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Most employees who joined the system after April 1, 2012 cannot retire prior
to age 60.

The MTRS’ funding policies have been established by Chapter 32 of the
MGL. The Legislature has the authority to amend these policies. The annuity
portion of the MTRS retirement allowance is funded by employees, who
contribute a percentage of their regular compensation. Costs of adminis-
tering the plan are funded out of plan assets.

. Contributions

Member contributions for MTRS vary depending on the most recent date
of membership:

Hire Date % of Compensation
Prior to 1975 5% of regular compensation
1975 - 1983 7% of regular compensation
1984 to 6/30/1996 8% of regular compensation
7/1/1996 to present 9% of regular compensation
7/1/2001 to present 11% of regular compensation (for teachers

hired after 7/1/01 and those accepting provi-
sions of Chapter 114 of the Acts of 2000)

1979 to present An additional 2% of regular compensation in
excess of $30,000

. Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability for the June 30, 2015 measurement date was
determined by an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2015 rolled forward
to June 30, 2015. The total pension liability for the June 30, 2015 meas-
urement date was determined by an actuarial valuation as of January 1,
2015, rolled forward to June 30, 2015. This valuation used the following
assumptions:

e (a) 7.5% investment rate of return, (b) 3.5% interest rate credited to the
annuity savings fund and (c) 3.0% cost of living increase per year.

e Salary increases are based on analyses of past experience but range
from 4.0% to 7.5% depending on length of service.

e Mortality rates were as follows:

— Pre-retirement - reflects RP-2014 Employees table projected genera-
tionally with Scale BB and a base year of 2014 (gender distinct)

— Post-retirement - reflects RP-2014 Healthy Annuitant table projected
generationally with Scale BB and a base year of 2014 (gender
distinct)

— Disability — assumed to be in accordance with the RP-2014 Healthy
Annuitant table projected generationally with Scale BB and a base
year of 2014 set forward 4 years.
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Investment assets of the MTRS are with the Pension Reserves Investment
Trust (PRIT) Fund. The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan
investments was determined using a building-block method in which best-
estimate ranges of expected future rates of return are developed for each
major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term
expected rate of return by weighting the expected future rates of return by
the target asset allocation percentage. Best estimates of geometric rates
of return for each major asset class included in the PRIT Fund’s target asset
allocation as of June 30, 2015 and 2014 are summarized in the following
table:
Long-Term Expected

Target Real Rate of Return
Asset Class Allocation 2015 2014
Global equity 40.0% 6.9% 7.2%
Core fixed income 13.0% 2.4% 2.5%
Private equity 10.0% 8.5% 8.8%
Real estate 10.0% 6.5% 6.3%
Value added fixed income 10.0% 5.8% 6.3%
Hedge funds 9.0% 5.8% 5.5%
Portfolio completion strategies 4.0% 5.5% 0.0%
Timber/natural resources 4.0% 6.6% 5.0%
Total 100.0%

. Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 8.0%.
The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed
that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution
rates and the Commonwealth’s contributions will be made at rates equal
to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the
member rates. Based on those assumptions, the net position was pro-
jected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of cur-
rent plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on
pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit
payments to determine the total pension liability.

. Sensitivity Analysis

The following illustrates the sensitivity of the collective net pension liability
to changes in the discount rate. In particular, the table presents the MTRS
collective net pension liability assuming it was calculated using a single
discount rate that is one-percentage-point lower or one-percentage-point
higher than the current discount rate (amounts in thousands):

Fiscal Year 1% Decrease Current Discount 1% Increase
Ended to 7.0% Rate 8.0% t0 9.0%

June 30, 2015 $ 25,449,000 $ 20,489,643 $ 16,221,000
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22.

23.

G. Special Funding Situation

The Commonwealth is a nonemployer contributor and is required by statute
to make all actuarial determined employer contributions on behalf of the
member employers. Therefore, these employers are considered to be in a
special funding situation as defined by GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting
and Financial Reporting for Pensions (GASB 68) and the Commonwealth
is a nonemployer contributing entity in MTRS. Since the employers do not
contribute directly to MTRS, there is no net pension liability to recognize
for each employer.

H. Town Proportions

In fiscal year 2015 (the most recent measurement period), the Town’s pro-
portionate share of the MTRS’ collective net pension liability and pension
expense was $60,614,371 and $4,916,365 respectively, based on a pro-
portionate share of 0.295829%. As required by GASB 68, the Town has
recognized its portion of the collective pension expense as both a revenue
and expense in the government-wide Statement of Activities.

Risk Management

The Town is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to,
and destruction of assets; errors and omissions; and natural disasters for which
the Town carries commercial insurance. There were no significant reductions in
insurance coverage from the previous year and have been no material settle-
ments in excess of coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.

Implementation of New GASB Standard

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) has issued State-
ment No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits
Other than Pensions, replacing requirements of Statements No. 45 and 57,
effective for the Town beginning with its year ending June 30, 2018. This State-
ment establishes standards for recognizing and measuring liabilities, deferred
outflows of resources, deferred inflows of resources, and expense/expenditures.
In addition, this Statement details the recognition and disclosure requirements
for employers with payables to defined benefit OPEB plans that are adminis-
tered through trusts that meet the specific criteria and for employers whose
employees are provided with defined contribution OPEB.
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Beginning Net Position Restatement and Reclassification

The beginning (July 1, 2015) net position of the Town has been restated and

reclassified as follows:

Government-Wide Financial Statements:

As previously reported
To reclass MWPAT from Water to nonmajor
To reclass debt from Water to governmental

As restated

Fund Basis Financial Statements:

As previously reported

To reclass AHT to General Fund

To reclass MWPAT from Water to nonmajor
To reclass debt from Water to governmental

As restated
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Business-Type

Activities
Governmental Water
Activities Fund
30,963,747 $ 6,226,589
190,390 (190,390)
(379,000) 379,000

30,775,137 $_ 6,415,199

Proprietary
Governmental Funds Funds
Nonmajor
Governmental Water
General Fund Funds Enterprise
11,341,412 $ 5,175676 $ 6,226,589
30,000 (30,000) -
- 190,390 (190,390)
- - 379,000

11,371,412  $__ 5336,066 $_ 6,415,199




TOWN OF HANOVER, MASSACHUSETTS
SCHEDULE OF OPEB FUNDING PROGRESS
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

June 30, 2016

(Unaudited)
(Amounts Expressed in thousands)

Other Post-Employment Benefits

Actuarial
Accrued
Actuarial Liability Unfunded
Actuarial Value of (AAL) - AAL Funded Covered
Valuation Assets Entry Age (UAAL) Ratio Payroll
Date (a) (b) (b-a) a/b (c)

01/01/15 $ - $ 37,819 $ 37,819 0.00% $ 35,989
01/01/11 $ - $ 47,798 $ 47,798 0.00% $ 28,675
07/01/08 $ - $ 33,604 $ 33,604 0.00% $ 24,891

See Independent Auditors' Report.
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UAAL as
a Percent-
age of
Covered
Payroll

[(b-a)/c]
105.1%

166.7%
135.0%



TOWN OF HANOVER, MASSACHUSETTS
SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE
OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

JUNE 30, 2016
(Unaudited)

Plymouth County Retirement System

Proportion Proportionate
of the Share of the Proportionate Share of the Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Fiscal Net Pension Net Pension Net Pension Liability as a Percentage of the Total
Year Liability Liability Covered Payroll Percentage of Covered Payroll Pension Liability
June 30, 2016 4.498% $28,530,444 $ 12,975,337 219.88% 56.80%
June 30, 2015 4.498% $26,221,911 $ 12,506,349 209.67% 58.88%
Massachusetts Teachers' Retirement System
Commonwealth of Total Net Proportionate
Massachusetts' Total Pension Share of the Plan Fiduciary
Proportion Proportionate Proportionate Share Liability Net Pension Net Position
of the Share of the of the Net Pension Associated Liability as a Percentage of
Fiscal Net Pension ~ Net Pension Liability Associated with the Percentage of the Total
Year Liability Liability with the Town Town Covered Payroll ~ Covered Payroll ~ Pension Liability
June 30, 2016 0.295829%  $ - $ 60,614,371 $ 60,614,371 $§ 18,752,269 0.00% 55.38%
June 30, 2015 0.293323%  $ - $ 46,627,648 $ 46,627,648 $§ 17,985,082 0.00% 61.64%

Schedules are intended to show information for 10 years. Additional years will be displayed as they become available

See Independent Auditors' Report.
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TOWN OF HANOVER, MASSACHUSETTS

SCHEDULE OF PENSION CONTRIBUTIONS
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

JUNE 30, 2016
(Unaudited)

Plymouth County Retirement System

Contributions in
Relation to the

Contractually ~ Contractually ~ Contribution
Fiscal Required Required Deficiency Covered
Year Contribution Contribution (Excess) Payroll
June 30,2016 $ 2,849,033 $§ 2,849,033 § - $ 12,975,337
June 30,2015 $ 2,637,067 $ 2,637,067 $ - $ 12,506,349

Contributions as
a Percentage of
Covered Payroll

21.96%
21.09%

Schedules are intended to show information for 10 years. Additional years will be displayed as they

become available

See Independent Auditors' Report.
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